Beginning MLOps with MLFlow

Deploy Models in AWS SageMaker, Google Cloud, and Microsoft Azure

Sridhar Alla Suman Kalyan Adari



Beginning MLOps with MLFlow

Deploy Models in AWS SageMaker, Google Cloud, and Microsoft Azure

Sridhar Alla Suman Kalyan Adari

Apress[®]

Beginning MLOps with MLFlow

Sridhar Alla Delran, NJ, USA Suman Kalyan Adari Tampa, FL, USA

ISBN-13 (pbk): 978-1-4842-6548-2 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-6549-9 ISBN-13 (electronic): 978-1-4842-6549-9

Copyright © 2021 by Sridhar Alla, Suman Kalyan Adari

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

Trademarked names, logos, and images may appear in this book. Rather than use a trademark symbol with every occurrence of a trademarked name, logo, or image we use the names, logos, and images only in an editorial fashion and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Managing Director, Apress Media LLC: Welmoed Spahr Acquisitions Editor: Celestin Suresh John Development Editor: Laura Berendson Coordinating Editor: Aditee Mirashi

Cover designed by eStudioCalamar

Cover image designed by Freepik (www.freepik.com)

Distributed to the book trade worldwide by Springer Science+Business Media New York, 1 New York Plaza, Suite 4600, New York, NY 10004-1562, USA. Phone 1-800-SPRINGER, fax (201) 348-4505, e-mail orders-ny@springer-sbm.com, or visit www.springeronline.com. Apress Media, LLC is a California LLC and the sole member (owner) is Springer Science + Business Media Finance Inc (SSBM Finance Inc). SSBM Finance Inc is a **Delaware** corporation.

For information on translations, please e-mail booktranslations@springernature.com; for reprint, paperback, or audio rights, please e-mail bookpermissions@springernature.com.

Apress titles may be purchased in bulk for academic, corporate, or promotional use. eBook versions and licenses are also available for most titles. For more information, reference our Print and eBook Bulk Sales web page at www.apress.com/bulk-sales.

Any source code or other supplementary material referenced by the author in this book is available to readers on GitHub via the book's product page, located at www.apress.com/978-1-4842-6548-2. For more detailed information, please visit www.apress.com/source-code.

Printed on acid-free paper

Table of Contents

| About the Authors | vii |
|-------------------------------------------|------|
| About the Technical Reviewer | ix |
| Acknowledgments | xi |
| Introduction | xiii |
| Chapter 1: Getting Started: Data Analysis | 1 |
| Introduction and Premise | 1 |
| Credit Card Data Set | 10 |
| Loading the Data Set | 11 |
| Normal Data and Fraudulent Data | 16 |
| Plotting | 19 |
| Summary | 39 |
| Chapter 2: Building Models | 41 |
| Introduction | 41 |
| Scikit-Learn | 42 |
| Data Processing | 43 |
| Model Training | 52 |
| Model Evaluation | 53 |
| Model Validation | 58 |
| PySpark | 66 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Data Processing | 67 |
|---------------------------------------------------------|-----|
| Model Training | 73 |
| Model Evaluation | 74 |
| Summary | 77 |
| Chapter 3: What Is MLOps? | 79 |
| Introduction | 79 |
| MLOps Setups | 87 |
| Manual Implementation | 88 |
| Continuous Model Delivery | 95 |
| Continuous Integration/Continuous Delivery of Pipelines | 105 |
| Pipelines and Automation | 113 |
| Journey Through a Pipeline | 114 |
| How to Implement MLOps | 122 |
| Summary | |
| Chapter 4: Introduction to MLFlow | 125 |
| Introduction | 125 |
| MLFlow with Scikit-Learn | 129 |
| Data Processing | 129 |
| Training and Evaluating with MLFlow | 136 |
| Logging and Viewing MLFlow Runs | 139 |
| Model Validation (Parameter Tuning) with MLFlow | 150 |
| MLFlow and Other Frameworks | 170 |
| MLFlow with TensorFlow 2.0 (Keras) | 170 |
| MLFlow with PyTorch | |
| MLFlow with PySpark | |
| Local Model Serving | 213 |

| Deploying the Model | 213 |
|------------------------------------|-----|
| Querying the Model | 216 |
| Summary | |
| Chapter 5: Deploying in AWS | 229 |
| Introduction | 229 |
| Configuring AWS | 232 |
| Deploying a Model to AWS SageMaker | 238 |
| Making Predictions | 243 |
| Switching Models | 247 |
| Removing Deployed Model | 250 |
| Summary | 251 |
| Chapter 6: Deploying in Azure | 253 |
| Introduction | 253 |
| Configuring Azure | 255 |
| Deploying to Azure (Dev Stage) | 261 |
| Making Predictions | |
| Deploying to Production | |
| Making Predictions | |
| Cleaning Up | 270 |
| Summary | 272 |
| Chapter 7: Deploying in Google | 275 |
| Introduction | 275 |
| Configuring Google | 277 |
| Bucket Storage | 278 |
| Configuring the Virtual Machine | 281 |
| Configuring the Firewall | |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Deploying and Querying the Model | 292 |
|------------------------------------|-----|
| Updating and Removing a Deployment | 298 |
| Cleaning Up | 299 |
| Summary | 301 |
| Appendix: Databricks | 303 |
| Introduction | 303 |
| Running Experiments in Databricks | 305 |
| Deploying to Azure | 315 |
| Connecting to the Workspace | 316 |
| Querying the Model | 319 |
| MLFlow Model Registry | 322 |
| Summary | 326 |
| Index | |

About the Authors



Sridhar Alla is the founder and CTO of Bluewhale.one, the company behind the product Sas2Py (www.sas2py.com), which focuses on the automatic conversion of SAS code to Python. Bluewhale also focuses on using AI to solve key problems ranging from intelligent email conversation tracking to issues impacting the retail industry and more. He has deep expertise in building AI-driven

big data analytical practices on both the public cloud and in-house infrastructures. He is a published author of books and an avid presenter at numerous Strata, Hadoop World, Spark Summit, and other conferences. He also has several patents filed with the US PTO on large-scale computing and distributed systems. He has extensive hands-on experience in most of the prevalent technologies, including Spark, Flink, Hadoop, AWS, Azure, TensorFlow, and others. He lives with his wife, Rosie, and daughters, Evelyn and Madelyn, in New Jersey, United States, and in his spare time loves to spend time training, coaching, and attending meetups. He can be reached at sid@bluewhale.one.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS



Suman Kalyan Adari is a current Senior and undergraduate researcher at the University of Florida specializing in deep learning and its practical use in various fields such as computer vision, adversarial machine learning, natural language processing (conversational AI), anomaly detection, and more. He was a presenter at the IEEE

Dependable Systems and Networks International Conference workshop on Dependable and Secure Machine Learning held in Portland, Oregon, United States in June 2019. He is also a published author, having worked on a book focusing on the uses of deep learning in anomaly detection. He can be reached at sadari@ufl.edu.

About the Technical Reviewer



Pramod Singh is a Manager, Data Science at Bain & Company. He has over 11 years of rich experience in the Data Science field working with multiple product- and servicebased organizations. He has been part of numerous ML and AI large scale projects. He has published three books on large scale data processing and machine learning. He is also a regular speaker at major AI conferences such as the O'Reilly AI & Strata conference.

Acknowledgments

Sridhar Alla

I would like to thank my wonderful wife, Rosie Sarkaria, and my beautiful, loving daughters, Evelyn and Madelyn, for all the love and patience during the many months I spent writing this book. I would also like to thank my parents, Ravi and Lakshmi Alla, for all the support and encouragement they continue to bestow upon me.

Suman Kalyan Adari

I would like to thank my parents, Venkata and Jyothi Adari, and my loving dog, Pinky, for supporting me throughout the entire process. I would especially like to thank my sister, Niharika Adari, for helping me with edits and proofreading and helping me write the appendix chapter.

Introduction

This book is intended for all audiences ranging from beginners at machine learning, to advanced machine learning engineers, or even to machine learning researchers who wish to learn how to better organize their experiments.

The first two chapters cover the premise of the problem followed by the book, which is that of integrating MLOps principles into an anomaly detector model based on the credit card dataset. The third chapter covers what MLOps actually is, how it works, and why it can be useful.

The fourth chapter goes into detail about how you can implement and utilize MLFlow in your existing projects to reap the benefits of MLOps with just a few lines of code.

The fifth, sixth, and seventh chapters all go over how you can operationalize your model and deploy it on AWS, Microsoft Azure, and Google Cloud, respectively. The seventh chapter goes over how you can host a model on a virtual machine and connect to the server from an external source to make your predictions, so should any MLFlow functionality described in the book become outdated, you can always go for this approach and simply serve models on some cluster on the cloud.

The last chapter, Appendix, goes over how you can utilize Databricks, the creators of MLFlow, to organize your MLFlow experiments and deploy your models.

The goal of the book is to hopefully impart to you, the reader, knowledge of how you can use the power of MLFlow to easily integrate MLOps principles into your existing projects. Furthermore, we hope that you will become more familiar with how you can deploy your models to the cloud, allowing you to make model inferences anywhere on the planet so as long as you are able to connect to the cloud server hosting the model.

INTRODUCTION

At the very least, we hope that more people do begin to adopt MLFlow and integrate it into their workflows, since even as a tool to organize your workspace, it massively improves the management of your machine learning experiments and allows you to keep track of the entire model history of a project.

Researchers may find MLFlow to be useful when conducting experiments, as it allows you to log plots on top of any custom-defined metric of your choosing. Prototyping becomes much easier, as you can now keep track of that one model which worked perfectly as a proof-ofconcept and revert back to those same weights at any time while you keep tuning the hyperparameters. Hyperparameter tuning becomes much simpler and more organized, allowing you to run a complex script that searches over several different hyperparameters at once and log all of the results using MLFlow.

With all the benefits that MLFlow and the corresponding MLOps principles offer to machine learning enthusiasts of all professions, there really are no downsides to integrating it into current work environments. With that, we hope you enjoy the rest of the book!

CHAPTER 1

Getting Started: Data Analysis

In this chapter, we will go over the premise of the problem we are attempting to solve with the machine learning solution we want to operationalize. We will also begin data analysis and feature engineering of our data set.

Introduction and Premise

Welcome to *Beginning MLOps with MLFlow*! In this book, we will be taking an example problem, developing a machine learning solution to it, and operationalizing our model on AWS SageMaker, Microsoft Azure, Google Cloud, and Datarobots. The problem we will be looking at is the issue of performing anomaly detection on a credit card data set. In this chapter, we will explore this data set and show the overall structure while explaining a few techniques on analyzing this data. This data set can be found at www.kaggle.com/mlg-ulb/creditcardfraud.

If you are already familiar with how to analyze data and build machine learning models, feel free to grab the data set and skip ahead to 3 to jump right into MLOps.

Otherwise, we will first go over the general process of how machine learning solutions are generally created. The process goes something like this:

1. **Identification of the problem:** First of all, you need to have an idea of what the problem is, what can be done about it, what has been done about it, and why it is a problem worth solving.

Here's an example of a problem: an invasive snake species harmful to the local environment has infested a region. This species is highly venomous and looks very similar to a harmless species of snake native to this same environment. Furthermore, the invasive species is destructive to the local environment and is outcompeting the local species.

In response, the local government has issued a statement encouraging citizens to go out and kill the venomous, invasive species on sight, but the problem is that it turns out citizens have been killing the local species as well due to how easy it is to confuse the two species.

What can be done about this? A possible solution is to use the power of machine learning and build an application to help citizens identify the snake species. What has been done about it? Perhaps someone released an app that does a poor job at distinguishing the two species, which doesn't help remedy the current situation. Perhaps fliers have been given out, but it can be hard to identify every member of a species correctly based on just one picture. Why is it a problem worth solving? The native species is important to the local environment. Killing the wrong species can end up exacerbating the situation and lead to the invasive species claiming the environment over the native species. And so building a computer vision-based application that can discern between the various snake species (and especially the two species relevant to the problem) could be a great way to help citizens get rid of the right snake species.

2. **Collection of data:** After you've identified the problem, you want to collect the relevant data. In the context of the snake species classification problem, you want to find images of various snake species in your region. The location depends on how big of a scale your project will operate on. Is it going to identify any snake in the world? Just snakes in Florida?

If you can afford to do so, the more data you collect, the better the potential training outcomes will be. More training examples can introduce increased variety to your model, making it better in the long run. Deep learning models scale in performance with large volumes of data, so keep that in mind as well.

3. **Data analysis:** Once you've collected all the raw data, you want to clean it up, process it, and format it in a way that allows you to analyze the data better.

For images, this could be something like applying an algorithm to crop out unnecessary parts of the image to focus solely on the snake. Additionally, maybe

you want to center-crop the image to remove all the extra visual information in the data sample. Either way, raw image data is rarely ever in good enough condition to be used directly; it almost always requires processing to get the relevant data you want.

For unstructured data like images, formatting this data in a way good enough to analyze it could be something like creating a directory with all of the respective snake species and the relevant image data. From there, you can look at the count of images for each snake species class that you have and determine if you need to retrieve more samples for a particular species or not.

For structured data, say the credit-card data set, processing the raw data can mean something like getting rid of any entries with null values in them. Formatting them in a way so you can analyze them better can involve dimensionality-reduction techniques such as principal component analysis (PCA). Note: It turns out that most of the data in the credit card data set has actually been processed with PCA in part to preserve the privacy of the users the data has been extracted from.

As for the analysis, you can construct multiple graphs of different features to get an idea of the overall distribution and how the features look plotted against each other. This way, you can see any significant relationships between certain features that you might keep in mind when creating your training data.

There are some tools you can use in order to find out what features have the greatest influence on the label, such as **phi-k correlation**. By allowing you to see the different correlation values between the individual features and the target label, you can gain a deeper understanding of the relationships between the features in this data set. If needed, you can also drop features that aren't very influential from the data. In this step, you really want to get a solid understanding of your data so you can apply a model architecture that is most suitable for it.

4. **Feature engineering and data processing:** Now you can use the knowledge you gained from analyzing the various features and their relationships to each another to potentially construct new features from combinations of several existing ones. For example, the Titanic data set is a great example that you can apply feature engineering to. In this case, you can take information such as class, age, fare, number of siblings, number of parents, and so on to create as many features as you can think up.

Feature engineering is really about giving your model a deeper context so it can learn the task better. You don't necessarily want to create random features for the sake of it, but something that's potentially relevant like number of female relatives, for example. (Since females were more likely to survive the sinking of the Titanic, could it be possible that if a person had more female relatives, they were less likely to survive as preference was given to their female relatives instead?)

The next step after feature engineering is data processing, which is a step involving all preparations made to process the data to be passed into the model. In the context of the snake species image data, this could involve normalizing all the values to be between 0 and 1 as well as "batching" the data into groups.

This step also usually creates several subsets of your initial data: a **training data set**, a **testing data set**, and a **validation data set**. We will go into more detail on the purpose of each of these data sets later. For now, a **training data set** contains the data you want the model to learn from, the **testing data set** contains data you want to evaluate the model's performance on, and the **validation data set** is used to either select a model or help tune a model's hyperparameters to draw out a better performance.

- 5. **Build the model:** Now that the data processing is done, this step is all about selecting the proper architecture and building the model. For the snake species image data, a good choice would be to use a convolutional neural network (CNN) because they work very well for any tasks involving images. From there, it is up to you to define the specific architecture of the model with respect to its layer composition.
- 6. **Training, evaluating, and validating:** When you're training your CNN model, you're usually passing in batches of data until the entire data makes a full pass through the model. From the results of this "forward pass," calculations are made that tell the model how to adjust the weights as they are made going backwards across the network in what's called the "backward

pass." The training process is essentially where the model learns how to perform the task and gets better at it the more examples it sees.

After the training process, either the evaluation step or the validation step can come next. As long as the testing set and validation set come from different distributions (the validation set can be derived from the training set, while the testing set can be derived from the original data), the model is technically seeing new data in the evaluation and validation processes. The model will never learn anything from the evaluation data, so you can test your model anytime.

Model evaluation is where the model's performance metrics such as accuracy, precision, recall, and so on are evaluated on a data set that it has never seen before. We will go into more detail on the evaluation step once it becomes more relevant in the next chapter, Chapter 2.

Depending on the context, the exact purpose of validation can differ, along with the question of whether or not evaluation should be performed first after training. Let's define several sample scenarios where you would use validation:

• Selecting a model architecture: Of several model types or architectures, you use k-fold cross-validation, for example, to quickly train and evaluate each of the models on some data partition of the validation set to get an idea of how they are performing. This way, you can get a good idea of which model is performing best, allowing you to pick a model and continue with the rest of the process.

- Selecting the best model: Of several trained models, you can use something like k-fold cross-validation to quickly evaluate each model on the validation data to allow you to get an idea of which ones are performing best.
- **Tuning hyperparameters:** Quickly train a model and test it with different hyperparameter setups to get an idea of which configurations work better. You can start with a broad range of hyperparameters. From there, you can use the results to narrow the range of hyperparameters until you get to a configuration where you are satisfied. Models in deep learning, for example, can have many hyperparameters, so using validation to tune those hyperparameters can work well in deep learning settings. Just beware of diminishing returns. After a certain precision with the hyperparameter setting, you're not going to see that big of a performance boost in the model.
- Indication of high variance: This validation data is slightly different from the other three examples. In the case of neural networks, this data is derived from a small split of the training data. After one full pass of the training data, the model evaluates on this validation data to calculate metrics such as loss and accuracy.

If your training accuracy is high and training loss is low, but the validation accuracy is low and the validation loss is high, that's an indication that your model suffers from **high variance**. What

this means is that your model has not learned to generalize what it is "learning" to new data, as the validation data in this case is comprised of data it has never seen before. In other words, your model is **overfitting**. The model just isn't recreating the kind of performance it gets on the training data on new data that it hasn't seen before.

If your model has poor training accuracy and high training loss, then your model suffers from **high bias**, meaning it isn't learning how to perform the task correctly on the training data at all.

This little validation split during the training process can give you an early indication of when overfitting is occurring.

7. Predicting: Once the model has been trained, evaluated, and validated, it is then ready to make predictions. In the context of the snake species detector, this step involves passing in visual images of the snake in question to get some prediction back. For example, if the model is supposed to detect the snake, draw a box around it, and label it (in an object detection task), it will do so and display the results in real time in the application.

If it just classifies the snake in the picture, the user simply sends their photo of a snake to the model (via the application) to get a species classification prediction along with perhaps a probability confidence score.

Hopefully now you have a better idea of what goes on when creating machine learning solutions.

With all that in mind, let's get started on the example, where you will use the credit card data set to build simple anomaly detection models using the data.

Credit Card Data Set

Before you perform any data analysis, you need to first collect your data. Once again, the data set can be found at the following link: www.kaggle. com/mlg-ulb/creditcardfraud.

Following the link, you should see something like the following in Figure 1-1.



Figure 1-1. Kaggle website page on the credit card data

From here, you want to download the data set by clicking the Download (144 MB) button next to New Notebook. It should take you to a sign-in page if you're not already signed in, but you should be able to download the data set after that. Once the zip file finishes downloading, simply extract it somewhere to reveal the credit card data set. Now let's open up Jupyter and explore this data set. Before you start this step, let's go over the exact packages and their versions:

- Python 3.6.5
- numpy 1.18.3
- pandas 0.24.2
- matplotlib 3.2.1

To check your package versions, you can run a command like

pip show package_name

Alternatively, you can run the following code to display the version in the notebook itself:

```
import module_name
print(module_name.__version__)
```

In this case, module_name is the name of the package you're importing, such as numpy.

Loading the Data Set

Let's begin! First, open a new notebook and import all of the dependencies and set global parameters for this notebook:

```
%matplotlib inline
import numpy as np
import pandas as pd
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
from pylab import rcParams
rcParams['figure.figsize'] = 14, 8
```

Refer to Figure 1-2.

Figure 1-2. Jupyter notebook cell with some import statements as well as a global parameter definition for the size of all matplotlib plots

Now that you have imported the necessary libraries, you can load the data set. In this case, the data folder exists in the same directory as the notebook file and contains the creditcard.csv file. Here is the code:

```
data_path = "data/creditcard.csv"
df = pd.read csv(data path)
```

. _ . _.

Refer to Figure 1-3.



Figure 1-3. Defining the data path to the credit card data set .csv file, reading its contents, and creating a pandas data frame object

Now that the data frame has been loaded, let's take a look at its contents:

df.head()

Refer to Figure 1-4.

| | Time | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | V8 | V9 | | V21 | V22 | V23 | V24 | |
|------|------|------------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-------|
| 0 | 0.0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2.536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | | -0.018307 | 0.277838 | -0.110474 | 0.066928 | 0.12 |
| 1 | 0.0 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.156480 | 0.448154 | 0.060018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0.255425 | - | -0.225775 | -0.638672 | 0.101288 | -0.339846 | 0.16 |
| 2 | 1.0 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | - | 0.247998 | 0.771679 | 0.909412 | -0.689281 | -0.34 |
| 3 | 1.0 | -0.966272 | -0.185225 | 1.792993 | -0.863291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | | -0.108300 | 0.005274 | -0.190321 | -1.175575 | 0.64 |
| 4 | 2.0 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | - | -0.009431 | 0.798278 | -0.137458 | 0.141267 | -0.20 |
| 5 ro | ws × | 31 columns | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ۲. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | > |

Figure 1-4. Calling the head() function on the data frame to display the first five rows of the data frame

If you are not familiar with the df.head(n) function, it essentially prints the first n rows of the data frame. If you did not pass any arguments, like in the figure above, then the function defaults to a value of five, printing the first five rows of the data frame.

Feel free to play around with that function as well as use the scroll bar to explore the rest of the features.

Now, let's look at some basic statistical values relating to the values in this data frame:

df.describe()

Refer to Figure 1-5.

| | | Time | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | V8 | |
|--|-------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|-------------|
| | count | 284807.000000 | 2.843070e+05 | 2.848070e+05 | 2.849070e+05 | 2.848070e+05 | 2.848070e+05 | 2.848070e+05 | 2.848070e+05 | 2.848070e+05 | 2.848070e+ |
| | mean | 94813.859575 | 1.165980e-15 | 3.416908e-16 | -1.373150e-15 | 2.085869e-15 | 9.604066e-16 | 1.490107e-15 | -5.556467e-16 | 1.177556e-16 | -2.406455e- |
| | std | 47488.145955 | 1.958695e+00 | 1.651309e+00 | 1.516255e+00 | 1.415869e+00 | 1.380247e+00 | 1.332271e+00 | 1.237094e+00 | 1.194353e+00 | 1.098532e+ |
| | min | 0.000000 | -5.640751e+01 | -7.2715730+01 | -4.832559e+01 | -5.683171e+00 | -1.137433e+02 | -2.616051e+01 | -4.355724e+01 | -7.321672e+01 | -1.343407e+ |
| | 25% | 54201.500000 | -9.2037349-01 | -5.985499e-01 | -8.9035489-01 | -8.485401e-01 | -6.9159710-01 | -7.682955e-01 | -5.540759e-01 | -2.086297e-01 | -6.430976e- |
| | 50% | 84692.000000 | 1.8108808-02 | 6.548555e-02 | 1,798463e-01 | -1.984653e-02 | -5.433583e-02 | -2.741871e-01 | 4.0103086-02 | 2.235804e-02 | -5.1428736- |
| | 75% | 139320.500000 | 1.315642e+00 | 8.037239e-01 | 1.027195e+00 | 7.433413e-01 | 6.119264e-01 | 3.985649e-01 | 5.704361e-01 | 3.273459e-01 | 5.971390e- |
| | max | 172792.000000 | 2.454930e+00 | 2.205773e+01 | 9.382558e+00 | 1.687534e+01 | 3.480167e+01 | 7.330153e+01 | 1.205895e+02 | 2.000721e+01 | 1.559499e+ |
| | 8 rows | × 31 columns | | | | | | | | | |
| | ٢ | | | | | | | | | | > |
| | 8 rows < | × 31 columns | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 1-5. Calling the describe() function on the data frame to get statistical summaries of the data in each column

Feel free to scroll right and look at the various statistics for the rest of the columns. As you can see in Figure 1-5, the function generates statistical summaries for data in each of the columns in the data frame.

The main takeaway here is that there are a huge number of data points. In fact, you can check the shape of the data frame by simply calling

df.shape

Refer to Figure 1-6.

| | ar.snape | | |
|------------|------------|--|--|
| Out[5]: (2 | 84807, 31) | | |

Figure 1-6. Calling the shape() function on the data frame to get an output in the format (number_of_rows, number_of_columns)

There are 284,807 rows and 31 columns in this data frame. That's a lot of entries! Not only that, but if you look at Figure 1-5, you'll see that the values can get really large for the column Time. In fact, keep scrolling right, and you'll see that values can get very large for the column Amount as well. Refer to Figure 1-7.

| - | V21 | V22 | V23 | V24 | V25 | V26 | V27 | V28 | Amount | Class |
|-------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|
| - | 2.848070e+05 | 284807.000000 | 284807.000000 |
| | 1.656562e-16 | -3.444850e-16 | 2.578648e-16 | 4.471968e-15 | 5.340915e-16 | 1.687098e-15 | -3.666453e-16 | -1.220404e-16 | 88.349619 | 0.001727 |
| - | 7.345240e-01 | 7.257016e-01 | 6.244603e-01 | 6.056471e-01 | 5.2127810-01 | 4.8222708-01 | 4.036325e-01 | 3.300833e-01 | 250.120109 | 0.041527 |
| - | -3.483038e+01 | -1.093314e+01 | -4.480774e+01 | -2.835627e+00 | -1.029540e+01 | -2.604551e+00 | -2.256568e+01 | -1.543008e+01 | 0.000000 | 0.000000 |
| | -2.283949e-01 | -5.423504e-01 | -1.618463e-01 | -3.545861e-01 | -3.171451e-01 | -3.269839e-01 | -7.083953e-02 | -5.295979e-02 | 5.600000 | 0.000000 |
| - | -2.945017e-02 | 6.781943e-03 | -1.119293e-02 | 4.097506e-02 | 1.659350e-02 | -5.213911e-02 | 1.342146e-03 | 1.124383e-02 | 22.000000 | 0.000000 |
| - | 1.863772e-01 | 5.285535e-01 | 1.4764210-01 | 4.395266e-01 | 3.507156e-01 | 2.409522e-01 | 9.1045120-02 | 7.827995e-02 | 77.165000 | 0.000000 |
| - | 2.720284e+01 | 1.050309e+01 | 2.252841e+01 | 4.584549e+00 | 7.519589e+00 | 3.517346e+00 | 3.1612200+01 | 3.384781e+01 | 25691.160000 | 1.000000 |

Figure 1-7. Scrolling right in the output of the describe function reveals that the maximum data value in the column Amount is also very large, just like the maximum data value in the column Time

As you can see, there are at least two columns with very large values. What this tells you is that later on, when building the various data sets for the model training process, you definitely need to scale down the data. Otherwise, such large data values can potentially mess up the training process.

Normal Data and Fraudulent Data

Since there are only two classes, normal and fraud, let's split up the data frame by class and continue with the data analysis. In the context of anomaly detection, the fraud class is also the anomaly class, hence why we chose to name the data frame representing fraudulent transaction data anomalies and interchangeably refer to this class as either fraud or anomaly.

Here is the code:

```
anomalies = df[df.Class == 1]
normal = df[df.Class == 0]
```

After that, run the following in a separate cell:

```
print(f"Anomalies: {anomalies.shape}")
print(f"Normal: {normal.shape}")
```

Refer to Figure 1-8.



Figure 1-8. Defining data frames for fraudulent/anomalous data and for normal data and printing their shapes

From here, you can see that the data is overwhelmingly biased towards normal data, and that anomalies only comprise a vast minority of data points in the overall data set. What this tells you is that you will have to craft the training, evaluation, and validation sets more carefully so each of these sets will have a good representation of anomaly data. In fact, let's look at this disparity in a graphical manner just to see how large the difference is:

```
class_counts = pd.value_counts(df['Class'], sort = True)
class_counts.plot(kind = 'bar', rot=0)
plt.title("Class Distribution")
plt.xticks(range(2), ["Normal", "Anomaly"])
plt.xlabel("Label")
plt.ylabel("Counts")
```

Refer to Figure 1-9.



Figure 1-9. A graph visually demonstrating the difference in counts for normal data and anomalous data

The graph visually shows the immense difference between the number of data values of the two classes.

So now you can begin analyzing some of the characteristics of data points in each class. First of all, the columns in this data set are Time, values V1 through V28, Amount, and Class.

So, do anomalous data values comprise transactions with excessive amounts? Let's look at some statistical summary values for Amount:

anomalies.Amount.describe()

Refer to Figure 1-10 for the output.



Figure 1-10. Output of the describe() function on the data frame for fradulent values for the column Amount

It seems like the data is skewed right, and that anomalous transactions comprise values that are not very high. In fact, most of the transactions are less than \$100, so it's not like fraudulent transactions are high-value transactions.

normal.Amount.describe()

Refer to Figure 1-11 for the output.



Figure 1-11. Output of the describe() function on the data frame for normal values for the column Amount

If you look at the normal data, it's even more skewed right than the anomalies. Most of the transactions are below \$100, and some of the amounts can get very high to values like \$25,000.

Plotting

Let's now turn to a graphical approach to help visually illustrate this better. First, you define some functions to help plot the various columns of the data to make it much easier to visualize the various relationships:

```
def plot histogram(df, bins, column, log scale=False):
    bins = 100
    anomalies = df[df.Class == 1]
    normal = df[df.Class == 0]
    fig, (ax1, ax2) = plt.subplots(2, 1, sharex=True)
    fig.suptitle(f'Counts of {column} by Class')
    ax1.hist(anomalies[column], bins = bins, color="red")
    ax1.set title('Anomaly')
    ax2.hist(normal[column], bins = bins, color="orange")
    ax2.set title('Normal')
    plt.xlabel(f'{column}')
    plt.ylabel('Count')
    if log scale:
        plt.yscale('log')
    plt.xlim((np.min(df[column]), np.max(df[column])))
    plt.show()
```

```
def plot_scatter(df, x_col, y_col, sharey = False):
    anomalies = df[df.Class == 1]
    normal = df[df.Class == 0]
    fig, (ax1, ax2) = plt.subplots(2, 1, sharex=True,
    sharey=sharey)
    fig.suptitle(f'{y_col} over {x_col} by Class')
    ax1.scatter(anomalies[x_col], anomalies[y_col], color='red')
    ax1.set_title('Anomaly')
    ax2.scatter(normal[x_col], normal[y_col], color='orange')
    ax2.set_title('Normal')
    plt.xlabel(x_col)
    plt.ylabel(y_col)
    plt.show()
```

Refer to Figure 1-12 to see the code in cells.



Figure 1-12. Each of the plotter functions in their own Jupyter cells

Now, let's start by plotting values for Amount by Class for the entire data frame:

```
plt.scatter(df.Amount, df.Class)
plt.title("Transaction Amounts by Class")
plt.ylabel("Class")
plt.yticks(range(2), ["Normal", "Anomaly"])
plt.xlabel("Transaction Amounts ($)")
plt.show()
```

Refer to Figure 1-13.



Figure 1-13. A scatterplot of data values in the data frame encompassing all the data values. The plotted columns are Amount on the x-axis and Class on the y-axis

It seems like there are some massive outliers in the normal data set, as suspected. However, the graph isn't very informative in telling you about

value counts, so let's use the plotting functions defined earlier to draw graphs that provide more context:

bins = 100

plot_histogram(df, bins, "Amount", log_scale=True)

Refer to Figure 1-14.



Figure 1-14. A histogram of counts for data values organized into intervals in the column Amount in the data frame. The number of bins is 100, meaning the interval of each bar in the histogram is the range of the data in the column Amount divided by the number of bins

From this, you can definitely notice a right skew as well as the massive outliers present in the normal data. Since you can't really see much of the anomalies, let's create another plot:

```
plt.hist(anomalies.Amount, bins = bins, color="red")
plt.show()
```

Refer to Figure 1-15.



Figure 1-15. A histogram of just the values in the anomaly data frame for the column Amount. The number of bins is also 100 here, as it will be for the rest of the examples

The anomalies seem to be right skewed as well, but much more heavily so. This means that the majority of anomalous transactions actually have quite low transaction amounts.

Alright, so what about time? Let's plot another basic scatterplot:

```
plt.scatter(df.Time, df.Class)
plt.title("Transactions over Time by Class")
plt.ylabel("Class")
plt.yticks(range(2), ["Normal", "Anomaly"])
plt.xlabel("Time (s)")
plt.show()
```

Refer to Figure 1-16.


Figure 1-16. A scatterplot for values in the data frame df with data in the column Time on the x-axis and data in the column Class in the y-axis

This graph isn't very informative, but it does tell you that fraudulent transactions are pretty spread out over the entire timeline. Once again, let's use the plotter functions to get an idea of the counts:

```
plot_scatter(df, "Time", "Amount")
```

Refer to Figure 1-17.



Figure 1-17. Using the plot_scatter() function to plot data values for the columns Time on the x-axis and Amount on the y-axis in the df data frame

You have a better context now, but it doesn't seem to tell you much. You can see that fraudulent transactions occur throughout the entire timeline and that there is no specific period of time when it seems like higher-value transactions occur. There do seem to be two main clusters, but this could also be a result of the lack of data points compared to the normal points.

Let's now look at the histogram to take into account frequencies:

```
plot_scatter(df, "Time", "Amount")
```

Refer to Figure 1-18.



Figure 1-18. Using the plot_histogram() function to plot data values for the column Time in the df data frame

From this, you get a really good context of the amount of fraudulent/ anomalous transactions going on over time. For the normal data, it seems that they occur in waves. For the anomalies, there doesn't seem to be a particular peak time; they just occur throughout the entire timespan.

It does appear that that they have defined spikes near the start of the first transaction, and that some of the spikes do occur where normal transactions are in the "trough" of the wave pattern shown. However, a good portion of the fraudulent transactions still occur where normal transactions are at a maximum.

So what does the data for the other columns look like? Let's look at some interesting plots for V1:

```
plot histogram(df, bins, "V1")
```

Refer to Figure 1-19.



Figure 1-19. Using the plot_histogram() function to plot the data in the column V1 in df

Here, you can see a clear difference in the distribution of points for each class over the same V1 values. The range of values that the fraudulent transactions encompass extend well into the values for V1. Let's keep exploring, looking at how the values for Amount relate to V1:

```
plot_scatter(df, "Amount", "V1", sharey=True)
```

What the sharey parameter does is it forces both subplots to share the same y-axis, meaning the plots are displayed on the same scale. You are specifying this so it will be easier to tell what the distribution of the anomalous points looks like in comparison to the normal points. Refer to Figure 1-20.



Figure 1-20. Using the plot_scatter() function to plot the values in the columns Amount on the x-axis and V1 on the y-axis in df

From this graph, the fraudulent points don't seem out of place compared to all of the other normal points.

Let's continue and look at how time relates to the values for V1:

```
plot_scatter(df, "Time", "V1", sharey=True)
```

Refer to Figure 1-21.



Figure 1-21. Using the plot_scatter() function to plot the values in the columns Time on the x-axis and V1 on the y-axis in df

Other than a few defined spikes that stand out from where the normal points would have been, most of the fraudulent data in this context seems to blend in with the normal data.

Doing this one at a time for all of the other values will be tedious, so let's just plot them all at once using a simple script. Here is the code to plot all of the frequency counts for each column from V1 to V28:

```
for f in range(1, 29):
    print(f'V{f} Counts')
    plot_histogram(df, bins, f'V{f}')
```

Refer to Figure 1-22.



Figure 1-22. A script to plot histograms using the plot_histogram() function for data in each column from V1 to V28 in df

Since the output has been minimized, hover where the bar darkens and click to expand the output so you can see the graphs a lot better. Refer to Figure 1-23.



Figure 1-23. Hovering over the bar to the left of the plots (it should darken and show the tooltip as shown) and clicking it to expand the output

Now you should see something like in Figure 1-24.



Figure 1-24. What the expanded output should look like. All of the graphs should display continuously, as depicted in the figure

Scrolling through, you can see a lot of interesting graphs such as Figure 1-25 and Figure 1-26.



Figure 1-25. A histogram of data for the column V12 in df. As you can see, there is a very clear deviation seen with the anomalous values compared to the normal values. Both plots share the same x-axis scale, so while the counts might be very low compared to the normal values, they are still spread out far more than the normal values for the same range of V12 column values

In this case, you can see a clear differentiation between the fraudulent data and the normal data that you didn't see in the graphs earlier. And so, features such as V12 are certainly more important in helping give the model a better context.



Figure 1-26. A histogram of data for the column V17 in df. Just like with the column V12, there is also a clear deviation seen with the anomalous values compared to the normal values. This indicates that the column V17 is more likely to help the model learn how to differentiate between normal and fraudulent transactions than some of the other columns that don't show such a deviance

This time you can see an even bigger difference between fraudulent data and normal data. Once again, it's features like V12 and V17 that hold the data that will help the model understand how to differentiate between the anomalies and the normal points.

To minimize the output, click the same bar as earlier when you expanded the output. Let's now look at how all of these data points vary according to time:

```
for f in range(1, 29):
    print(f'V{f} vs Time')
    plot_scatter(df, "Time", f'V{f}', sharey=True)
```

Once again, expand the output and explore the graphs. Refer to Figure 1-27 and Figure 1-28 to see some interesting results.



Figure 1-27. The scatterplot for Time on the x-axis and V12 on the y-axis shows a deviation between the anomalies and the normal data points. Although a significant portion of the anomalies fall under the band of normal points, there are still a good number of anomalies that fall out of that range. And so you can see that against Time, the data for the column V12 also shows this deviation from the normal data points

Once again, with V12 you can see a significant difference between the anomalies and the normal data points. A good portion of the anomalies remain hidden within the normal data points, but a significant amount of them can be differentiated from the rest.



Figure 1-28. The scatterplot for Time on the x-axis and V17 on the y-axis shows a deviation between the anomalies and the normal data points. As with the values for V12, you can observe another deviation between the normal points and the fraudulent points. In this case, the difference seems to be a bit more pronounced, as the anomalies seem to be more spread out than in Figure 1-27

The difference between the anomalies and the normal points are highlighted even further when looking at V17. It seems that even in relation to time, columns V12 and V17 hold data that best help distinguish fraudulent transactions from normal transactions. You can see in the graph that a few normal points are with the anomalous points as well, but hopefully the model can learn the true difference taking into account all of the data.

Finally, let's see the relationship between each of these columns and Amount:

```
for f in range(1, 29):
    print(f'Amount vs V{f}')
    plot_scatter(df, f'V{f}', "Amount", sharey=True)
```

This time there seems to be a few more graphs more clearly showing the differences between the normal and fraudulent points. Refer to Figure 1-29, Figure 1-30, and Figure 1-31.



Figure 1-29. Looking at the scatterplot for Amount on the y-axis and V10 on the x-axis, you can see a pronounced deviation of fraudulent points from the normal points. For the relationship of the V columns against Amount, it seems that more columns show an increased deviation compared to the earlier plots. This difference is not so large, as you still see that a sizeable portion of the anomalies are within the normal data cluster. However, this still gives the model some context in how a fraudulent transaction differs from a normal transaction

The graphs from V9 through V12 all show a clear differentiation between the anomalies and the normal points, even if a good portion of the anomalies are within the cluster of normal points. One thing to note is that it may not be the same anomalies that differ each time in the graphs, allowing the model to better learn how to differentiate between the anomalies and the normal points.



Figure 1-30. A scatterplot for the column Amount on the y-axis and V12 on the x-axis. Once again, you can see a pronounced deviation of fraudulent points from the normal points. In this case, the majority of fraudulent points seem to deviate from the normal point cluster. You can also see that there is a band of normal points far from the main cluster, and that the band coincides with the anomalous data points. It is a possible reason to keep in mind if the model classifies points like these as anomalies

You can once again see that V12 consistently differentiates between anomalies and normal data. However, there is still the problem of a good portion of the anomalies staying hidden within the normal data cluster.



Figure 1-31. A scatterplot for the column Amount on the y-axis and V17 on the x-axis. Just as with Figure 1-30, you can see a deviation again of fraudulent points from the normal point cluster. Once again, the majority of fraudulent points show this deviation, but you can also see some normal points that coincide with these anomalous points

You can also see that this differentiation between normal points and fraudulent points holds for V17 looking at transaction amounts.

You could also look at the data for each of the V columns and plot them against each other, but that's more useful to help identify precise changes in trends that will be more useful to know if you want to further train the model to improve its performance on the new data. First of all, it's possible that not every feature is very significant. So, if trends do shift, it does not necessarily mean that the model's performance will be downgraded.

Thorough analysis of the data helps data scientists get a much better understanding of how the various data columns relate to each other and lets them identify if trends are shifting over time. As data is continuously collected over time, data biases and trends are bound to shift. So perhaps a year from now, it's the column V18 that shows profound differences between anomalous points and normal points, and V17 now shows that most anomalous points are contained within the cluster of normal points.

Summary

Data analysis is a crucial step in the process of creating a machine learning solution. Not only does it determine the type of model and influence the set of features that will be selected for the training process, but it also helps identify any changes in trends over time that may signify that the model needs to be further trained. You explored and analyzed the data in the credit card data set, generated many plots to get an idea of the relationship between the two plotted variables, and identified some features that distinguish between normal points and anomalies. In the next chapter, you will process the data to create various subsets to help train several types of machine learning models.

CHAPTER 2

Building Models

In this chapter, we will go over how to build a simple logistic regression model in both scikit-learn and PySpark. We will also go over the process of k-fold cross validation to tune a hyperparameter in scikit-learn.

Introduction

In the previous chapter, you loaded the credit card data set and analyzed the distribution of its data. You also looked at the relationships between the features and got a general idea of how heavily they influence the labels.

Now that you've gained a better understanding of the data set, you will proceed with building the models themselves. You will be using the same credit card data set as in the previous chapter. In this chapter, you will look at two frameworks: **scikit-learn**, and **PySpark**. The models you build in scikit-learn and in PySpark will stay relevant for the rest of the book, as you will be using both of them later on when you host them on cloud services to make predictions. You will keep it simple and construct logistic regression models in these two frameworks. Since the input data format is different for these two frameworks, you can't just conduct the data processing in advance and use those train/test/validate sets for these two frameworks. However, it is possible to do so for scikit-learn and Keras, for example, depending on how the last layer is constructed in the Keras model.

You will be performing the validation step with the scikit-learn model to tune a hyperparameter. **Hyperparameters** can be thought of as modelrelated parameters that influence the training process and result.

That being said, let's get started with scikit-learn and build a logistic regression model. One thing to note is that we will provide a lot of commentary in the scikit-learn model that we may skip over in the PySpark example, so be sure to at least read through the process for scikit-learn to get a general idea of how train-test-validate works.

Scikit-Learn

Before we get started, here are the packages and their versions that you will need. We will provide an easy way for you to check the versions of your packages within the code itself.

Here are the versions of our configuration:

- Python 3.6.5
- numpy 1.18.5
- pandas 1.1.0
- matplotlib 3.2.1
- seaborn 0.10.1
- sklearn 0.22.1.post1

In the code below, you will find that some of the imports are unnecessary, such as importing all of sklearn when you only use a bit of its functionality. This is done for the purpose of displaying the version and such statements have a # beside them.

Data Processing

So now, let's begin with the import statements:

```
import numpy as np
import pandas as pd
import matplotlib #
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
import seaborn as sns
import sklearn #
from sklearn.linear model import LogisticRegression
from sklearn.model selection import train_test_split
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
from sklearn.metrics import roc auc score, plot roc curve,
confusion matrix
from sklearn.model selection import KFold
print("numpy: {}".format(np. version ))
print("pandas: {}".format(pd. version ))
print("matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib. version ))
print("seaborn: {}".format(sns. version ))
print("sklearn: {}".format(sklearn. version ))
```

Refer to Figure 2-1 to see the output.



Figure 2-1. The output showing the printed versions of the modules you will need. Some modules are imported for the sake of printing the versions and have been marked with a # beside them to indicate that they are not necessary to run the code

Now you can move on to loading the data. You will be using the same credit card dataset as from the previous chapter:

```
data path = "data/creditcard.csv"
```

```
df = pd.read_csv(data_path)
```

Refer to Figure 2-2 to see this code in a cell.

```
In [2]: 1 data_path = "data/creditoard.cov"
2 
3 df = pd.read_cov(data_path)
In [ ): 1
```

Figure 2-2. Loading the data frame using pandas. The credit card data set is located in a folder called data, which is located in the same directory as the notebook file

There shouldn't be any output from loading the data frame. To see the data frame you just loaded, call the following to ensure it has read the data correctly:

df.head()

You should see something like in Figure 2-3.

| | | Time | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | VS | V9 | | V21 | V22 | V23 | V24 | |
|--|---|------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|----|
| | 0 | 0.0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2.536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | | -0.018307 | 0.277838 | -0.110474 | 0.066928 | (|
| | 1 | 0.0 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.166480 | 0.448154 | 0.060018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0.255425 | 1 | -0.225775 | -0.638572 | 0.101268 | -0.339846 | 0 |
| | 2 | 1.0 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | | 0.247998 | 0.771679 | 0.909412 | -0.689281 | -4 |
| | 3 | 1.0 | -0.966272 | -0.185225 | 1.792993 | -0.853291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | | -0.108300 | 0.005274 | -0.190321 | -1.175575 | 0 |
| | 4 | 2.0 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | | -0.009431 | 0.798278 | -0.137458 | 0.141267 | -0 |

Figure 2-3. The output of the head() function. The data has loaded correctly, and you can see the first five rows of the data frame

If you remember from the previous chapter, there is a massive imbalance in the distribution of data between the normal data and the anomalies. Because of this, you are going to take a slightly alternative approach in how you craft this data.

This is where data analysis comes into play. Because you know that a massive disparity between the data counts in each class exists, you will now take care to specially craft the data sets so that it is ensured that a good amount of anomalies end up in each data set. If you simply select 100,000 data points from df, split it into your training/test/validate sets and continue, it is entirely possible that very few or even no anomalies end up in one or more of those sets. At that point, you would have a lot of trouble in getting the model to properly learn this task.

This is why you will be splitting up the anomalies and normal points to create your training/test/validate sets.

With that in mind, let's create data frames for the normal points and for the fraudulent points:

```
normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).
reset_index(drop=True)
anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
```

You have set the random_state to a specific value so that the results of the random sampling should be the same no matter how many times you repeat it, helping with reproducibility. Unfortunately, given the nature of how models learn, you cannot expect to get the same results every time for something like neural networks, for example.

In the code, you filter out the respective values by class, and sample 50% of the entire data frame's normal points to comprise the normal data in this context.

Refer to Figure 2-4 to see this code in a cell.

```
In [27]: 1 normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).reset_index(drop=True)
2 anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
```

Figure 2-4. Filtering the data frame values by class to create the normal and anomaly data frames. The normal data frame contains 50% of all normal data points, randomly selected as determined by the seed (random_state)

You can add some code to check the shapes as well:

```
print(f"Normal: {normal.shape}")
print(f"Anomaly: {anomaly.shape}")
```

Refer to Figure 2-5 for the output.

```
In [28]: 1 print(f"Normal: (normal.shape)")
2 print(f"Anomaly: (anomaly.shape)")
Normal: (142158, 31)
Anomaly: (422, 31)
```

Figure 2-5. Printing the shapes of the normal and anomaly data frames. There is a clear difference in the number of entries in the two data frames

As you can see, there is still a big disparity between the normal points and the anomalies. In the case of logistic regression, the model is still able to learn how to distinguish between the two, but in the case of neural networks, for example, this disparity means the model never really learns how to classify anomalies. However, as you will see later in this chapter, you can tell the model to weigh the anomalies far more in its learning process compared to the normal points.

Now you can start creating the train/test/validate split. However, scikitlearn provides functionality to create train/test splits only. To get around that, you will create train and test sets, and then split the train set again into train and validate sets.

First, you will split the data into train and test data, keeping the normal points and anomalies separate. To do this, you will use the train_test_split() function from scikit-learn. Commonly passed parameters are

- x: The x set you want to split up
- y: The y set you want to split up corresponding to the x set
- test_size: The proportion of data in x and y that you want to randomly sample for the test set.

And so, to split up x and y into your training and testing sets, you may see code like the following:

```
x_train, x_test, y_train, y_test = train_test_split(x, y, test_
size=0.2, random state = 2020)
```

Just like earlier, random_state is setting the random seed so that every time you run it, the data will be split the same way.

If you don't pass in the y parameter, you simply get a split on the x data. And so, keeping that in mind, let's split up your normal points and anomalies into training and testing sets:

```
normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal, test_size
= 0.2, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
```

There should be no output but refer to Figure 2-6 to see the code in a cell.

In [14]: 1 normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
2 anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)

Figure 2-6. Splitting the normal and anomaly data frames into train and test subsets. The respective test sets comprise 20% of the original sets

Now, you can create your training and validation sets by calling the same function on the respective training sets. You don't want to split it by 20% again, though, since the training set is already 80% of the original data set. If you used a 20% split again, the validation set would be 16% of the original data, and the training set would be 64% of the original data. You will instead be doing a 60-20-20 split for the training, testing, and validation data, respectively, and so you will be using a new test_size value of 0.25 to ensure these proportions hold (0.25 * 0.8 = 0.2).

With that in mind, let's create your training and validation splits:

```
normal_train, normal_validate = train_test_split(normal_train,
test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_validate = train_test_split(anomaly_
train, test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
```

Refer to Figure 2-7 to see the code in a cell.

```
In [30]: 1 normal_train, normal_validate = train_test_split(normal_train, test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
2 anomaly_train, anomaly_validate = train_test_split(anomaly_train, test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
```

Figure 2-7. You create train and validate splits from the training data. You have chosen to make the validation set comprise 25% of the respective original training sets. As these original training sets themselves comprise of 80% of the original normal and anomaly data frames, the respective validation splits are 20% (0. 25 * 0.8) of their original normal and anomaly data frames. And so, the final training split also becomes 60% of the original, as 0.75 * 0.8 = 0.6

To create your final training, testing, and validation sets, you have to concatenate the respective normal and anomaly data splits.

First, you define x_train, x_test, and x_validate:

```
x_train = pd.concat((normal_train, anomaly_train))
x_test = pd.concat((normal_test, anomaly_test))
x_validate = pd.concat((normal_validate, anomaly_validate))
```

Next, you define y_train, y_test, and y_validate:

```
y_train = np.array(x_train["Class"])
y_test = np.array(x_test["Class"])
y_validate = np.array(x_validate["Class"])
```

Finally, you have to drop the column Class in the x sets since it would defeat the purpose of teaching the model how to learn what makes up a normal and a fraudulent transaction if you gave it the label directly:

```
x_train = x_train.drop("Class", axis=1)
x_test = x_test.drop("Class", axis=1)
x_validate = x_validate.drop("Class", axis=1)
```

To see all this code in a cell, refer to Figure 2-8.



Figure 2-8. Creating the respective x and y splits of the training, testing, and validation sets. The x sets are the combinations of the normal and anomaly sets for each split (train, test, validate), while the y sets are simply the data in the Class columns of those x sets. You then drop the label column from the x sets

Let's get the shapes of the sets you just created:

print("Training sets:\nx_train: {} y_train: {}".format(x_train. shape, y_train.shape)) print("\nTesting sets:\nx_test: {} y_test: {}".format(x_test. shape, y_test.shape)) print("\nValidation sets:\nx_validate: {} y_validate: {}".format(x validate.shape, y validate.shape))

Refer to Figure 2-9 to see the output.



Figure 2-9. Printing the output of the different sets. The three sets should comprise 60%, 20%, and 20% of the original union of the normal and anomaly sets

Looking at the data analysis, you can see that some of the values get really large. The fine details are beyond the scope of this book, but when some features have a relatively small range but others have an extremely large range (think of the range of V1 and Time from the previous chapter), the model will have a much harder time learning. In more detail, the model will have a hard time optimizing the cost function and may take many more steps to converge, if it is able to do so at all.

And so it is better to scale everything down by normalizing the data. You will be using scikit-learn's StandardScaler, which normalizes all of the data such that the mean is 0 and the standard deviation is 1.

Here is the code to standardize your data:

```
scaler = StandardScaler()
scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop("Class", axis=1))
x_train = scaler.transform(x_train)
x_test = scaler.transform(x_test)
x_validate = scaler.transform(x_validate)
```

It is important to note that you are fitting the scaler on the entire data frame so that it standardizes all of your data in the same way. This is to ensure the best results since you don't want to standardize x_train, x_test, and x_validate in their own ways since it would create discrepancies in the data and would be problematic for the model. Of course, once you've deployed the model and start receiving new data, you would still standardize it using the scaler from the training process, but this new data could possibly come from a slightly different distribution than your training data. This would especially be the case if trends start shifting - this new standardized data could possibly lead to a tougher time for the model since it wouldn't fit very well in the distribution that the model trained on.

Refer to Figure 2-10 to see the code in a cell.

In (101: 1 scaler = StandardScaler() 2 scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop("Class", axis=1)) x_train = scaler.transform(x_train)
x_test = scaler.transform(x_test)
x_validate = scaler.transform(x_validate)

Figure 2-10. Fitting a standard scaler object on a concatenation of the normal and anomaly data frames. This is done so that each of the train, test, and validate subsets will be scaled according to the same standards, ensuring that there are no discrepancies between the scaling of the data

Model Training

Finally, you can now define your logistic regression model:

```
sk_model = LogisticRegression(random_state=None, max_iter=400,
solver='newton-cg').fit(x_train, y_train)
```

Refer to Figure 2-11 to see the code in a cell. There should not be any outputs after execution if it all goes well. Any errors you might see could involve a failure to converge. For that, changing the max_iter parameter could help, and changing the solver algorithm could help as well.

In [21]: 1 sk_model = LogisticRegression(random_state=None, max_iter=100, solver='newton-og').fit(x_train, y_train)

Figure 2-11. Defining the logistic regression model and training it on the training data

After the training process, either the evaluation step or validation step can come next. As long as the testing set and the validation set come from different distributions (the validation set is derived from the training set, while the testing set is derived from the original data), the model is technically seeing new data in the evaluation and in the validation processes.

The context also matters. If you are using the validation process to select the best model out of a set of trained models, then the validation process can come after the training process. You can still evaluate one or all of your trained models, but it could be unnecessary because in this context you're trying to find the best model for the code.

In the context where you're trying to tune your hyperparameters for a model you are going to stick with, it doesn't matter whether you do the evaluation first or the validation first. Doing the evaluation first, as you will be doing shortly, can give you a good idea of how well the model is doing currently before starting the validation step. The model will never learn from the evaluation data, so there's no harm in evaluating the model on this data. In this example, you are looking at tuning the hyperparameter for class weights (how much to weight a normal sample and how much to weight a fraudulent sample).

But first, let's evaluate your model to get a deeper understanding of how everything works.

Model Evaluation

You can now look at accuracy and AUC scores. First, you find the accuracy using the built-in score function of the model:

```
eval_acc = sk_model.score(x_test, y_test)
```

Next, let's get the list of predictions from the model to help calculate the AUC score. AUC is usually a better metric since it better explains the performance of the model. The general gist of it is that a model that perfectly classifies every point correctly will have an AUC score of 100%.

The problem with accuracy in this context is that if there are 100,000 normal points and perhaps around 100 anomalies, the model can classify all of the normal points correctly and none of the anomalies and still get a really high accuracy above 99%. However, the AUC score would show a value much lower at around 0.5. An AUC of 0.5 means that the model knows nothing and is practically just guessing randomly, but in this case, it means the model only ever predicts "normal" for any point it sees. In other words, it hasn't actually learned much of anything if it doesn't know how to predict an anomaly.

It's also worth mentioning that AUC isn't the sole metric by which one should base the worthiness of a model, since context matters. In this case, normal points far outnumber anomalies, so accuracy is a relatively poor metric to solely judge model performance on. AUC scores in this case would reflect the mode's performance well, but it's also possible to get higher AUC scores but lower accuracy scores. That just means you must

look at the results carefully to understand exactly what's happening. To help with this, you will look at a "confusion matrix" shortly.

Now, let's get the predictions and calculate the AUC score:

```
preds = sk_model.predict(x_test)
auc_score = roc_auc_score(y_test, preds)
```

Finally, let's print out the scores:

```
print(f"Auc Score: {auc_score:.3%}")
print(f"Eval Accuracy: {eval_acc:.3%}")
```

Refer to Figure 2-12 to see all three of the cells above and the output that results.



Figure 2-12. Printing out the AUC score and the accuracy for the scikit-learn logistic regression model

In this case, both the AUC score and the accuracy score are high. Between the two, the accuracy score is definitely inflated by the number of normal points that exist, but the AUC score indicates that the model does a pretty good job at distinguishing between the anomalies and the normal points.

Scikit-learn actually provides a function that lets you see the ROC curve—the figure from which the AUC score (or "area under curve") is derived from. Run the following:

```
roc_plot = plot_roc_curve(sk_model, x_test, y_test,
name='Scikit-learn ROC Curve')
```

Refer to Figure 2-13 for the output.



Figure 2-13. The ROC curve generated for the logistic regression model you just trained. An ROC curve starting with a true positive value of 1.0 at a false positive value of 0.0 is the best possible curve in theory. From that point, it should keep going right while maintaining its value as it hits 1.0 on the x-axis. This graph is quite close to that ideal, hence why the AUC score is so high at 0.98. The discrepancy in AUC score here compared to when you calculated it earlier has to do with how the value is actually calculated

What's basically happening is that scikit-learn takes in the model and the evaluation set to dynamically generate the curve as it predicts on the test sets. The metrics you see on the axes are derived from how correctly the model predicts each of the values. The "true positive rate" and the "false positive rate" are derived from the values on the confusion matrix that you will see below.

From that graph, the AUC score is generated. You can see that it differs from the score that was calculated earlier, but this can be attributed to the two functions calculating the scores slightly differently.

Let's now build the confusion matrix and plot it using seaborn:

```
conf_matrix = confusion_matrix(y_test, preds)
ax = sns.heatmap(conf_matrix, annot=True,fmt='g')
ax.invert_xaxis()
ax.invert_yaxis()
plt.ylabel('Actual')
plt.xlabel('Predicted')
```

Refer to Figure 2-14 for the output.



Figure 2-14. The confusion matrix plot of the results of training. The accuracy for the normal points is very good, but the accuracy for the anomaly points is ok. There is still further room for improvement looking at these results, as you have not tuned the hyperparameters of the model yet, but it already does ok in detecting anomalies. The goal now is to keep the accuracy for the normal points as high as possible, or at a high enough level that's acceptable, while raising the accuracy for the anomaly points as high as possible. Based on this confusion matrix plot, you can now see that the lower AUC score is more accurate at reflecting the true performance of the model. You can see that a non-negligible amount of anomalies were falsely classified as normal, hence an AUC score of 0.84 is a much better indicator of the model's performance than the graph's apparent score of 0.98

This is what a confusion matrix looks like. The y-axis consists of the true labels, while the x-axis consists of predicted labels. When the true label is "0" and the model predicts "0," we call this a **true negative**. "True" refers to the true label, and "negative" refers to the label the model predicts.

What counts as "positive" and what counts as "negative" can differ. In tasks such as disease detection, if a test finds someone to have the disease, they are said to "test positive." Otherwise, they "test negative." Anomaly detection is similar. When a model thinks that a point is an anomaly, it flags it with the label "1." And so, a point is labeled "positive" if the model thinks it is an anomaly, and "negative" if it doesn't.

You may notice that we have inverted the axes in the code. This is simply to get it in the format so that the top left of the matrix corresponds to "true positives," the top right of the matrix corresponds to "false negatives," the bottom left of the matrix corresponds to "false positives," and the bottom right of the matrix corresponds to "true negatives."

To quickly recap these concepts:

- **True positives** are values that the model predicts as positive that actually are positive.
- **False negatives** are values that the model predicts as negative that actually are positive.
- **False positives** are values that the model predicts as positive that actually are negative.
- **True negatives** are values that the model predicts as negative that actually are negative.

To look at how well the model identifies anomalies, look at the 1 row on the y-axis. The sum of this row should equal the total number of anomalies in the test set: 99 anomalies. The model predicted about 68.7% of the anomalies correctly (68/(68+31)) and predicted 99.98\% of the normal points correctly (28425/(28425+7)) looking at the bottom row.

As you can see, the confusion matrix gives us a really good look at the true performance of the model. You now know that it does very well in the task of predicting normal points but does an ok job at predicting anomalies. That being said, the model can still predict a majority of anomalies correctly. And so you can see that the AUC score of 0.84 was much more accurate at indicating the performance of the model than the graph, which had an AUC of 0.98. With an AUC of 0.98, you can expect that there are very, very few instances of false negatives or false positives.

Model Validation

Let's now look at how to use the process of k-fold cross-validation to compare several hyperparameter values. After the validation process has ended, you will compare the evaluation metrics to get a better idea of what hyperparameter setting works best.

The hyperparameter you want to tune is how much you want to weight the anomalies by compared to the normal data points. By default, both of them are weighted equally. Let's define a list of weights to iterate over:

```
anomaly_weights = [1, 5, 10, 15]
```

Next, you define the number of folds and initialize your data fold generator:

```
num_folds = 5
kfold = KFold(n_splits=num_folds, shuffle=True,
random_state=2020)
```

What this KFold() function does is that it splits the data passed in into num_folds different partitions. A single fold acts as a validation set at a time, while the rest of the folds are used for training. In this context, the "validation fold" is basically what the model will be evaluating on. It is called "validation" since it helps us get an idea of how the model is doing on data it has never seen before.

If you have built deep learning models before, you may know that during the training process, you can split a small portion of the training set aside as a validation set. This lets you know during training if you're overfitting or not, as decreasing training loss and increasing validation loss would indicate.

Refer to Figure 2-15 to see the code above in cells.

```
In [17]: 1 anomaly_weights = [1, 5, 10, 15]
In [18]: 1 num_folds = 5
2 kfold = KFold(n_splits=num_folds, shuffle=True, random_state=2020)
```

Figure 2-15. Setting the different values for anomaly weights to test with the validation script and constructing the KFold data generator. In this case, you are using five folds, so the data passed in will be split five ways

Now you define the validation script:

```
logs = []
for f in range(len(anomaly weights)):
    fold = 1
    accuracies = []
    auc scores= []
    for train, test in kfold.split(x validate, y validate):
        weight = anomaly weights[f]
        class weights= {
            0:1,
            1: weight
        }
        sk model = LogisticRegression(random state=None,
                                       max iter=400,
                                       solver='newton-cg',
                                       class weight=class
                                       weights).fit(x
                                       validate[train],
                                       y_validate[train])
```

```
for h in range(40): print('-', end="")
   print(f"\nfold {fold}\nAnomaly Weight: {weight}")
   eval acc = sk model.score(x validate[test],
   y validate[test])
   preds = sk model.predict(x validate[test])
    try:
        auc score = roc auc score(y validate[test], preds)
    except:
        auc score = -1
   print("AUC: {}\neval acc: {}".format(auc score, eval acc))
   accuracies.append(eval acc)
   auc scores.append(auc score)
   log = [sk model, x validate[test], y validate[test], preds]
   logs.append(log)
   fold = fold + 1
print("\nAverages: ")
print("Accuracy: ", np.mean(accuracies))
print("AUC: ", np.mean(auc scores))
print("Best: ")
print("Accuracy: ", np.max(accuracies))
print("AUC: ", np.max(auc scores))
```

That's a lot to take in at once, so be sure to refer to Figure 2-16 to make sure your code is formatted correctly.


Figure 2-16. The validation script in a cell. The script is quite long, so be sure it is formatted correctly because a single space misalignment can cause issues

Before you run the script, let's go over what the code does, as that was a lot of code thrown out at once.

The first loop goes over each of the anomaly weights. You set the fold number here equal to 1 and define empty lists to hold values for accuracy and AUC scores for each run with the current weight parameter.

The second loop goes over the five fold boundaries that the KFold() object defines. You set the class_weights dictionary and pass it into the model as a hyperparameter. After the training process, you evaluate as usual. There is a try-except block for the AUC score in the event that the

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS

fold generated only has values of one class (so really if it only has normal data and no anomalies). If the AUC score is -1 for any fold, then you know there was a problem with one of the folds.

You do save the model, the validation data, and the predictions so that you can examine the confusion matrix and plot the ROC curve for any run you like. After the end of the five folds, the script then displays averages and the best scores.

The output will be truncated when you run this, so don't forget to expand it like in the previous chapter to look at all of the runs. Feel free to explore the output or even change the number of folds but beware of the results because increasing the number of folds can mean that the number of anomalies must be spread across even more partitions. In this specific context, a lower number of folds is likely to be better because you have so few anomaly points.

When you sift through the output, you can see that the best results occur when the anomaly weight is set to 10. This setting had the highest average AUC score and had the best AUC score as well, resulting in an output like what you see in Figure 2-17.

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS

```
fold 1
Anomaly Weight: 10
AUC: 0.9245604009143662
eval acc: 0.9985982127212195
-----
fold 2
Anomaly Weight: 10
AUC: 0.9751350672194998
eval acc: 0.9977216964598669
fold 3
Anomaly Weight: 10
AUC: 0.9313783507133262
eval acc: 0.9985979670522257
fold 4
Anomaly Weight: 10
AUC: 0.8942972430196292
eval acc: 0.998422712933754
fold 5
Anomaly Weight: 10
AUC: 0.8820013855427915
eval acc: 0.9985979670522257
Averages:
Accuracy: 0.9983877112438584
AUC: 0.9214744894819227
Best:
Accuracy: 0.9985982127212195
AUC: 0.9751350672194998
_____
```

Figure 2-17. Looking at the results of the best setup in the validation script output. The best setup turned out to be one where the anomalies were weighted as 10, as it had the best average AUC score and the best AUC score with the other anomaly weight parameters. The true best weight is likely around an anomaly weight of 10, though you must perform another hyperparemter search with a more narrowed range to find the absolute best setting. You can keep narrowing the search as much as you'd like, but past a certain precision, you will find that you are getting diminishing returns

Let's examine the plots for this setup since it was the best performer of all of them on average.

First, you load the correct log in the list of logs. Since the anomaly weight was 10, and the second fold performed the best, you want to look at the twelfth index in the entries in logs. (The first five correspond to indices 0-4, and the next five are indices 5-9. With index 10, you begin the first fold with weight ten, so the second fold is at index 11.)

```
sk_model, x_val, y_val, preds = logs[11]
```

Let's look at the ROC curve. Keep in mind that since there is so little data in the validation set, the AUC score may not be so accurate. Here is the code:

```
roc_plot = plot_roc_curve(sk_model, x_val, y_val, name='Scikit-
learn ROC Curve')
```

Refer to Figure 2-18 to see the output of the above two cells.



Figure 2-18. Viewing the ROC curve for a specific validation fold. As you can see, the ROC curve is quite optimal. A perfect ROC curve would start as close as possible to 1.0 on the y-axis while maintaining that level right as it reaches 1.0 on the x-axis. An ROC graph like that would mean the AUC would be as close to 1.0 as possible. In this case, you almost see the perfect AUC curve, and the AUC is stated to be 1.0. The confusion matrix in Figure 2-19 will reveal a lot more about why the AUC score is so low

This graph looks different compared to the ROC plot you saw earlier. In fact, it almost seems perfect.

Let's look at the confusion matrix to get a better idea of how the model performed on this fold:

```
conf_matrix = confusion_matrix(y_val, preds)
ax = sns.heatmap(conf_matrix, annot=True,fmt='g')
ax.invert_xaxis()
ax.invert_yaxis()
plt.ylabel('Actual')
plt.xlabel('Predicted')
```

The resulting confusion matrix can be seen in Figure 2-19.



Figure 2-19. The confusion matrix for a specific validation fold. It has very good accuracy in labeling normal data points and does very well with anomaly points. Additionally, you can see that there are barely any anomalies in this validation fold if you count the entries in the top row: 21 anomalies to 5,685 normal points. It is no wonder, then, that having a higher weight on the anomaly helped the model factor in these anomalies in its learning process, resulting in better performance in anomaly detection

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS

The model did quite well on correctly classifying the anomalies, but the goal of validation in this case is just to help nudge the hyperparameter setting in the right direction. Based on the results of the validation process, you know that the optimal hyperparameter value lies within the values of 10 and 15 because those two settings produced the best results.

Of course, you can narrow the range further to include values between 10 and 15 for the anomaly weights and repeat this process again and again, further reducing the range until a good, optimal value is found. After a certain precision, however, you will find that you are getting diminishing returns, and that the effort you put into hyperparameter tuning only produces near-negligible boosts in performance.

With that, you now know how to train, evaluate, and validate a logistic regression model in scikit-learn.

PySpark

We have provided the versions of the modules we will be using. Installing PySpark can be a little complicated as it's not a matter of doing pip install PySpark depending on the version, so beware of that.

Here are the versions of our configuration:

- Python 3.6.5
- PySpark 3.0.0
- matplotlib 3.2.1
- seaborn 0.10.1
- sklearn 0.22.1.post1

With that, let's begin. Again, we will not provide commentary as detailed as in the scikit-learn example, so be sure to review the whole process in scikit-learn to get a good idea of how it will go. Additionally, we won't be validating the model in PySpark in this example.

Data Processing

Here are the import statements:

import pyspark # from pyspark.sql import SparkSession from pyspark import SparkConf, SparkContext from pyspark.sql.types import * from pyspark.ml.feature import VectorAssembler from pyspark.ml import Pipeline from pyspark.ml.classification import LogisticRegression as LogisticRegressionPySpark import pyspark.sql.functions as F import os import seaborn as sns import sklearn # from sklearn.metrics import confusion matrix from sklearn.metrics import roc auc score import matplotlib # **import** matplotlib.pyplot **as** plt os.environ["SPARK LOCAL IP"]='127.0.0.1' spark = SparkSession.builder.master("local[*]").getOrCreate() spark.sparkContext. conf.getAll() print("pyspark: {}".format(pyspark. version)) print("matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib. version)) print("seaborn: {}".format(sns. version)) print("sklearn: {}".format(sklearn. version))

The output should look something like in Figure 2-20.

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS



Figure 2-20. Importing the necessary modules and printing their versions. Once again, modules imported solely for the purpose of displaying versions are marked with a # so you may remove them and the print statements if desired

You will notice that there is some additional code relating to PySpark that you have had to define. With PySpark, you must define a Spark context and create a Spark session. What this really means is that you are creating a point of connection to the Spark engine, enabling the engine to run all of the code relating to Spark functionality.

Let's now load the data set. PySpark has its own functionality for creating data frames, so you won't be using pandas. Execute the following:

```
data_path = 'data/creditcard.csv'
df = spark.read.csv(data_path, header = True, inferSchema = True)
labelColumn = "Class"
columns = df.columns
numericCols = columns
numericCols.remove(labelColumn)
print(numericCols)
```

You should see something like Figure 2-21.

```
In [3]: 1 data_path = 'data/creditoard.csv'
2
3 df = spark.read.csv(data_path, header = True, inferSchema = True)
4 labelColumn = "Class"
5 columns = df.columns
6 numericOcls = columns
7 numericOcls.remove(labelColumn)
8 print(numericOcls)
['Time', 'V1', 'V2', 'V3', 'V4', 'V5', 'V6', 'V7', 'V8', 'V9', 'V10', 'V11', 'V12', 'V13', 'V14', 'V15', 'V16', 'V7', 'V26', 'V26', 'V27', 'V28', 'V2
```

Figure 2-21. Reading the credit card data set in PySpark and removing the Class column from the list of columns. This is done because you don't want the Class column to be included in the feature vector, as you will see in Figure 2-22

Printing the columns is just to ensure that the label column has been removed successfully.

You can look at the data frame now just to ensure that it has been loaded properly. You will have to use built-in functionality to convert to a pandas data frame, because Spark data frames are not very clean to look at.

Look at the following two cells and their outputs:

df.show(2)

Refer to Figure 2-22.

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS



Figure 2-22. The output of the Spark data frame. Since there are so many columns in the data frame, the output is very messy and very difficult to read. Fortunately, there is built-in functionality to convert PySpark data frames into pandas data frames, making it much easier to view the rows in the Spark data frame

Now compare this to the following:

df.toPandas().head()

Refer to Figure 2-23.

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS

| 1 | Time | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | VS | V9 | | V21 | V22 | V23 | V24 | 1 |
|---|------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|--------|
| 0 | 0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2.536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | - | -0.018307 | 0.277838 | -0.110474 | 0.066928 | 0.128 |
| 1 | 0 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.166480 | 0.448154 | 0.060018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0.255425 | | -0.225775 | -0.638672 | 0.101288 | -0.339846 | 0.167 |
| 2 | 1 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | | 0.247998 | 0.771679 | 0.909412 | -0.689281 | -0.327 |
| 3 | 1 | -0.966272 | -0.185226 | 1.792993 | -0.863291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | | -0.108300 | 0.005274 | -0.190321 | -1.175575 | 0.647 |
| 4 | 2 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | | -0.009431 | 0.798278 | -0.137458 | 0.141267 | -0.205 |

Figure 2-23. Using PySpark's built-in functionality to convert the spark data frame into a pandas data frame for easier viewing. As seen in Figure 2-22, it is extremely hard to read the direct output of a Spark data frame

So whenever you want to check a Spark data frame, make sure to convert it to pandas if it has a lot of columns.

The data processing procedure for PySpark is slightly different than in pandas. To train the model, you must pass in a vector called features. Take a look at the following code:

```
stages = []
assemblerInputs = numericCols
assembler = VectorAssembler(inputCols=assemblerInputs,
outputCol="features")
stages += [assembler]
dfFeatures = df.select(F.col(labelColumn).alias('label'),
*numericCols )
```

This defines the inputs to the assembler so that it knows what columns to transform into the features vector.

From here, let's add to the cell above and create the normal and anomaly data splits as with the scikit-learn example.

```
normal = dfFeatures.filter("Class == 0").
sample(withReplacement=False, fraction=0.5, seed=2020)
anomaly = dfFeatures.filter("Class == 1")
```

```
CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS
normal_train, normal_test = normal.randomSplit([0.8, 0.2],
seed = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = anomaly.randomSplit([0.8, 0.2],
seed = 2020)
```

The cell should look like Figure 2-24.

```
In [5]: 1
2 stages = []
3 assembler:nputs = numericCols
4 assembler:nputs, outputCol="features")
5 stages += [assembler]
6
7 dfFeatures = df.select(F.col(labelColumn).alias('label'), *numericCols )
8
9 normal = dfFeatures.filter("Class == 0").sample(withReplacement=False, fraction=0.5, seed=2020)
10 anomaly = dfFeatures.filter("Class == 1")
11 normal_train, normal_cest = normal.randomSplit([0.8, 0.2], seed = 2020)
13 anomaly_train, anomaly_test = anomaly.randomSplit([0.8, 0.2], seed = 2020)
```

Figure 2-24. Constructing the VectorAssembler that will be used later to create a feature vector from the input data. You also create a normal and anomaly data split similar to how it was done in scikit-learn, and split it in a similar fashion into training and testing subsets

Just like in the scikit-learn example, you combine the respective normal and anomaly splits to form your training and testing sets. This time, however, you won't have a validation set, so you are looking at an 80-20 split between the training and testing data.

```
train = normal_train.union(anomaly_train)
test = normal_test.union(anomaly_test)
```

Refer to Figure 2-25 to see the cell.

In [4]: 1 train = normal_train.union(anomaly_train)
2 test = normal_test.union(anomaly_test)

Figure 2-25. Creating the training and testing sets in a similar manner to how you did it in scikit-learn, but with PySpark's functionality

Let's finish the rest of the pipeline and create the feature vector:

```
pipeline = Pipeline(stages = stages)
pipelineModel = pipeline.fit(dfFeatures)
train = pipelineModel.transform(train)
test = pipelineModel.transform(test)
selectedCols = ['label', 'features'] + numericCols
train = train.select(selectedCols)
test = test.select(selectedCols)
```

```
print("Training Dataset Count: ", train.count())
print("Test Dataset Count: ", test.count())
```

Refer to Figure 2-26 to see the output.

a pipeline = Fipeline(stages = stages) 5 pipelineModel = pipeline.fit(dfFeatures) 4 train = pipelineModel.transform(train) 5 test = pipelineModel.transform(test) 6 selectedCols = ['labol', 'features'] + numericCols 7 train = train.select(selectedCols) 8 test = test.select(selectedCols) 10 print("Training Dataset Count: ", train.count())
11 print("Test Dataset Count: ", test.count()) Training Dataset Count: 1 Test Dataset Count: 28459 114389

Figure 2-26. Using a pipeline to create a feature vector from the data frame. This feature vector is what the logistic regression model will train on

Model Training

You can now define and train the model:

```
lr = LogisticRegressionPySpark(featuresCol = 'features',
labelCol = 'label', maxIter=10)
lrModel = lr.fit(train)
trainingSummary = lrModel.summary
pyspark_auc_score = trainingSummary.areaUnderROC
```

Refer to Figure 2-27 to see the above code in a cell.



Figure 2-27. Defining the PySpark logistic regression model, training *it, and finding the AUC score using the built-in function of the model*

Model Evaluation

Once the model has finished training, run the evaluation code:

```
predictions = lrModel.transform(test)
y_true = predictions.select(['label']).collect()
y_pred = predictions.select(['prediction']).collect()
```

```
evaluations = lrModel.evaluate(test)
accuracy = evaluations.accuracy
```

Add the following code as well to display the metrics:

```
print(f"AUC Score: {roc_auc_score(y_pred, y_true):.3%}")
print(f"PySpark AUC Score: {pyspark_auc_score:.3%}")
print(f"Accuracy Score: {accuracy:.3%}")
```

Refer to Figure 2-28 to see the output.



Figure 2-28. The output metrics. The AUC score is calculated using scikit-learn's scoring algorithm, while the PySpark AUC score metric comes from the training summary of the PySpark model. Finally, the accuracy score is also outputted

You can see that the AUC score and the accuracy are quite high, so let's examine the graphs.

First, let's look at the ROC curve:

```
pyspark_roc = trainingSummary.roc.toPandas()
plt.xlabel('False Positive Rate')
plt.ylabel('True Positive Rate')
plt.title('PySpark ROC Curve')
plt.plot(pyspark_roc['FPR'],pyspark_roc['TPR'])
```

To see the graph, refer to Figure 2-29.



Figure 2-29. The ROC curve for the PySpark logistic regression model you just trained. A perfect ROC curve would have the true positive rate starting at 1.0, where it continues right to a false positive rate value of 1.0. This curve is quite close to that, hence why its area (AUC) is said to be around 0.97997 by PySpark, keeping in mind a perfect AUC score is 1.00

CHAPTER 2 BUILDING MODELS

The curve looks quite optimal. Let's now look at the confusion matrix to get a detailed idea of how the model performs:

```
conf_matrix = confusion_matrix(y_true, y_pred)
ax = sns.heatmap(conf_matrix, annot=True,fmt='g')
ax.invert_xaxis()
ax.invert_yaxis()
plt.ylabel('Actual')
plt.xlabel('Predicted')
```

Refer to Figure 2-30 to view the confusion matrix plot.



Figure 2-30. The plotted confusion matrix of the PySpark logistic regression model you just trained. The accuracy of correctly labeled points for the normal data is very high and is decent for the anomalous data

From this, you have a much more detailed account of how the model performed. Looking at just the anomalies, you see that the model has a 81.4% accuracy (70/(70+16)) in predicting anomalies. This is better than the model you trained in scikit-learn, though you haven't tuned the hyperparameter to attain maximum performance.

PySpark does have an option to weight your data, but this is done on a sample-by-sample basis. What this means is that instead of passing in a weight dictionary for each class, you have to create a column in the data frame with each anomaly being weighted a certain amount and each normal point being weighted as 1, for example. By default, everything is weighted as 1, so that means the PySpark model may have a greater potential in performance than the scikit-learn model.

Moving on to the normal points, you see a really good accuracy of 99.96% (28363/(28363+10)), so it is able to identify normal points very well.

Summary

With the insights you gained from data analysis, you processed the data into training, testing, and validation sets in scikit-learn and PySpark (you only did a train-test split in PySpark, but you could have split the training data into training and validation sets just like in scikit-learn). From there, you constructed logistic regression models in each framework and trained and evaluated on them. You looked at accuracy and AUC scores as metrics and looked at the ROC curve and confusion matrix to get a better idea of how the model performed. For the scikit-learn model, you performed k-fold cross-validation to help tune the hyperparameter. In the next chapter, you will keep your experiences with data analysis and model creation in mind as you learn about MLOps and how you can operationalize your models.

CHAPTER 3

What Is MLOps?

In this chapter, we will cover the concepts behind the term "MLOps" and go over what it is, why it's useful, and how it's implemented.

Introduction

Creating machine learning solutions to various problems can be quite the arduous task. Let's imagine ourselves in the shoes of a team that is attempting to solve a problem with machine learning. You may be familiar with this process if you read Chapter 1, but we will recap the entire process once again to establish the context. You may skip past this section if you are already familiar with this. The entire process may look somewhat like the following:

• **Collect and process raw data:** Raw data is rarely in a format that is easy to train a model on. Usually, it requires processing to remove aberrant data points such as null values and faulty data values. Other times, you might have to process the raw data to extract only the information you need among all of the noise.

- Analyze the data: This step involves looking at the data points and understanding their characteristics. How is it structured? What does the distribution of the data points look like? Are there any identifiable trends or biases in the data? This step is crucial because it dictates how you are going to approach the problem. If you already have a trained model you are looking to update, it also tells you if there are any new trends in the data that your model should be updated to consider. If you identified any "useless features" that don't really influence the output, you might drop them and train a new model to improve training speed while possibly boosting performance.
- **Process the data for training:** In this step, you could be scaling the data to a more appropriate range and perhaps removing any outliers and/or anomalies that could interfere with model performance. Furthermore, you could also be applying feature engineering to create new features from existing data points and perhaps give your model more or a better context during training. This is also where you create training and testing data sets, though optimal practice is to make training, testing, and validation data sets.
- **Construct, train, and test the model:** In this step, you are creating the model, setting hyperparameters, and training the model. In the case of deep learning, you can also select a subsection of the training set to be a data validation set. The purpose of this set is to have the model be evaluated on it at the end of every epoch or full forward pass of the data through the model. By comparing the model performance on data it's seen

many times over during training versus data it hasn't seen at all (or rather, data that has no effect on weight adjustment), you can see if the model is truly learning to generalize or if it's just overfitting.

- **Overfitting** is when a model performs significantly better on a training set compared to data that it has never seen before. As just discussed, one way to give an early indication of overfitting is to set aside a portion of the training set as validation data during the training phase. This can give you an early indication of overfitting without having to find out after the training process has finished, which can take anywhere from minutes to days depending on the depth of the model and the equipment used. And so, it follows that overfitting can also be observed when the model is evaluated on the testing data or validation data, and discrepancies in model performance can be observed between these sets and the training set.
- This phenomenon of overfitting could partially result from the model not receiving enough data points during training to reflect the variety it is expected to see, so fixing the training set by introducing more variety or even increasing the number of data points can help. Additionally, including methods such as regularization or dropout into the model's architecture can also help combat overfitting in the case of deep learning models.

- An important thing to discuss is the purpose of the **testing** and **validation** sets. Testing sets are reserved for evaluating a model's performance on data it's never seen before.
- Validation sets are reserved for helping select models, select model architecture, tune hyperparameters, or simply to give an indication of model performance on data it's never seen during the training process.
- An example of validation is k-fold cross-validation, where it generates k random partitions of test-train data from validation data and can be used to train/ evaluate the model on all of them to give an idea of the best performance it can attain with various hyperparameter settings. Of course, we can also use k-fold cross validation to perform the other functions that validation helps with. You looked at an example using this method of validation in Chapter 2, when you used it to help tune the weighting of anomalies.
- Coupling this technique with a script that has a set of hyperparameters can result in an optimal model with proper hyperparameters. From there, the model can be retrained and evaluated again on the test set to get a final performance benchmark.
- The specific order this is done in can differ, though. For example, trained models can also be evaluated first and then validated, compared to the other way around. This is because the training process is likely to be repeated with altered hyperparameters anyway after the evaluation stage reflects some form of performance

discrepancy or if validation data during the training process reveals that possible overfitting is occurring. Either way, it really depends, but good practice is to at least incorporate both testing and validation data to best tune the model.

- Validate and tune the model: As previously discussed, the validation set can be another "testing" set that the model has never seen before, and can be used in any of the several ways described earlier and in Chapter 1. Once your model has reached an acceptable level of performance on the validation set and is retrained and evaluated again, you can look at deploying the model.
- Deploy and monitor the model: In this step, the model has finally left the hands of the machine learning/data science team. It is now the job of engineering and operational teams to integrate this model into the application and put it into service. Operational teams are in charge of constantly monitoring the performance of the model, with dips in performance possibly indicating that this entire process may need to be repeated to update the model to understand new trends. Operational teams are also responsible for reporting any bugs and unexpected model predictions to the data science team, feedback that also contributes to the start of this whole cycle as the model needs to be fixed.

Hopefully, it's clear just how work-intensive the entire process can get, especially since it will most likely need to be repeated multiple times. While it is possibly easier the second time around since you're only updating the model on new data patterns and trends, it is still a problem that can take up hours of manual labor that can be better spent elsewhere. After all, maintenance of applications in the software development process is usually where most of the money and resources go, not the initial construction and release of the application. The same can apply to machine learning models, worsening the overall maintenance costs because the costs for deployed machine learning models are added on top of the costs for the software application utilizing the services of the models.

Imagine if you could simply automate this entire process away, allowing you to take full advantage of high-performance machine learning models without all of that hassle. This is where MLOps comes in, something that can be thought of as the intersection between machine learning and DevOps practices. **DevOps**, or developmental operations, refers to a set of practices that combines the work processes of software developers with those of operational teams to create a common set of practices that functions as a hybrid of the two roles. As a result, the developmental cycle of software is expedited, and continuous delivery of software products is ensured. Total costs also go down because maintenance costs are reduced as a result of the increase in efficiency of the workflow in maintaining the software applications. Refer to Figure 3-1 to see a graph representing the DevOps workflow.





Similarly, MLOps adopts DevOps principles and applies them to machine learning models in place of software, uniting the developmental cycles followed by data scientists and machine learning engineers with that of operational teams to help ensure continuous delivery of high-performance machine learning models. The process of model development in what's called the **experimental stage**, something we will look at in detail later in the chapter, can lead to impressive performances and can seem like very promising solutions. However, the reality is more that most models simply never make it past this experimental stage, since deploying them is a massive undertaking on its own. Unfortunately, maintaining models once deployed also drains resources, as every new update requires reintegration into the application. This means that even if the model is deployed, all teams have their work cut out for them. For these reasons, most models simply never make it past the prototype phase.

Until the emergence of MLOps principles, deploying solutions created using the latest in machine learning technology served as a significant challenge to businesses due to the amount of resources that would be required. **This is why MLOps is so crucial**. It makes it significantly easier to deploy and maintain your machine learning solutions by automating most of the hard parts for you, massively expediting the development and maintenance processes. With a fully automated setup, teams can keep up with the latest in machine learning technology and deploy new models quickly. Services can maintain their high level of performance and perhaps even improve on this front as teams can deploy newer, more promising model architectures.

Now that you have a better idea of what MLOps is about and why it is so important, let's jump into the details and look at how an ideal MLOps implementation is set up.

MLOps Setups

Before we look at any specific MLOps setups, let's first establish three different setups representing the various stages of automation: **manual implementation**, **continuous model delivery**, and **continuous integration/continuous delivery of pipelines**.

Manual implementation refers to a setup where there are no MLOps principles applied and everything is manually implemented. The steps discussed above in the creation of a machine learning model are all manually performed. Software engineering teams must manually integrate the models into the application, and operational teams must help ensure all functionality is preserved along with collecting data and performance metrics of the model.

Continuous model delivery is a good middle ground between a manual setup and a fully automated one. Here, we see the emergence of **pipelines** to allow for automation of the machine learning side of the process. Note that we will mention this term quite often in the sections below. If you'd like to get a better idea about what a pipeline is, refer to the section titled "Pipelines and Automation" further down in this chapter. For now, a **pipeline** is an infrastructure that contains a sequence of components manipulating information as it passes through the pipeline. The function of the pipeline can slightly differ within the setups, so be sure to refer to the graphs and explanations to get a better idea of how the pipeline in the example functions.

The main feature of this type of setup is that the deployed model has pipelines established to continuously train it on new data, even after deployment. Automation of the experimental stage, or the model development stage, also emerges along with modularization of code to allow for further automation in the subsequent steps. In this setup, **continuous delivery** refers to expedited development and deployment of new machine learning models. With the barriers to rapid deployment lifted (the tediousness of manual work in the experimental stage) by automation, models can now be created or updated at a much faster pace.

Continuous integration/continuous delivery of pipelines refers to a setup where pipelines in the experimental stage are thoroughly tested in an automated process to make sure all components work as intended. From there, pipelines are packaged and deployed, where deployment teams deploy the pipeline to a test environment, handle additional testing to ensure both compatibility and functionality, and then deploy it to the production environment. In this setup, pipelines can now be created and deployed at a quick pace, allowing for teams to continuously create new pipelines built around the latest in machine learning architectures without any of the resource barriers associated with manual testing and integration.

Manual Implementation

Now that we've established three variations of setups, let's look at the first of the three deployment setups of machine learning models, which has no MLOps principles integrated.

In this case, there is a team of data scientists and machine learning engineers, who will now be referred to as the "model development team," manually performing data analysis and building, training, testing, and validating their models. Once their model has been finalized, they must create a model class and push this to a code repository. Software engineers extract this model class and integrate it into an existing application or system, and operational teams are in charge of monitoring the application, maintaining functionality, and providing feedback to both the software and model development teams.

Everything here is manual, meaning any new trends in the data lead to the model development team having to update the model and repeat the entire process again. This is quite likely to happen considering the high volume of users interacting with your model every day. Combined with performance metrics and user data collection, the information will reveal a lot of aspects about your model as well as the user base the model is servicing. Chances are high that you will have to update it to maintain its performance on the new data. This is something to keep in mind as you follow through with the process on the graph.

Refer to Figure 3-2 for a graphical representation of the setup.



Figure 3-2. Graph depicting a possible deployment setup of a machine learning model without MLOps principles. The arrows with a dotted border mean that progression to the next step depends upon a condition in the current step. For example, in the model validation step, machine learning engineers must ensure that the model meets a minimum benchmark in performance before pushing a model class to the repository

Let's go through this step by step. We can split the flow into roughly two parts: the **experimental stage**, which involves the machine learning side of the entire workflow, and the **deployment stage**, which handles integration of the model into the application and maintaining operations.

Experimental Stage:

- 1. **Data store:** The data store refers to wherever data relevant to data analysis and model development is stored. An example of a data store could be using Hadoop to store large volumes of data, which can be used by multiple model development teams. In this example, data scientists can pull raw data from this data store to start performing experiments and conducting data analysis.
- 2. **Process raw data:** As previously mentioned, raw data must be processed in order to collect the relevant information. From there, it must also be purged of faults and corrupted data. When a company collects massive volumes of data every day, some of it is bound to be corrupted or faulty in some way eventually, and it's important to get rid of these points because they can harm the data analysis and model development processes. For example, one null value entry can completely destroy the training process of a neural network used for a regression (value prediction) task.
- 3. **Data analysis:** This step involves analyzing all aspects of the data. The general gist of it was discussed earlier, but in the context of updating the model, data scientists want to see if there are any new trends or variety in data that they think the model should be updated on. Since the initial training process can be thought of as a small representation of the real-world setting, there is a fair chance that the model will need to be updated

soon after the initial deployment. This does depend on how many characteristics of the true user base the original training set captured however, but user bases change over time, and so must the models. By "user base," we refer to the actual customers using the prediction services of the model.

- 4. **Model building stage:** This stage is more or less the same as what we discussed earlier. The second time around, when updating the model, it could turn out that slight adjustments to the model layers may be needed. In some of the worst cases, the current model architecture being used cannot achieve a high enough performance even with new data or architectural tweaks. An entirely new model may have to be built, trained, and validated. If there are no such issues, then the model would just be further trained, tested, validated, and pushed to the code repository upon meeting some performance criteria.
 - An important thing to note about this experimental stage is that it is quite popular for experiments to be conducted using Jupyter notebook. When model development teams reach a target level of performance, they must work on building a workable model that can be called by other code. For example, this can be done by creating a model class with various functions that provide functionality such as load_weights, predict, and perhaps even evaluate to allow for easier gathering of performance metrics. Since the true label can't be known in real-time settings, evaluation metrics can simply be something like a root-mean-squared error.

Deployment Stage:

- 5. **Model deployment:** In this case, this step is where software engineers must manually integrate the model into the system/application they are developing. Whenever the model development team finishes with their experiments, builds a workable model, and pushes it to the code repository, the engineering team must manually integrate it again. Although the process may not be that bad the second time around, there is still the issue of fixing any potential bugs that may arise from the new model. Additionally, engineering teams must also handle testing of not only the model once it is integrated into the application, but also of the rest of the application.
- 6. **Model services:** This step is where the model is finally deployed and is interacting with the user base in real time. This is also where the operational team steps in to help maintain the functionality of the software. For example, if there are any issues with some aspect of the model functionality, the operational team must record the bug and forward it to the model development team.
- 7. **Data collection:** The operational team can also collect raw data and performance metrics. This data is crucial for the company to operate since that is how it makes its decisions. For example, the company might want to know what service is most popular with the user base, or how well the machine learning models are performing so far. This job can

be performed by the application as well, storing all the relevant data in some specific data store related to the application.

8. **Data forwarded to data store:** This step is where the operational team sends the data to the data store. Because there could be massive volumes of data collected, it's fair to assume some degree of automation on behalf of the operational team on this end. Additionally, the application itself could also be in charge of forwarding data it collects to the relevant data store.

Reflection on the Setup

Right away, you can notice some problems that may arise from such an implementation. The first thing to realize is that the entire experimental stage is manual, meaning data scientists and machine learning engineers must repeat those steps every time. When models are constantly exposed to new data that is more than likely not captured in the original training set, models must frequently be retrained so that they are always up to date with current trends in user data. Unfortunately, when the entire process of analyzing new trends, training, testing, and validating data is manual, this may require significant resources over time, which may become unfeasible for a company without the resources to spare. Additionally, trends in data can change over time. For example, perhaps the age group with the largest number of users logging into the site is comprised of people in their early twenties. A year later, perhaps the dominant age group is now teenagers. What was normal back then isn't normal now, and this could lead to losses in ad revenues, for example, if that's the service (targeted advertising) the model in this case provides.

Another issue is that tools such as Jupyter notebook are very popular for prototyping and experimenting machine learning and deep learning models. Even if the experiments aren't carried out on notebooks, it's likely that work must be done in order to push the model to the source repo. For example, constructing a model class with some important functions such as load weights, predict, and evaluate would be ideal for a model class. Some external code may call upon load weights() to set the model weights from different training instances (so if the model has been further trained and updated, simply call this function to get the new model). The function predict() would then be called to make predictions based on some input data and provide the services the application requires, and the function evaluate() would be useful in keeping performance metrics. Live data will almost never have truth labels on it (unless the user provides instant feedback, like Google's captchas where you select the correct images), so a score metric like a root-mean-squared error can be useful when keeping track of performance.

Once the model class is completed and pushed, software engineering teams must integrate the model class into the overall application/system. This could prove difficult the first time around, but once the integration has been completed, updates to the model can be as simple as loading new weights. Unfortunately, model architectures are likely to change, so the software teams must reintegrate new model classes into the application.

Furthermore, deep learning is a complicated and rapidly evolving field. Models that were cutting-edge several years ago can be far surpassed by the current state-of-the-art models, so it's important to keep updating your model architectures and to make full use of the new developments in the field. This means teams must continuously repeat the model-building process in order to keep up with developments in the field.

Hopefully it is more clear that this implementation is quite flawed in how much work is required to not only create and deploy the model in the first place, but also to continuously maintain it and keep it up to par. Alright, so how would we go about improving it? Where does this MLOps come into play? To answer these questions, let's look at the second setup of the three defined earlier.

Continuous Model Delivery

This setup contains **pipelines** for automatic training of the deployed model as well as for speeding up the experimental process. Refer to Figure 3-3 for a graphical representation of this setup.



Figure 3-3. Graph depicting a possible deployment setup of a machine learning model with automation via pipelines

This is a lot to take in at once, so let's break it down and follow it according to the numbers on the graph.

1. **Feature store:** This is a data storage bin that takes the place of the data store in the previous example. The reason for this is that all data can now be standardized to a common definition that all

processes can use in this instance. For example, the processes in the experimental stage will be using the same input data as the deployed training pipeline because all of the data is held to the same definition. What is meant by **common definition** is that raw data is cleansed and processed in a procedural way that applies to all relevant raw data. These processed features are then held in the feature store for pipelines to draw from, and it is ensured that every pipeline uses features processed according to this standard. This way, any perceived differences in trends between two different pipelines won't be attributed to deviances in processing procedures.

Presume for an instance that you are trying to provide an object detection service that detects and identifies various animals in a national park. All video feed from the trail cameras (a video can be thought of as a sequence of frames) can be stored as raw data, but it can be possible that different trail cameras have different resolutions. Instead of repeating the same data processing procedure, you can simply apply the same procedure (normalizing, scaling, and batching the frames, for example) to the raw videos and store the features that you know all pipelines will use.

2. **Data analysis:** In this step, data analysis is still performed to give data scientists and machine learning engineers an idea of what the data looks like, how it's distributed, and so on, just like in the manual setup. Similarly, this step can determine whether or not to proceed with construction of a new model or just update the current model.

Automated model building and analysis: In this 3. step, data scientists and machine learning engineers can select a model, set any specific hyperparameters, and let the pipeline automate the entire process. The pipeline will automatically process the data according to the specifications of this model (take the case where the features are 331x331x3 images but this particular model only accepts images that are 224x224x3), build the model, train it, evaluate it, and validate it. During validation, the pipeline may automatically tune the hyperparameters as well optimize performance. It is possible that manual intervention may be required in some cases (debugging, for example, when the model is particularly large and complex, or if the model has a novel architecture), but automation should otherwise take care of producing an optimal model. Once this occurs, modularized code is automatically created so that this pipeline can be easily deployed.

Everything in this stage is set up so that the experimental stage goes very smoothly, requiring only that the model is built. Depending on the level of automation implemented, perhaps all that is required is that the model architecture is selected with some hyperparameters specified, and the automation takes care of the rest. Either way, the development process in the experimental stage is sped up massively. With this stage going faster, more experiments can be performed too, leading to possible boosts in overall efficiency as productivity is increased and optimal solutions can be found quicker.
4. **Modularized code:** The experimental stage is set up so that the pipeline and its components are modularized. In this specific context, the data scientist/machine learning engineer defines and builds some model, and the data is standardized to some definition. Basically, the pipeline should be able to accept any constructed model and perform the corresponding steps given some data without hardcoding anything. (Meaning there isn't any code that will only work for a specific model and specific data. The code works with generalized cases of models and data.)

This is **modularization**, when the whole system is divided into individual components that each have their own function, and these components can be switched out depending on variable inputs. Thanks to the modularized code, when the pipeline is deployed, it will be able to accept any new feature data as needed in order to update the deployed model. Furthermore, this structure also lets it swap out models as needed, so there's no need to construct the entire pipeline for every new model architecture.

Think of it this way: the pipeline is a puzzle piece, and the models along with their feature data are various puzzle pieces that can all fit within the pipeline. They all have their own "image" on the piece and the other sides can have variable shapes, but what is important is that they fit with the pipeline and can easily be swapped out for others.

Deploy pipeline: In this step, the pipeline is 5. manually deployed and is retrieved from the source code. Thanks to its modularization, the pipeline setup is able to operate independently and automatically train the deployed model on any new data if needed, and the application is built around the code structure of the pipeline so all components will work with each other correspondingly. The engineering team has to build parts of the application around the pipeline and its modularized components the first time around, but after that, the pipelines should work seamlessly with the applications so as long as the structure remains the same. Models are simply swapped, unlike before when the model had to be manually integrated into the application. This time, the pipeline must be integrated into the application, and the models are simply swapped out.

However, it is important to mention that pipeline structures can change depending on the model. The main takeaway here is that pipelines should be able to handle many more models before having to be restructured compared to the setup before where "swapping" models meant you only loaded updated weights. Now, if several architectures all have common training, testing, and validation code, they can all be used under the same pipeline.

6. Automated training pipeline: This pipeline contains the model that provides its services and is set up to automatically fetch new features upon activation of the trigger. The conditions for trigger

activation will be discussed in item 10. When the pipeline finishes updating a trained model, the model is saved to a model registry, a type of storage unit that holds trained models for ease of access.

7. **Model registry:** This is a storage unit that specifically holds model classes and/or weights. The purpose of this unit is to hold trained models for easy retrieval by an application, for example, and it is a good component to add to an automation setup. Without the model registry, the model classes and weights would just be saved to whatever source code repository is established, but this way, we make the process simpler by providing a centralized area of storage for these models. It also serves to bridge the gap between model development teams, software development teams, and operational teams since it is accessible by everyone, which is ultimately what we want in an ideal automation setup.

This registry along with the automated training pipeline assures **continuous delivery of model services** since models can frequently be updated, pushed to this registry, and deployed without having to go through the entire experimental stage.

8. **Model services:** Here the application pulls the latest, best performing model from the model registry and makes use of its prediction services. This action then goes on to provide the desired functionality in the application.

- 9. **Performance and user data collection:** New data is collected as usual along with performance metrics related to the model. This data goes to the feature store, where the new data is processed and standardized so that it can be used in both the experimental stage and the deployment stage and there are no discrepancies between the data used by either stage. Performance data is stored so that data scientists can tell how the model is performing once deployed. Based on that data, important decisions such as whether or not to build a new model with a new architecture can be made.
- 10. **Training pipeline trigger:** This trigger, upon activation, initiates the automated training pipeline for the deployed model and allows for feature retrieval by the pipeline from the feature store. The trigger can have any of the following conditions, although it is not limited to them:
 - **Manual trigger:** Perhaps the model is to be trained only if the process is manually initiated. For example, data science teams can choose to start this process after reviewing performance and data and concluding that the deployed model needs to train on fresh batches of data.
 - Scheduled training: Perhaps the model is set to train on a specific schedule. This can be a certain time on the weekend, every night during hours of lowest traffic, every month, and so on.

- **Performance issues:** Perhaps performance data indicates that the model's performance has dipped below a certain benchmark. This can automatically activate the training process to attempt to get the performance back up to par. If this is not possible or is taking too many resources, data scientists and machine learning engineers can choose to build and deploy a new model.
- Changes in data patterns: Perhaps changes in the trends of the data have been noticed while creating the features in the feature store. Of course, the feature store isn't the only possible place that can analyze data and identify any new trends or changes in the data. There can be a separate process/program dedicated to this task, which can decide whether or not to activate the trigger.

This would also be a good condition to begin the training process, since the new trends in the data are likely to lead to performance degradation. Instead of waiting for the performance hit to activate the trigger, the model can begin training on new data immediately upon sufficient detection of such changes in the data, allowing for the company to minimize any potential losses from such a scenario.

Reflection on the Setup

This implementation fixes many of the issues from the previous setup. Thanks to the integration of pipelines in the experimental stage, the previous problem of having the entire stage be composed of manual processes is no longer a concern. The pipeline automates the whole process of training, evaluating, and validating a model. The model development team now only needs to build the model and reuse any common training, evaluation, and validation procedures that are still applicable to this model. At the end of the model development pipeline, relevant model metrics are collected and displayed to the operator. These metrics can help the model development team to prototype quickly and arrive at optimal solutions even faster than they would have without the automation since they can run multiple pipelines on different models and compare all of them at once.

Automated model creation pipelines in the experimental stage allow for teams to respond faster to any significant changes in the data or any issues with the deployed model that need to be resolved. Unlike before, where the only model swapping was the result of loading updated weights for the same model, these pipelines are structured to allow for various models with different architectures as long as they all use the same training, evaluation, and validation procedures. Thanks to the modularized code, the pipeline can simply swap out model classes and their respective weights once deployed. The modularization allows for easier deployment of the pipeline and lets models be swapped out easily to allow for further training of any model during deployment. Should a model require special attention from the model development team, it can simply be trained further by the team and swapped back in once it is ready. Now teams can respond much more quickly by being able to swap models in and out in such a manner.

The pipelines also make it much easier for software engineering teams and operational teams to deploy the pipelines and models. Because everything is modularized, teams do not have to work on integrating new model classes into the application every time. Everyone benefits, and model development teams do not have to be as hesitant about implementing new architectures so as long as the new model still uses the same training, evaluation, and validation code as in the existing pipeline.

While this setup solves most of the issues that plagued the original setup, there are still some important problems that remain. Firstly, there are no mechanisms in place to test and debug the pipelines, so this must all be done manually before it is pushed to a source repository. This can become a problem when you're trying to push many iterations of pipelines, such as when you're building different models with architectures that differ in how they must be trained, tested, and validated. Perhaps the latest models are showing a vast improvement over the old state-of-the art, and your team wants to implement these new solutions as soon as possible. In situations like this, teams will frequently need to debug and test pipelines before pushing them to source code for deployment. In this case, there is still some automation left to be done to avoid manual work.

Pipelines are also manually deployed, so if the structure in the code changes, the engineering teams must rebuild parts of the application to work with the new pipeline and its modularized code. Modularization works smoothly when all components know what to expect from each other, but if the code of one of the components changes so that it isn't compatible anymore, either the application must be rebuilt to accommodate the new changes or the component must be rewritten to work with the original pipeline. Unfortunately, new model architectures may require that part of the pipeline itself be rewritten, so it is likely that the application itself must be worked on to accommodate the new pipeline.

Hopefully you begin to see the vast improvements that automation has made in this setup, but also the issues that remain to be solved. The automation has solved the issue of building and creating new models, but the problem of building and creating new pipelines still remains.

To find an answer to that problem, let's take a look at the last of the three setups defined earlier.

Continuous Integration/Continuous Delivery of Pipelines

In this setup, we will be introducing a system to thoroughly test pipeline components before they are packaged and ready to deploy. This will ensure **continuous integration of pipeline code** along with **continuous delivery of pipelines**, crucial elements of the automation process that the previous setup was missing. Refer to Figure 3-4 for a graphical representation of such a setup.



Figure 3-4. Graph depicting added testing systems and a package store to the automation setup in Figure 3-2

Though this is mostly the same setup, we will go through it again step by step with an emphasis on the newly introduced elements.

1. **Feature store:** The feature store contains standardized data processed into features. Features can be pulled by data scientists for offline data analysis. Upon activation of the trigger, features can also be sent to the automated training pipeline to further train the deployed model.

- 2. **Data analysis:** This step is performed by data scientists on features pulled from the feature store. The results from the analysis can determine whether or not to build a new model or adjust the architecture of an existing model and retrain it from there.
- 3. Automated model building and analysis: This step is performed by the model development team. Models can be built by the team and passed into the pipeline, assuming that they are compatible with the training, testing, and validation code, and the entire process is automatically conducted with a model analysis report generated at the end. In the case where the team wants to implement some of the latest machine learning architectures, models will have to be created from scratch with integration into pipelines in mind to maintain modularity. Parts of the pipeline code may have to change as well, which is acceptable because the new components of this setup can handle this automatically.
- 4. **Modularized code:** Once the model reaches a minimum level of performance in the validation step, the pipeline, its components, and the model are all ready to be modularized and stored in a source repository.
- 5. **Source repository:** The source repository holds all of the packaged pipeline and model code for different pipelines and different models. Teams can create multiples at once for different purposes and store them all here. In the old setup, pipelines and models would be pulled from here and manually

integrated and deployed by software engineering teams. In this setup, the modularized code must now be tested to make sure all of the components will work correctly.

6. **Testing:** This step is crucial in achieving **continuous integration**, or a result of automation where new components and elements are continuously designed, built, and deployed in the new environment.

Pipelines and their components, including the model, must be thoroughly tested to ensure that all outputs are correct. Furthermore, the pipelines themselves must be tested so that they are guaranteed to work with the application and how it is designed. There shouldn't be bugs in the pipeline, for example, that would break its compatibility with the application. The application is programmed to expect a specific behavior from the pipeline, and the pipeline must behave correspondingly.

If you are familiar with software development, the testing of pipeline components and the models is similar to the automated testing that developers write to check various parts of an application's functionality. A simple example is automated testing to ensure data of various types are successfully received by the server and are added to the correct databases.

With pipelines and machine learning models, some examples of testing include:

- Does the validation testing procedure lead to correct tuning of the hyperparameters?
- Does each pipeline component work correctly? Does it output the expected element? For example, after model evaluation, does it correctly begin the validation step? (Alternatively, if model evaluation goes after model validation, does the evaluation step correctly initiate?)
- Is the data processing performed correctly? Are there any issues with the data post-processing that would lead to poor model performance? Avoiding this outcome is for the best since it would waste resources having to fix the data processing component. If the business relies on rapid pipeline deployment, then avoiding this type of scenario is even more crucial.
- Does the data processing component correctly perform data scaling? Does it correctly perform feature engineering? Does it correctly transform images?
- Does the model analysis work correctly? You
 want to make sure that you're basing decisions
 on accurate data. If the model truly performs well
 but faults in the model analysis component of the
 pipeline lead the data scientist/machine learning
 engineer to believe the model isn't performing that
 well, then it could lead to issues where pipeline
 deployment is slowed down. Likewise, you don't

want the model analysis to be displaying the wrong information, even if it mistakenly displays precision for accuracy.

The more thorough the automated testing, the better the guarantee that the pipeline will operate within the application without issues. (This doesn't necessarily include model performance as that has to do more with the model architecture, how the model is developed, and what it is capable of.)

Once the pipeline passes all the tests, it is then automatically packaged and sent to a package store. Continuous integration of pipelines is now achieved since teams can build modularized and tested pipelines much more quickly and have them ready for deployment.

7. **Package store:** The package store is a containment unit that holds various packaged pipelines. It is optional but included in this setup so that there is a centralized area where all teams can access packaged pipelines that are ready for deployment. Model development teams push to this package store, and software engineers and operational teams can retrieve a packaged pipeline and deploy it. In this way, it is similar to the model registry in that both help achieve **continuous delivery**. The package store helps achieve continuous delivery of pipelines just as the model registry helps achieve continuous delivery of models and model services.

Thanks to automated testing providing continuous integration of pipelines and continuous delivery of

pipelines via the package store, pipelines can also be deployed rapidly by operational teams and software engineers. With this, businesses can easily keep up with the latest trends and advances in machine learning architectures, allowing for better and better performance and more involved services.

8. **Deploy pipeline:** Pipelines can be retrieved from the package store and deployed in this step. Software engineering and operational teams must ensure that the pipeline will integrate without incident into the application. Because of that, there can be more testing on the part of software engineering teams to ensure proper integration of the pipeline. For example, one test can be to ensure the dependencies of the pipeline are considered in the application (if, for example, TensorFlow has updated and contains new functionality the pipeline now uses, the application should update its version of TensorFlow as well).

Teams usually want to deploy the pipelines into a test environment where it will be subjected to further automated testing to ensure full compatibility with the application. This can be done automatically, where the pipelines go from the package store into the test environment, or manually, where teams decide to deploy the pipeline into the test environment. After the pipeline passes all the tests, teams can choose to manually deploy the pipeline into the production environment or have it automatically done. Either way, pipeline creation and deployment is a much faster process now especially since teams do not have to manually test the pipelines and they do not have to build or modify the application to work with the pipeline every time.

- 9. Automated training pipeline: The automated training pipeline, once deployed, exists to further train models upon activation of the trigger. This helps keep models as up to date as possible on new trends in data and maintain high performance for longer. Upon validation of the model, models are sent to the model registry where they are held until they are needed for services.
- 10. Model registry: The model registry holds trained models until they are needed for their services. Once again, continuous delivery of model services is achieved as the automated training pipeline continuously provides the model registry with highperformance machine learning models to be used to perform various services.
- 11. **Model services:** The best models are pulled from the model registry to perform various services for the application.
- 12. **Performance and user data collection:** Model performance data and user data is collected to be sent to model development teams and the feature store, respectively. Teams can use the model performance metrics along with the results from the data analysis to help decide their next course of action.

13. **Training pipeline trigger:** This step involves some condition being met (refer to the previous setup, *continuous model delivery*) to initiate the training process of the deployed pipeline and feed it with new feature data pulled from the feature store.

Reflection on the Setup

The main issue of the previous setup that this one fixes is that of pipeline deployment. Previously, pipelines had to be manually tested by machine learning teams and operational teams to ensure that the pipeline and its components worked, and that the pipeline and its components were compatible with the application. However, in this setup, testing is automated, allowing for teams to much more easily build and deploy pipelines than before. The biggest advantage to this is that businesses can now keep up with significant changes in the data requiring the creation of new models and new pipelines, and can also capitalize on the latest machine learning trends and architectures all thanks to rapid pipeline creation and deployment combined with continuous delivery of model services from the previous setup.

The important thing to understand from all these examples is that automation is the way to go. Machine learning technology has progressed incredibly far within the last decade alone, but finally, the infrastructure to allow you to capitalize on these advancements is catching up.

Hopefully, after seeing the three possible MLOps setups, you understand more about MLOps and how implementations of MLOps principles might look. You might have noticed that pipelines have been mentioned quite often throughout the descriptions of the setups, and you might be wondering, "What are pipelines, and why are they so crucial for automation?"

To answer that question, let's take a look at what a "pipeline" really is.

Pipelines and Automation

Pipelines are an important part of automation setups employing DevOps principles. One way to think about a **pipeline** is that it is a specific, often sequential procedure that dictates the flow of information as it passes through the pipeline. To see an example of a testing pipeline in a software development setting, refer to Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5. A testing pipeline in a software development setting. The pipeline for testing packaged model pipelines in the optimal setup above is similar in that individual components must be tested, components must be tested in groups, and in the case where pipelines are deployed to a test environment first where further tests are performed before they are deployed to the production environment

In the MLOps setups above, you've seen pipelines for automating the process of training a deployed model and for building, testing, and packing pipelines as well as for testing integration of packaged pipelines before deploying them to the production environment.

So, what does all that really mean? To get a better idea of what exactly goes on in a pipeline, let's follow the flow of data through a pipeline in the experimental stage. Even if you understand how pipelines work, it may be worth following the example anyway as we now look at this pipeline through the context of using MLOps APIs.

Journey Through a Pipeline

We will be looking at the model development pipeline in the experimental stage. Before we begin, it is important to mention that we will be referencing API calls in this pipeline. This is because some APIs can be called while executing scripts or even Jupyter cells at key points in the model's development, giving MLOps monitoring software information on model training, model evaluation, and model validation. At the end of the pipeline, the MLOps software would also ready the model for deployment via functionality provided by the API.

You will read more about this API in the next chapter, Chapter 4, but for now, you may assume that the API will take care of automation as you follow along through the example.

Model Selection

As seen in Figure 3-4, the experimental pipeline begins with the selection of a model. This is up to the operator, who must now choose and build a model. Some APIs allow you to call their functionality while building the model to connect with MLOps software as the rest of the process goes on. This software then keeps track of all relevant metrics related to the model's development along with the model itself in order to initiate the deployment process.

In this case, the operator has chosen to use a logistic regression. Refer to Figure 3-6.



Figure 3-6. A graphical representation of a pipeline where the operator has selected a logistic regression model. The rest of the steps have been hidden for now and will appear as we gradually move through the pipeline

Data Preprocessing

With the model now selected and built, and with feature data supplied by the feature store, the process can now move forward to the next stage in the pipeline: data preprocessing. Refer to Figure 3-7.



Figure 3-7. The operator has chosen to normalize and resize the image data. The process creates a training set, a testing set, and a validation set

The data preprocessing can be done manually or automatically. In this case, the data preprocessing only involves normalization and resizing of image feature data, so the operator can implement this manually. Depending on the level of automation, the operator can also call some function that takes in data and automatically processes it depending on the type of data and any other parameters provided.

Either way, the end of the processing stage will result in the data being broken up into subsets. In this example, the operator chose to create a training set, a testing set, and a validation set. Now, the operator can begin the training process.

Training Process

Depending on the framework being used, the operator can further split up the training data into a training set and a data validation set and use both in the training process. The data validation set exists totally separate from the training set (although it is derived from it) since the model never sees it during training. Its purpose is to periodically evaluate the model's performance on a data set that it has never seen before. Refer to Figure 3-8.



Figure 3-8. The model training process begins

In the context of deep learning, for example, the model can evaluate on the validation set at the end of each epoch, generating some metric data for the operator to see. Based on this, the operator can judge how the model is doing and whether or not it could be overfitting and adjust hyperparameters or model structure if needed.

The API can also be told what script to run in order to initiate this entire pipeline process. The script can contain the training, evaluation, and validation code all at once so the API can run this entire pipeline when needed.

Once the training process is done, the process moves to the evaluation stage.

Model Evaluation

In the evaluation stage, the model's performance is measured on a test data set that it has never seen. This performance will indicate to the operator whether or not the model is overfitting, especially if it performed extremely well in training but has trouble replicating those results in this stage. That is part of why the training data can be split to include some validation data, as it can be an early indicator of overfitting. This can be crucial especially if the model takes a significant amount of time to run. You would rather know earlier, partway through training, if the model is overfitting, rather than after it ran all night and is evaluated the next morning. Refer to Figure 3-9.

Operator



Figure 3-9. Training results are stored in a common area (for example, the API could be called to monitor these results) for the metrics of the current model. Model evaluation begins on the trained model using the testing set

Another thing to note again is that the validation stage could come before the evaluation stage, but in this case, the trained model will be evaluated first on a test data set before the validation stage begins. This is just to get a sense of how the model does on the testing set before hyperparameter tuning begins. Of course, hyperparameter tuning via the validation step could be performed first before the final model evaluation, but in some frameworks, model evaluation would come first. An example of this is a validation process like scikit-learn's cross-validation. Of course, you can evaluate the tuned model on the test set once again to get a final performance evaluation.

Once the evaluation finishes, metrics are stored by the API or by some other mechanism that the team has implemented, and the process moves on to the validation stage.

Model Validation

In this stage, the model begins the validation process, which attempts to seek the best hyperparameters. You could combine the use of a script to iterate through various configurations of hyperparameter values and utilize k-fold cross-validation, for example, to help decide the best hyperparameters. Refer to Figure 3-10.

Operator



Figure 3-10. Evaluation metrics are stored along with the training metrics by the API, and the validation process begins

In any case, the point of a validation set is to help tune the model's hyperparameters. The team could even automate this process entirely if they tend to train a lot of models of the same few types, saving time and resources in the long run by automating the validation and hyperparameter tuning process for that set of models.

Finally, once the model achieves a good level of performance and finishes the validation stage, the validation results are stored, and all relevant data is displayed as a summary to the operator. Again, depending on the level of automation, perhaps the model is retrained and evaluated on the best hyperparameter setup discovered in the validation stage. The API simply needs to be told what metrics to track and it will automatically do so.

Model Summary

At this point, the operator can compare the outcome of this experiment with that of other models, using the metrics as baselines for comparison. The API can track the relevant metrics for different model runs and can compare them all at the same time. Should the operator decide to move forward with this particular model, the API and the MLOps software can allow for deployment on a simple click of a button. Usually, the deployment is to a staging environment first, where the functionality can be tested further before moving directly into the production environment. Everything is configurable, and the API can adapt to the needs of the business and its workflow. If the developers want to deploy straight to production, sure, though that could potentially be unwise considering the case of failure. Refer to Figure 3-11.



Figure 3-11. Validation is complete, and all metrics are displayed to the operator

After the model passes the tests in the staging environment, it can then be deployed to the production environment, where it can be further monitored by the software.

Hopefully now you have a better understanding of what a pipeline really is. The pipelines for models and pipeline integration testing are similar, except they are assisted by MLOps software and APIs such as Databricks and MLFlow, for example. Let's now look at how you can go about using those APIs and software to help you implement MLOps.

How to Implement MLOps

MLOps sounds great. It helps you deploy machine learning models rapidly and helps maintain them once they're deployed. However, the biggest problem now seems to be the question of how to get there. The level of automation described in the setups requires significant work from both the "ML" and "Ops" sides of the workflow to achieve it. It almost seems better in the short run to build and deploy the models manually rather than devote resources to setting up the entire infrastructure, but this is simply unsustainable in the long run.

Also, Jupyter is great for performing experiments, so is there a way to track them as well? This sort of functionality would be extremely useful especially when teams are implementing advanced machine learning architectures from scratch, as it would let them compare the new models across all of the relevant metrics with deployed models or current architectures. Tasks like these are more convenient to do in a notebook and having to convert everything to a proper model file is simply further work.

The takeaway here is that accounting for these factors and more would require significant resources to plan, develop, and test. For smaller-scale businesses, this is an undertaking that's possibly beyond their reach. So, what now? The good news is that are a great assortment of tools available to use now that essentially implement all of the automation for you, such as the API we looked at in the pipeline example earlier. Several examples of such tools that we will explore in later chapters are **MLFlow, Databricks**, **AWS SageMaker, Microsoft Azure, Google Cloud**, and **Datarobots**. With these tools, implementing MLOps principles into your workflow will be significantly easier.

In the case of MLFlow, integrating it into code is extremely simple. You only have to write a couple lines of code to track all of the metrics you need. The functionality of the API we looked at earlier in the pipeline example is all provided by MLFlow. Furthermore, MLFlow also saves the model for you, allowing for model serving functionality where given some data, the model returns its predictions.

MLFlow also integrates into Databricks, AWS SageMaker, Microsoft Azure, and can be deployed to Google Cloud as well, all of which are tools that help manage your MLOps setup and serve as platforms to deploy your models on. While the cloud platforms do provide some MLOps functionality, with the extent of this varying for each platform, the advantage of using MLFlow is that it lets you have the freedom of choice when it comes to one platform to commit to. Furthermore, it gives you a greater degree of freedom, as you can perform all the experiments locally and offline, and you can support models from many different frameworks. MLFlow also provides functionality to help you modularize any custombuilt models or models made from other frameworks not explicitly supported.

And so, to really answer the question of how to implement MLOps, you will get familiar with MLFlow and explore each of those tools. The goal is to take the model we built in Chapter 2 all the way to deployment and beyond.

Summary

MLOps is a set of principles and practices adopted from DevOps and applied to machine learning. You explored three different types of MLOps setups with varying degrees of automation: **manual implementation**, **continuous model delivery**, and **continuous integration/continuous delivery of pipelines**. You identified that the manual implementation was riddled with issues regarding scalability and efficiency and you explored a setup that ensured continuous model delivery. Although this setup fixed many of the issues found in the manual setup, there were still some problems with pipeline integration testing to be solved. The final setup solved this issue too and ensured continuous integration and delivery of pipelines, completing the total automation setup.

You also looked into what a pipeline really is so that you can understand why they are so crucial to the automation setup. Finally, you learned about some tools that can help you implement MLOps into your workspace, avoiding the trouble of implementing all the automation from scratch. In the next chapter, you will look at MLFlow, an excellent API that lets you implement your own MLOps setups and is compatible with many platforms and frameworks.

CHAPTER 4

Introduction to MLFlow

In this chapter, we will cover what MLFlow is, what it does, and how you can implement MLOps setups into your existing projects. More specifically, we will cover how you can integrate MLFlow with scikit-learn, TensorFlow 2.0+/Keras, PyTorch, and PySpark. We will go over experiment creation; metric, parameter, and artifact logging; model logging; and how you can deploy models on a local server and query them for predictions.

Introduction

In the previous chapter, we went over what an optimal MLOps setup looks like. However, the level of automation presented would require an immense amount of resources dedicated to the project. Fortunately, there are APIs that do this for you, such as **MLFlow**. MLFlow is an API that allows you to integrate MLOps principles into your projects with minimal changes made to existing code. With just a couple lines of code here and there, you can track all of the details relevant to the project that you want. Furthermore, you can even save the model for future use in deployment, for example, and you can compare all of the metrics between individual models to help you select the best model.

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

The great thing about MLFlow is that it abstracts everything for you. It packages and modularizes the models for you so that when you deploy the model and want to make predictions, all you need to do is simply pass in the input data in a certain format. All of the modularization that we discussed in the previous chapter with the pipelines is taken care of by MLFlow. MLFlow also allows you to create a wrapper around your model if your model prediction code needs to be different. We will look at this functionality in detail in the next chapter, when you deploy your models to Amazon SageMaker. Even with custom code, MLFlow will modularize it so that it will still work the same way as any other model once it is deployed and ready to make predictions.

In detail, we will go over the following in this chapter:

• **Creating experiments:** Experiments in MLFlow essentially allow you to group your models and any relevant metrics. For example, you can compare models that you've built in TensorFlow and in PyTorch and name this experiment something like pytorch_tensorflow. In the context of anomaly detection, you can create an experiment called model_prototyping and group all of the models that you want to test by running the training pipelines after setting model_prototyping as the experiment name.

As you'll see shortly, grouping model training sessions by experiment can really help organize your workspace because you'll get a clear idea of the context behind trained models.

• **Model and metric logging:** MLFlow allows you to save a model in a modularized form and log all of the metrics related to the **model run**. A model run can be thought of as the model training, testing, and validation

pipeline from the previous chapter. In MLFlow, you can mark the start and the end of each run and decide which metrics you want to save. Additionally, you can save graphs, so you can also view plots like confusion matrices and ROC curves. A **model run** is basically the instance in which MLFlow executes the code that you tell it to, so if you want, you can only train the model and leave it at that.

It is possible for you to train, evaluate, and even validate your model, logging all of the metrics for each respective step in the whole process. MLFlow gives you a lot of flexibility in how you define a model run. You can end the run after simply training it, or you can end the run after training and evaluating it. If you wish, you can even set up an entire validation script to log the entire process for you, allowing you to much more easily compare different hyperparameter setups all at once in MLFlow. We will explore how to perform model validation with MLFlow shortly when we revisit the scikit-learn experiment from Chapter 2.

• **Comparing model metrics:** MLFlow also allows you to compare different models and their metrics all at once. And so, when performing validation to help tune a model's hyperparameters, you can compare all of the selected metrics together in MLFlow using its user interface. In the previous chapter, you printed out everything, making the cell output possibly very large if the script is quite involved in its hyperparameter setups.

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

- **Model Registry:** MLFlow also adds functionality to allow you to implement a model registry, allowing you to define what stage a particular model is in. Databricks integrates quite well with MLFlow, providing builtin model registry functionality. You will explore how to use the MLFlow Model Registry when you look at Databricks in Appendix.
- Local deployment: MLFlow also allows you to deploy on a local server, allowing you to test model inference. Model inference is basically the prediction process of a model. Data is sent to the model in one of several standardized formats, and MLFlow returns the predictions made by the model.

Such a setup can easily be converted to work on a hosted server as well. As you will see in the next several chapters, MLFlow also allows you to deploy your models on popular cloud services such as Amazon SageMaker, Microsoft Azure, Google Cloud, and Databricks. The process at its core remains similar to how you will perform local model serving. The only difference comes with where you host the model and the particular procedure for querying it.

With that being said, let's get started by revisiting the scikit-learn logistic regression model and integrating MLFlow into it.

MLFlow with Scikit-Learn

Before we begin, here are the versions of Python and the packages that were used:

- **Python**: 3.6.5
- **numpy**: 1.18.5
- scikit-learn: 0.22.2.post1
- pandas: 1.1.0
- Matplotlib: 3.2.1
- Seaborn: 0.10.1
- MLFlow: 1.10.0

You don't need the exact versions of the packages we used, but in case some functionality is removed, renamed, or just changed in the newer versions and the code runs into an error, you have the exact version of the module you can try running the code with.

MLFlow in particular is updated quite frequently, so you are more likely to run into issues running code with something like MLFlow compared to a package like numpy.

With that being said, let's dive into the first example. In this case, let's revisit the scikit-learn code from the previous chapter and add MLFlow integration to it.

Data Processing

First, you begin with all of the imports:

```
import numpy as np
import pandas as pd
import matplotlib #
```

```
INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW
CHAPTER 4
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
import seaborn as sns
import sklearn #
from sklearn.linear model import LogisticRegression
from sklearn.model selection import train test split
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
from sklearn.metrics import roc auc score, plot roc curve,
confusion matrix
from sklearn.model selection import KFold
import mlflow
import mlflow.sklearn
print("Numpy: {}".format(np. version ))
print("Pandas: {}".format(pd. version ))
print("matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib. version ))
print("seaborn: {}".format(sns. version ))
print("Scikit-Learn: {}".format(sklearn. version ))
print("MLFlow: {}".format(mlflow. version ))
```

The output should look something like Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1. The output of importing the necessary modules and printing out their versions

Now you can move on to loading the data:

```
data_path = "data/creditcard.csv"
```

```
df = pd.read_csv(data_path)
df = df.drop("Time", axis=1)
```

Refer to Figure 4-2 to see the code in a cell.

Figure 4-2. Loading the data set and dropping the column named Time because it adds very large data values that ultimately don't have much of a correlation with the column Class. Model performance is boosted slightly simply by dropping the extraneous information

Note that you are once again dropping the column Time. You can now check to see if the data loaded in correctly:

df.head()

Refer to Figure 4-3 to see the head()function.

| | | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | V8 | V9 | V10 | | V21 | V22 | V23 | V24 |
|-----------------------|---|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| 0 1 2 3 4 | 0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2.536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | 0.090794 | - | -0.018307 | 0.277838 | -0.110474 | 0.06692 |
| | 1 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.166480 | 0.448154 | 0.060018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0.255425 | -0.166974 | | -0.225775 | -0.638672 | 0.101288 | -0.339846 |
| | 2 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | 0.207643 | | 0.247998 | 0.771679 | 0.909412 | -0.68928 |
| | 3 | -0.966272 | -0.185226 | 1.792993 | -0.863291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | -0.054952 | | -0.108300 | 0.005274 | -0.190321 | -1.17557 |
| | 4 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | 0.753074 | - | -0.009431 | 0.798278 | -0.137458 | 0.14126 |

Figure 4-3. Verifying that the data was loaded correctly by using the head() function. As you can see, the columns and the data have loaded in correctly

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

Again, you are dropping the column Time from the data frame this time. This is because this column was found to add data that isn't very helpful in finding an anomaly and only adds extra complexity to the data.

In the case of deep learning models, your model might eventually learn that the Time data does not correlate very well with the Class labels and may place less importance on nodes processing that data. Eventually, it might even ignore the Time data. However, you can speed up the learning process by cutting out these types of features from your training sets. This is because you're sparing the models the time and resources needed to figure that out.

Moving on, you will split the normal points and the anomalies:

```
normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5,
random_state=2020).reset_index(drop=True)
anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
```

Let's print out their respective shapes:

```
print(f"Normal: {normal.shape}")
print(f"Anomaly: {anomaly.shape}")
```

Refer to Figure 4-4 to see the above two cells in Jupyter along with their outputs.



Figure 4-4. Randomly sampling 50% of all the normal data points in the data frame and picking out all of the anomalies from the data frame as separate data frames. Then, you print the shapes of both data sets. As you can see, the normal points massively outnumber the anomaly points You are going to split the normal and anomaly sets into train-testvalidate subsets. Run the following two code blocks:

```
normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split
(anomaly, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
normal_train, normal_validate = train_test_split(normal_train,
test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_validate = train_test_split
(anomaly_train, test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
```

Refer to Figure 4-5 to see both code blocks in their respective cells.

```
In [7]: 1 normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
2 ansmaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
In [8]: 1 normal_train, normal_validate = train_test_split(normal_train, test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_validate = train_test_split(anomaly_train, test_size = 0.25, random_state = 2020)
```

Figure 4-5. Partitioning the normal and anomaly data frames separately into train, test, and validation splits. Initially, 20% of the normal and anomaly points are used as the test split. From the remaining 80% of data, 25% of that train split is used as the validation split, meaning the validation split is 20% of the original data. This leaves the final training split at 60% of the original data. In the end, the train-test-validate split has a 60-20-20 ratio, respectively

Now, you can process these sets and create the x-y splits:

```
x_train = pd.concat((normal_train, anomaly_train))
x_test = pd.concat((normal_test, anomaly_test))
x_validate = pd.concat((normal_validate, anomaly_validate))
y_train = np.array(x_train["Class"])
y_test = np.array(x_test["Class"])
y validate = np.array(x validate["Class"])
```
```
CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW
```

```
x_train = x_train.drop("Class", axis=1)
x_test = x_test.drop("Class", axis=1)
x_validate = x_validate.drop("Class", axis=1)
```

Refer to Figure 4-6 to see the above code block in a cell.



Figure 4-6. Creating the respective x and y splits of the training, testing, and validation sets by concatenating the respective normal and anomaly sets. You drop Class from the x-sets because it would be cheating otherwise to give it the label directly. You are trying to get the model to learn the labels by reading the x-data, not learn how to read the Class column in the x-data

You can print out the shapes of these sets:

```
print("Training sets:\nx_train: {} \ny_train:
{}".format(x_train.shape, y_train.shape))
print("\nTesting sets:\nx_test: {} \ny_test:
{}".format(x_test.shape, y_test.shape))
print("\nValidation sets:\nx_validate: {} \ny_validate: {}".
format(x_validate.shape, y_validate.shape))
```

Refer to Figure 4-7 to see the output shapes.

```
In [11]: 1 print("Training sets:\nx_train: {) \ny_train: {}".format(x_train.shape, y_train.shape))
2 print("\nTesting sets:\nx_validate: {) \ny_validate: {}".format(x_test.shape, y_test.shape))
3 print("\nValidation sets:\nx_validate: {} \ny_validate: {}".format(x_validate.shape, y_validate.shape))
Training sets:
    x_train: (85588, 29)
    y_train: (85588,)
Testing sets:
    x_test: (28531, 29)
    y_test: (28531,)
Validate: (28531,)
Validate: (28531,)
```

Figure 4-7. Printing out the shapes of the training, testing, and validation sets

Finally, you scale your data using scikit-learn's standard scaler:

```
scaler = StandardScaler()
scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop("Class", axis=1))
x_train = scaler.transform(x_train)
x_test = scaler.transform(x_test)
x_validate = scaler.transform(x_validate)
```

Refer to Figure 4-8.

```
In [12]: 1 scaler = StandardScaler()
2 scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop("Class", axis=1))
3
4 x_train = scaler.transform(x_train)
5 x_test = scaler.transform(x_test)
6 x_validate = scaler.transform(x_validate)
```

Figure 4-8. Fitting the scaler on the superset of normal and anomaly points after dropping Class to scale the x-sets

Training and Evaluating with MLFlow

All that is left now is to train and evaluate your model. We will showcase validation with MLFlow functionality in a bit, but first let's define the train and test functions to organize the code. This is also where you start integrating MLFlow into your code. Here is the train function:

```
def train(sk_model, x_train, y_train):
    sk_model = sk_model.fit(x_train, y_train)
    train_acc = sk_model.score(x_train, y_train)
    mlflow.log_metric("train_acc", train_acc)
    print(f"Train Accuracy: {train_acc:.3%}")
```

Refer to Figure 4-9 to see this code in a cell.



Figure 4-9. Defining the train function to better organize the code. Additionally, you are defining a training accuracy metric that will be logged by MLFlow

You may have noticed the first of the new code with this line:

```
mlflow.log_metric("train_acc", train_acc)
```

You create a new metric here specifically for the training accuracy so that you can keep track of this metric. Furthermore, you are telling MLFlow to log this metric, so that MLFlow will keep track of this value in each run. When you log multiple runs, you can compare this metric across each of those runs so that you can pick a model with the best AUC score for example. Let's now move on to the evaluate function:

```
def evaluate(sk model, x test, y test):
    eval acc = sk model.score(x test, y test)
    preds = sk model.predict(x test)
    auc score = roc auc score(y test, preds)
    mlflow.log metric("eval acc", eval acc)
    mlflow.log metric("auc score", auc score)
    print(f"Auc Score: {auc score:.3%}")
    print(f"Eval Accuracy: {eval acc:.3%}")
    roc plot = plot roc curve(sk model, x test, y test,
    name='Scikit-learn ROC Curve')
    plt.savefig("sklearn roc plot.png")
    plt.show()
    plt.clf()
    conf matrix = confusion matrix(y test, preds)
    ax = sns.heatmap(conf matrix, annot=True,fmt='g')
    ax.invert xaxis()
    ax.invert yaxis()
    plt.ylabel('Actual')
    plt.xlabel('Predicted')
    plt.title("Confusion Matrix")
    plt.savefig("sklearn conf matrix.png")
    mlflow.log artifact("sklearn roc plot.png")
    mlflow.log artifact("sklearn conf matrix.png")
```

Refer to Figure 4-10 to see the above code in a cell.



Figure 4-10. A function to calculate the evaluation metrics for the AUC score and accuracy. Plots for the confusion matrix and the ROC curve are generated, and both the metrics and the graphs are logged to MLFlow

Once again, you have told MLFlow to log two more metrics: the AUC score and the accuracy on the test set. You do so with these lines of code:

```
mlflow.log_metric("eval_acc", eval_acc)
mlflow.log_metric("auc_score", auc_score)
```

Furthermore, you can also tell MLFlow to save the plots generated by matplotlib and by seaborn. With this, you can look at each of the graphs for each training run and do so in a highly organized manner. You must first save these plots, which you do in the same directory. Then, you must tell MLFlow to grab the artifacts to log them like so:

```
mlflow.log_artifact("sklearn_roc_plot.png")
mlflow.log_artifact("sklearn_conf_matrix.png")
```

Make sure that they have the same names as the graphs you saved.

Logging and Viewing MLFlow Runs

Finally, let's run the code that actually sets the experiment name, starts the MLFlow run, and executes all this code:

```
sk_model = LogisticRegression(random_state=None,
max_iter=400, solver='newton-cg')
mlflow.set_experiment("scikit_learn_experiment")
with mlflow.start_run():
    train(sk_model, x_train, y_train)
    evaluate(sk_model, x_test, y_test)
    mlflow.sklearn.log_model(sk_model, "log_reg_model")
    print("Model run: ", mlflow.active_run().info.run_uuid)
mlflow.end_run()
```

Notice the new lines of MLFlow code. We will go through them one by one.

First, let's begin with what appears to set the experiment name:

```
mlflow.set_experiment("scikit_learn_experiment")
```

What this does is that it puts the run under whatever experiment name you pass in as a parameter. If that name does not exist, MLFlow will create a new one under that name and put the run there.

with mlflow.start_run():

•••

This line of code allows you to chunk all of your code under the context of one MLFlow run. This ensures that there are no discrepancies between where your metrics are being logged, and that it doesn't create two different runs when you mean it to log everything for the same run.

```
mlflow.sklearn.log_model(sk_model, "log_reg_model")
```

This line of code is the general convention to use when you're logging a model. The parameters, in order, are the model you're saving and then the name you're setting for the model when saving. In this case, you are saving your logistic regression model with the name log_reg_model in this run.

As you will see later, most other frameworks follow the same style when saving the model. There are a couple exceptions, but we will cover this when the time comes. In this case, you are calling mlflow.sklearn, but if you wanted to log a PySpark model, you would do mlflow.spark.

Basically, the framework the model was built in must match the framework module of MLFlow when logging the model. It is possible to create a custom "model" in MLFlow and log this as well, something that is covered in the documentation. You can use this custom model to then specify how you want the prediction function to work. If you'd like to process the data some more before making predictions, for example, MLFlow allows you to specify this extra functionality through the use of the MLFlow PyFunc module. Refer to the documentation, which you can find here: www.mlflow.org/docs/latest/models.html#model-customization.

```
print("Model run: ", mlflow.active_run().info.run_uuid)
```

This line of code essentially gets the current run that the model and metrics are being logged to and prints it out. This makes it handy if you want to retrieve the run directly from the notebook itself instead of going to the UI to do so.

mlflow.end_run()

Finally, this tells MLFlow to end the current run. In cases where there is an error in the MLFlow start run code block, and the run does not terminate, do this to forcibly end the current run. Basically, it is there to ensure that MLFlow stops the run after you executed all the code relevant to the current run.

Moving on, refer to Figure 4-11 to see the full output of the code.





You can see that MLFlow automatically generates a new experiment if it does not already exist, so you can create a new experiment directly from the code. You can also see that the rest of the code basically outputs as usual, except it also prints the run ID of the current MLFlow run just as you specified. You will use this later when you select the specific model that you want to serve. What you will do next is open up the UI MLFlow provides where you can actually look at all the experiments and model runs. Finally, you also log the model itself as an artifact with MLFlow. MLFlow will modularize this code so that it will work with the code provided by MLFlow to support implementations of a variety of MLOps principles.

The following was done on **Windows 10**, but it should be the same on MacOS or Linux. First, open command prompt/powershell/terminal. Then, you must go into the directory that contains this notebook file. List the contents of the directory (or view this in file explorer/within Jupyter itself) and you will notice a new directory named mlruns.

If you installed all of your packages in Conda, make sure you've activated the Conda environment before running this.

What you want to do now is to make sure your command prompt, powershell, or terminal is in the same directory that contains mlruns, and type the following:

```
mlflow ui -p 1234
```

The command mlflow ui hosts the MLFlow UI locally on the default port of 5000. However, the options -p 1234 tell it that you want to host it specifically on the port 1234.

If it all goes well, and it can take several seconds, you should see something like Figure 4-12.



Figure 4-12. Making sure that the current directory contains the folder mlruns and calling the command to start the UI. If successful, it should state "Serving on http:// ... :1234." We have docker on our system, hence why yours might say localhost instead of kubernetes. docker.internal

Now, open a browser and type in http://localhost:1234 or http://127.0.0.1:1234. Both should take you to the same MLFlow UI. If you used a different port, it should generally look like this:

http://localhost:PORT_NUMBER or http://127.0.0.1:PORT_NUMBER, where you replace PORT_NUMBER with the one you used. If you did not specify a port parameter, then the default port used by MLFlow is 5000.

Regardless, if it works correctly, you should see something like Figure 4-13 once you visit that URL.

| Experiments + | C Default | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|------------|------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|-------|------|----------------|---------------|
| Boarch Experiments | Dominent | ID: 0 | AddactLocation Initianu7 | | | | |
| Default Z E | | | | | | | |
| sekt_kan_experiment 2 | + Notes | 8 | | | | | |
| | None | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Soarch Fur | in metrics man < 1 and parame model * "tree" a | and tags writter source type = 1.0046.* | | | G DURE. ACTVE- | Seath Cear |
| | Showing 0 | matching rum Consum Delete De | whicad CSV 📥 | | | | E D O Courtes |
| | | | | | | | |
| | 0 | Start Taxe | But Name | the . | Same | 1.50 | der. |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-13. Your MLFlow UI should look something like this. To the left are the experiments. Notice that there is an experiment titled Default and one titled scitkit_learn_experiment, which is the one you just created

Notice that there is now an experiment titled scikit_learn_experiment. Click it, and you should see something like Figure 4-14.

You can see the run that just completed, along with the metrics you logged. Click it so that you can explore it. The run that was just completed should have a green check mark beside the time stamp when it finished if everything went well, which you can see is the case in Figure 4-14.

| mlflow | Experiments | Models | | | | | | | Gith | ub Doc |
|-------------------|-------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------|-------------|-----------------|----------|---------|
| Experiments | + < | scikit_learn_experiment | | | | | | | | |
| Search Experiment | 0 | Experiment ID: 8 | _A60 | et Location : Amonad | | | | | | |
| Default | 2.8 | | | | | | | | | |
| solkit_learn_exp | eri £ B | Notes (2) | | | | | | | | |
| | | None | | | | | | | | |
| | | TABUT Dies mitter mite - 1 mit commi | notes a finant and have entropy the ora- | here a thornau t | | | | A State Arthury | DANCE | Cent |
| | | and the contract of the providence | | the strength | | | | · ···· | | 0.00 |
| | | Showing 1 malkning run. Demyster D | riete Download C9V 🛓 | | | | | | = = 0 | Courses |
| | | | | | | | Metra | | | |
| | | C Start Time | Fun Name | User . | Severa | Series. | - ANC. 1097 | exitant | twin.acc | |
| | | C 200 000-01 19 10 23 | | Sharps | C (Shani)ShampisiAn | н + | 0.954 | 0.999 | 6,999 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-14. This is what your experiment, scikit_learn_experiment, should look like once you click it. Notice that there is one run here, which is what was just created

You should see something like Figure 4-15.

| mlj/ow i | operiments Models | | | Giblub Doc |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------|
| scikit_learn_exper | riment > Run 1eb809b4 | 146d949d5a70a1e22e4b454 | 428 • | |
| Date: 2020-05-01-19-11 | 9.29 | | Source: C.CoordShamp/AnacondsDenvipMibble-packages(pyteme)_samberay: then: Shamps | |
| Duration: 2.6s | | | Status: FRUSHED | |
| + Notes M | | | | |
| None | | | | |
| Parameters | | | | |
| Name | Villar | | | |
| | | | | |
| Metrics | | | | |
| Sanie | Value | | | |
| aux_score Md | 0.964 | | | |
| evaluace Ma | 0.999 | | | |
| tran_ace lat | 0.999 | | | |
| • Tags | | | | |
| None | Vilue | Actions | | |
| | No tiggs found. | | | |
| Add Tag | | | | |
| | | Add | | |

Figure 4-15. This is the run that was just completed. Notice that the metrics you logged show up here

You should now see the details of this run much more clearly. Here, you can see all of the parameters and metrics that were logged. Keep scrolling down and you should be able to see all of the logged artifacts. Refer to Figure 4-16.

| anjjace lad | 0.090 | | | |
|-------------|---------------|---------|------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| lags | | | | |
| re | Value | Actions | | |
| | No tags found | | | |
| sd Tog | | | | |
| line. | Vitue | Add | | |
| | | | Select a file to preview | |
| | | | L=P Supported formats: image, text, html, pdf, geojson Res | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | ~ | | |

Figure 4-16. The logged artifacts of this run. Notice that the graphs appear to be logged as well as the model itself, which was named log_reg_model when you were logging it in the code

Here, you can see the model that has been logged, along with the two graphs that you logged as artifacts. Click the graphs and you should see something like Figure 4-17.



Figure 4-17. Inspecting the graph of the confusion matrix that you saved. Feel free to click the other graph as well, which is of the ROC plot

Amazing, right? Everything is extremely organized, and you don't have to worry about creating multiple folders for everything and staying organized. Simply tell MLFlow what to do and it will log all the information relevant to this run that you need. You can log your deep learning model's hyperparameters for learning rate, number of epochs, specific optimizer parameters like beta1 and beta2 for the Adam optimizer, and so on.

You can even log graphs, as you can see in Figure 4-17, along with the models themselves. With MLFlow, you can stay highly organized with your experiments even if you don't necessarily need the deployment capabilities to the cloud services.

Let's now try logging a few more runs. Rerun the cell in Figure 4-11 a couple times to completion and go back to the MLFlow UI. Make sure you have selected the experiment named scikit_learn_experiment. You should see something like Figure 4-18.



Figure 4-18. Revisiting your experiment after logging some runs in. The runs are logged in ascending order by timestamp, so the latest runs are on top

Let's compare the metrics you've logged for these runs. Select at least two runs, and ensure your UI looks somewhat like Figure 4-19. We selected three runs.



Figure 4-19. This is what your UI should look like after selecting several runs. Make sure to select at least two so that there is something to compare. Also notice that the button named Compare turns solid

After clicking Compare, you should see something like Figure 4-20.

| scikit_learn_experiment > C | comparing 3 Runs | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Run D. | 5062e63bd530-45e6ac e010c 521c674e6 | 105542750et54Neeb20001aakc647a253 | 1e6809511Gc649d5a7(a1e22e45-0128 |
| Run flame | | | |
| Start Time | 2020-00-01 19:52 40 | 2020-08-01 19:52 23 | 2020-08-01 19/10/28 |
| Parameters | | | |
| lietrics | | | |
| aux_score lat | 0.954 | 0.964 | 0.964 |
| | | | |
| eval_acc Md | 0.000 | 0.900 | C 999 |
| evel_acc.M2 tran_acc.M2 Scatter Plot Contour Plot | 0.000 0.000 Parater Construites Prot | 0.999 | C 599 |
| wal, sic k2 tran, ac k2 Scater Pot X-ads | 0.000 0.000 Parater Coordinates Pol | 0.669 | C 000 C 009 |
| wat_scc M2 tran_ecc M2 Scatter Plot Contour Plot X-dets enst_acc | 0.000 0.000 Parater Controlette Pot | 0.900 2.900 | 0.000 0.000 |
| well_acc.ldt tran_ecc.ldt Scatter PlutContour Plut tass tass | 0 000 0 per Paraler Countrations Post | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| vvul_acc.let tran_ecc.let Scatter Pool eval_acc V-acc sec_score | D 500 D 500 Parater Coststates Port | 0.000 | C 200 |
| wid_XC kt tran_ec kt Scatter Pot vals. eval.sto: Vaax asc_score | Prede Constante Put | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| Net Juck ME Starter Plut X dat Medjiste Skater Stat Medjiste Skater Medjiste | Parater Countrations Post | 0.000 | 6 000 6 000 |
| Verd_Lock 42 State Pot Xets Verd_ Verd_Contour Pot Xets Verd_ Verd_Contour Pot Xets Verd_Contour Pot Xets Verd_Contour Pot Xets Verd_Contour Pot | Parallel Constraints Port | 0.000 | C 200 |

Figure 4-20. The UI after selecting three runs to compare. As you can see, you can look at all of the metrics at once. There is also a graphing tool that lets you compare these values graphically, though you won't see proper graphs as every value is the same across the runs

Here, you can directly compare the relevant parameters and metrics between the runs you have chosen. You have the option of viewing a scatter plot, a contour plot, or a parallel coordinates plot. Feel free to play around with the metrics and with the plots. You can even save these plots if you wish.

Note that since these runs have the exact same metrics, there will only appear to be one point plotted.

Loading a Logged Model

Next, let's briefly look at how you can load the models logged by MLFlow. Go back to the experiment and click a run. Note the run ID at the top and copy it. Then, go back to the notebook, and run the following. Note that there is a placeholder for the run ID:

```
loaded_model = mlflow.sklearn.load_model
("runs:/YOUR_RUNID_HERE/log_reg_model")
```

To better understand what this path is, let's split it up into three sections: the format (runs:/), the run ID (YOUR_RUNID_HERE), and the model name that you used when you logged it (log_reg_model).

In our case, our run ID was 3862eb3bd89b43e8ace610c521d974e6, so our cell looks like Figure 4-21. Ensure your code looks somewhat like Figure 4-21, with the only difference being the run ID that you chose since it will be different from ours.

In [21]: 1 loaded_model = mlflow.sklearn.load_model("runs:/3862eb3bd89b43e8ace610c521d974e6/log_reg_model")

Figure 4-21. The code to load a model that we logged using the specific run ID we logged it in along with the model's name we used when we logged it

This is now the same model that you had when MLFlow logged it in the first place. With this, you can call something like .score() and see that it's the same as during training:

```
loaded_model.score(x_test, y_test)
```

This outputs the accuracy as the model is evaluated on the test set. If this truly is the same model, then the accuracy should match what was output earlier during the evaluation portion of the model run.

Refer to Figure 4-22 to see the output.

In [22]: 1 loaded_model.score(x_test, y_test)
Out[22]: 0.9987382145736217

Figure 4-22. This is the evaluation accuracy of the loaded model after evaluation on the test sets. If you compare this with Figure 4-11, you can see that the numbers more or less match, disregarding rounding

As you can see, this value matches the evaluation accuracy from Figure 4-11.

Now you know how to load a model from a specific MLFlow run.

With that, you've seen some of the functionality that MLFlow provides and how it can help in keeping your prototyping experiments much more organized. As you will see shortly, this entire pipeline that you just explored is pretty much all you need to recreate the train, test, validate pipeline that you saw earlier. Before you move on to looking at how you can use MLFlow with other frameworks, let's go over how you can use MLFlow functionality to vastly improve the model validation process.

Model Validation (Parameter Tuning) with MLFlow

Parameter Tuning – Broad Search

Just like in Chapter 2, you will use a script to help with model validation with respect to hyperparameter tuning. The tuning script will largely remain the same, except for a few modifications where MLFlow code has been added in.

Run the following code to set the range of anomaly weights and to set the number of folds:

```
anomaly_weights = [1, 5, 10, 15]
num_folds = 5
kfold = KFold(n_splits=num_folds, shuffle=True,
random_state=2020)
```

The code should look like Figure 4-23.

```
In [17]: 1 anomaly_weights = [1, 5, 10, 15]
2 num_folds = 5
3 kfold = KFold(n_splits=num_folds, shuffle=True, random_state=2020)
```

Figure 4-23. The code to determine the list of anomaly weights to perform validation over, to determine the number of folds, and to initialize the KFolds generator based on the number of folds

Now, paste the following. This is the first half of the entire function:

```
mlflow.set experiment("sklearn creditcard broad search")
logs = []
for f in range(len(anomaly weights)):
    fold = 1
    accuracies = []
    auc scores= []
    for train, test in kfold.split(x validate, y validate):
        with mlflow.start run():
            weight = anomaly weights[f]
            mlflow.log param("anomaly weight", weight)
            class weights= {
                0: 1,
                1: weight
            }
            sk model = LogisticRegression(random state=None,
                                    max iter=400,
                                     solver='newton-cg',
                                    class weight=class
                                    weights).fit
                                    (x validate[train],
                                    y validate[train])
            for h in range(40): print('-', end="")
            print(f"\nfold {fold}\nAnomaly Weight: {weight}")
            train acc = sk model.score(x validate[train],
            y validate[train])
            mlflow.log metric("train acc", train acc)
            eval acc = sk model.score(x validate[test],
            y validate[test])
            preds = sk model.predict(x validate[test])
            mlflow.log metric("eval acc", eval acc)
```

Here is some more of the code. Make sure this all aligns with the code from above.

```
try:
            auc score = roc auc score(y validate[test], preds)
        except:
            auc score = -1
        mlflow.log metric("auc score", auc score)
        print("AUC: {}\neval acc: {}".format(auc score,
        eval acc))
        accuracies.append(eval acc)
        auc scores.append(auc score)
        log = [sk model, x validate[test],
        v validate[test], preds]
        logs.append(log)
        mlflow.sklearn.log model(sk model,
        f"anom weight {weight} fold {fold}")
        fold = fold + 1
        mlflow.end run()
print("\nAverages: ")
print("Accuracy: ", np.mean(accuracies))
print("AUC: ", np.mean(auc scores))
print("Best: ")
print("Accuracy: ", np.max(accuracies))
print("AUC: ", np.max(auc scores))
```

First, let's look at what that giant chunk of code looks like in a cell. Ensure your code and alignment matches Figure 4-24.



Figure 4-24. The entire validation script from Chapter 2 with some MLFlow code additions to log everything during the validation process

Now, let's run this script. It should log the parameter for the anomaly weight and all of the metrics that you specified for every fold generated. When the script finishes, go to your MLFlow UI and switch the experiment to sklearn_creditcard_broad_search to see all the runs you just logged. You should see something like in Figure 4-25.

| xperme | et ID: 15 | | Artifact Location: 10 | ie ///C./Users/Shumpu/work/Bo | eks/2020%20ML0 | ps/Chapter%204/m/runs/15 | | | | |
|---------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------|-----------|-----------------|--------|----------|
| Notes | 26 | | | | | | | | | |
| ine . | | | | | | | | | | |
| earch B | ana metrica mase s 1 and pasiana mode | (= "tow" and tasts million score | trae = "LOCAL" | | | | | 6 Stdr Action + | Sea | a a |
| | | | | | | | | | | 1056 |
| owng 2 | 20 matching runs Concern Delet | Download CSV A | | | | | | 1 | = = | (8 Colum |
| | | | | | | Parametera | Metrica | | | |
| 3 | Start Time | Fun Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | But_score | eval_acc. | train, | NCL. |
| 3 | @ 2020 C9-14 15-45-14 | | Shunpu | Cititisen/Shumpular | ан - | 15 | 0.861 | 0.997 | 0.998 | |
|) | @ 2020 09-14 15-ch 15 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/Ar | ui - 10 | 15 | 0.894 | 0.998 | 0.996 | |
| 3 | @2020-09-14 15:43:14 | ÷ | Shumpu | C1User/Shumps/Ar | W - | 15 | 0.931 | 0.995 | 0.995 | |
| 3 | @2005-06-14 1543-13 | | Shumpu | C1Dsert/Shumps/sle | м - | 15 | 0.975 | 0.995 | 0.998 | |
| 3 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-12 | | Shumpu | C1Users\Shumpu\Ar | 101 | 15 | 0.924 | 0.995 | 0.990 | |
| 3 | @ 2020-05-14 15:43:11 | | Shumbu | C1Users/Shumps/Ar | w - | 10 | 0.882 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 3 | @-2020-09-14 15-43(10 | | Shumpu | Chloren/Shumpuha | ы - | 50 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 3 | Q 2020-09-14 15-43-09 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/Ar | w | 10 | 0.931 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
|) | @ 2020-09-14 15-42-08 | ÷ . | Shumpu | C C'User/Shumpville | W - 10 | 10 | 0.975 | 0.995 | 0.999 | |
| 3 | @2020-09-14 15-43-07 | 20 C | Shumpu | Crüsen/Shamps/Ar | SH - | 10 | 0.924 | 0.995 | 0.999 | |
|) | @2020-09-14 15-43-07 | | Stunga | C C'User/ShumpvVe | wi - | 5 | 0.882 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:06 | | Shumpu | C C/User/Shumps/An | W = | 5 | 0.094 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 3 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-05 | | Shumpu | C C'User/Shumpv/Ar | чн - | 5 | 0.951 | 6.999 | 0.999 | |
|) | @ 2020-05-14 15:42:04 | | Shunpu | C'User/Shumpv/Ar | - 18 | 5 | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 | |
|) | @2023-09-14 1543/03 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumps/de | - NO | 5 | 0.875 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
|) | Q12023-09-14 15:45:02 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/An | M = | 1 | 0.853 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 1 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-02 | | Shumpa | C1User/Shumpv/Ar | NH - | 1 | 0.060 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 3 | @2020-09-14 15-45-01 | | Shumpu | C'User/Shumps/Ar | w - | 1 | 0.841 | 0.995 | 0.999 | |
| 1 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-00 | | Shumpu | C10ser/Shumpv/Ar | ы - | 1 | 0.857 | 0.995 | 0.999 | |
| 1 | GR2023-05-14 15-42-59 | | Shumpu | C C'User/Shampulle | ai . | 1 | 0.8 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |

Figure 4-25. The output you should see after the validation experiment has finished. Make sure you select the experiment titled sklearn_creditcard_broad_search

Let's try sorting this by the AUC score to find the best parameters for the AUC. In the metrics column, click auc score.

The action should result in something that looks like Figure 4-26.

| xperimen | 10 15 | | Artifact Location 1 | e ///C./Users/Shumpu/work/Book | 15/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/minuna/15 | | | |
|----------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------|---------|---------------|-------------|
| Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| 204 | | | | | | | | | |
| terch Ru | sc metrics may < 1 and parama m | adel + "tree" and tags milliou source. | type = "LOCAL" | | | | | State: Active | Search C |
| howing 2 | matching runs Convers D | elete Download CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | E D © Celum |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrica | | |
| 0 | Slart Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | TAKSOR | evist, and | train_acc |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-42-19 | | Shumpu | C C/User/Shumps/Ana | | 1 | 0.8 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 2 | @ 2020-09-14 13:43:01 | | Shumpu | Cillsen/Shumps/Anal | | 1 | 0.041 | 0.995 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-02 | 43 | Shumpu | C C/User/Shumps/Anar | | 1 | 0.053 | 6.599 | 0.999 |
| 1 | () 2020-09-14 15-43-09 | | Shumpu | C Oldsen/Shumps/Anar | | 1 | 0.857 | 0.995 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2025-09-14 15-43-02 | | Shumpu | CiUser/Shumps/Anar | | 1 | 0.868 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
|) | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:03 | | Shumpu | CNUsersShumps/Anar | | 5 | 0.875 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| | @2020-09-14 15:42 16 | | Shunpu | CNUser/Shumps/Anar | | 15 | 0.861 | 0.997 | 0.995 |
| 3 | @2020-05-14 15:43.11 | | Shunpu | Citiber/Shumps/Anal | | 10 | 0.662 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 1 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-07 | | Shumpu | C C/User/Shumps/Anar | * - | 5 | 0.882 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:15 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Anar | | 15 | 0.894 | 0.995 | 0.995 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:18 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:06 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Aner | | 5 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-12 | | Shunpu | C C/User/Shumps/Anal | | 15 | 0.924 | 0.995 | 0.995 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:07 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.924 | 0.998 | 0.999 |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-14 | | Shumpu | Cit/User/Shumps/Anai | | 15 | 0.931 | 0.998 | 0.998 |
| 2 | @ 2020-09-14 13:43:09 | | Shumpu | Cruserr/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.951 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2025-09-14 13:43:05 | | Shumpu | Critisen/Shumpvideae | | 5 | 0.931 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 13:43:13 | *:: | Shumpu | C:User/Shumpv/Aner | ÷ | 15 | 0.975 | 0.995 | 0.995 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-08 | | Shumpu | C Cilibert/Shumpulanae | | 10 | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 |
| 1 | CR 2020-06-14 15-43-04 | | Shumpu | Cilibert Dumps Mean | | 5 | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 |

Figure 4-26. The values are all sorted by auc_score in descending order. We've highlighted this column so that you can more easily spot the difference between this figure and Figure 4-25. As you can see, the AUC scores are in ascending order. You want to see the best AUC scores, so you must sort in descending order

You want to sort the columns in descending order, so click it again to see something that looks like Figure 4-27.

| penment D | 15 | | Artifact Location: 11 | e:///C:/Users/Shampu/eork/Bool | 15/2020%20ML0 | 0ps/Chapter%204/miruns/15 | | | |
|------------|---------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|---------------|---------------------------|-------------|-----------------|-----------|
| Notes 🗵 | | | | | | | | | |
| 204 | | | | | | | | | |
| arch Runs | metrics mas < 1 and parame mode | + "tree" and tags million source | type = "LOCAL" | | | | | State: Active - | Search G |
| owing 20 m | atching runs Curclass Delet | Doveload CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | E B Colum |
| | | | | | | Farameters | Metrica | | |
| 3 I | Start Time | Run Name | \$lser' | Seurce | Version | anomaly_weight | Last, Start | eval,acc | train_acc |
| 3 | @ 2020-05-14 15-42-04 | | Shumpu | Chlorer/Dhumpu/Ana | | \$ | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 |
| 3 | Q 2020-05-14 15-45-08 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/Ana | | 10 | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15-42-13 | | Shumpu | ChUser/Shumpu/Ana | | 15 | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.998 |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:05 | | Shumpu | C CNJsen/Shumps/Ana | | 5 | 0.931 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:09 | | Shumpu | ChUsers/Shumpu/Ana | | 10 | 0.931 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 1 | @ 2020-09-14 13:43:14 | | Shumpu | CiUser/Shumps/Ana | | 15 | 0.931 | 0.990 | 0.990 |
| 1 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-07 | | Shumpu | C\User/Shumpu/Ana | | 10 | 0.924 | 0.998 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-12 | | Shumpa | CNUser/Drumps/Ana | | 15 | 0.924 | 0.998 | 0.998 |
| 5 | @ 2020-09-14 15-4±10 | | Shumpu | CNUSERIGNUMPS/Ana | | 10 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 3 | @2020-09-14 13:43:06 | | Shumpu | CSUser/Shumpu/Anal | | 5 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 1 | @2020-09-14 13:43:13 | • | Shumpu | CNUterr/Shumpu/Anar | | 15 | 0.894 | 0.995 | 0.995 |
| 3 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-11 | | Shumpu | Cillsen/Shumpu/Ana | - | 10 | 0.002 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 1 | @ 2020-05-14 15:43:07 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Ane | | 5 | 0.002 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| | Q-2020-06-14 15-43-16 | | Shumpu | ChUser/Shumpu/Ana | | 15 | 0.881 | 0.997 | 0.998 |
| | @2020-09-14 15:42:03 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Ana | | 5 | 0.875 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
|) | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:02 | | Shumpu | CSUser/Shumpukina | (a) (| 1 | 0.865 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
|) | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-00 | | Shungu | CNUsers/Shumps/Anar | | 1 | 0.857 | 0.995 | 0.999 |
|) | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-02 | • | Shumpa | C1User/Shump/Ana | | 1 | 0.853 | 0.999 | 0.399 |
| | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-01 | | Shumpu | ChUser/Shump/Ana | | 1 | 0.841 | 0.996 | 0.999 |
| 1 | Gi 2020-05-14 15-42-59 | | Dumps | CrUser/Drumps/Ana | | 1 | 0.8 | 0.999 | 0.999 |

Figure 4-27. The values are now sorted by AUC score in descending order. Now you can see the runs that produced the best AUC scores along with the specific anomaly weight it had in that run

Perhaps you don't really care about anything but the absolute best scores. Say that you are targeting AUC scores that are at least 0.90. How would you go about filtering everything? Well, the UI provides a search bar that performs a search based on the SQL WHERE clause. So, to filter your output, type the following and click Search:

```
metrics."auc_score" >= 0.90
```

You should see something like Figure 4-28. If you have copied and pasted the line of code, be sure to delete it and put in the quotation marks again if you encounter any errors about the quotation marks.

| sklearn | creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Experimen | t ID: 15 | | Artifact Location: 10 | e///C/Users/Shumpu/work/Bool | s/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/miruns/15 | | | |
| · Notes | 3 | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Ru | ns: metrics."auc_score" >= 0.50 | | | | | | | State: Active - | Search Clear |
| Showing B | matching runs Company Delote | Download CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | E Columns |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrics | | |
| 0 | Start Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version. | Parameters anomary_weight | Metrica 1 aut, score | eval, ast | train, act |
| 0 | Start Time @2002-09-14 13-42:04 | Run Name | User Shungu | Searce | Version | Parameters anomaty weight 5 | Metrics 1 aut, score 0.975 | eval, att 0.995 | Irain_acc 0.999 |
| | Start Time @2020-09-14 15-43:04 @2020-05-14 15-43:06 | Pun Name | User Shungu Shungu | Source | Version • | Parameters anomaty, weight 5 10 | Metrics 4 nat, source 0.975 0.975 | eval, asc 0.995 0.995 | 0.999 0.399 |
| | Start Time © 2020-05-54 15:43:04 © 2020-05-54 15:43:05 © 2020-05-54 15:43:05 | Run Name • • | Uner Shumou Shumou Shumou Shumou | Source COUvernShampvlänar COUvernShampvlänar COUvernShampvlänar | Venken • • | Parameters anomaty_serget 5 10 15 | Metrica 1 aut, score 0.975 0.975 0.975 | eval.ess 0.995 0.995 0.995 | 0.999 0.999 0.999 |
| | Start Time @ 2023/06-14 15:42:04 @ 2023/06-14 15:42:04 @ 2023/06-14 15:42:13 @ 2023/06-14 15:42:13 @ 2023/06-14 15:42:05 | | User Shumou Shumou Shumou Shumou Shumou | Sourie CrUsen/Shanpol/Ana CrUsen/Shanpol/Ana CrUsen/Shanpol/Ana CrUsen/Shanpol/Ana | Venker • • | Picameters encorraly_serget 5 10 15 5 | Metrica 1 aut, score 0.975 0.975 0.975 0.991 | eval, esc 0.995 0.395 0.395 0.395 | train_au. 0.999 0.999 0.995 0.990 |
| | Star Time © 2022-05-14 13-43:04 © 2022-05-14 13-43:08 © 2022-05-14 13-43:08 © 2022-05-14 15-43:08 © 2022-05-14 15-43:08 | Run Name | Une Stunou Stunou Stunou Stunou Stunou Stunou | Sense CitizenShumpukkaa CitizenShumpukkaa CitizenShumpukkaa CitizenShumpukkaa | Version - - - | Parameters anorvaty, antipht 5 10 15 5 5 5 10 | Metrics 1 mil., score 0.475 0.575 0.575 0.591 0.991 | eval.au 0.985 0.395 0.395 0.395 0.399 0.399 | Train, esc. 0.999 0.999 0.995 0.995 0.999 |
| | Start Time: # 2020-05-14 15-45.04 # 2020-05-14 15-43.04 # 2020-05-14 15-43.04 # 2020-05-14 15-43.04 # 2020-05-14 15-43.04 # 2020-05-14 15-43.04 # 2020-05-14 15-43.04 | Run Name - - - | Une Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou | Chluendhumpukkaa Chluendhumpukkaa Chluendhumpukkaa Chluendhumpukkaa Chluendhumpukkaa Chluendhumpukkaa | Version - - - - - - - | Parameters anomaty, weight 5 10 15 5 5 5 10 15 | Metrics 1 mil, score 0.875 0.975 0.975 0.991 0.991 | eval.mc 0.395 0.395 0.399 0.599 0.599 0.599 | Inne, aic 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 |
| | Start Time 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) 0.2022-05-14 (35-83.04) | Ran Kanne - - - - - - | User Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou | Seenz CitherriShulleyUkra CitherriShulleyUkra CitherriShulleyUkra CitherriShulleyUkra CitherriShulleyUkra CitherriShulleyUkra CitherriShulleyUkra | Version - - - - - - - - - | Parameters anomaty, weight 5 10 55 6 10 15 10 15 10 13 10 13 10 13 10 15 10 | Metrics 1 met, score 0.575 0.575 0.575 0.591 0.691 0.691 0.991 0.991 | rval, ent. 0.395 0.395 0.395 0.399 0.399 0.399 0.398 0.398 | Institute: 0.999 0.999 0.995 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 |

Figure 4-28. The results of filtering all of the AUC scores to be above 0.90. As you can see, only a handful of runs produced AUC scores that are at least 0.90

Notice that we put "auc_score" in quotation marks. This is for cases where the metric name that you've logged contains characters like a dash where it might not recognize the name if you typed it out like so:

```
metrics.auc-score
```

The proper convention for a metric logged as "auc-score" would be to filter it like so:

```
metrics."auc-score" >= 0.90
```

Now let's say that of these scores, you want to see the scores for anomaly weights of 5 only. It doesn't appear that there are any results with the anomaly weight of 1, so we will start with 5. For that, let's type and search the following:

```
metrics."auc_score" >= 0.90 AND parameters.anomaly_weight = "5"
```

You should see something like Figure 4-29.

| xpenme | NEID: 15 | | Artifact Location The | e.//C./Users/Shumpu/work/Book | ks/2020%20MLOps | Chapter%204/minuts/15 | | | | | |
|---------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|-----------------|------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Notes | 25 | | | | | | | | | | |
| lone | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | uns: metrics "auc_score" >= 0.90 AND p | arameters anomaly_weight = "5" | | | | | | State: Activ | - | Search | Clea |
| Search R | uns: metrics."auc_score" >= 0.50 AND p 2 matching nuns Compare Delete | arameters anemaly_weight = '5' Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | State: Active | - | Search | Clea. |
| Search R | uns: metrics."auc_score" >= 0.50 AND p 2 matching nuns Company Delete | arameters anomaly_weight = "5" | | | | Terameters | Metrics | State: Activ | - | Search | Clea |
| Showing | uni: metrice."auc_scone" >= 0.50 AND p 2 matching nuns Company Delete 1 5 Start Time | arameters anomaly_weight = "5" Download CSV 🛓 Fun Name | User | Source | Version | Parameters anomaly_weight | Metrics | State: Activ eval_acc | | Search | Columna © Columna re |
| Search R Showing | unit: metrics."auc_scone" >= 0.50 AND p 2 matching nuns Company Delete Start Time D 2020 05-14 15-0.04 | arameters anemaly_weight = "\$" Download CSV & Ran Name | User Shunpu | Source | Version | Parameters anomaty_socipit 5 | Metrics Li suc, score 0.075 | State: Active eval.acc 0.995 | | Search I III I IIII I IIII Addy | Clea © Columns |

Figure 4-29. Filtering the runs to have only runs with the anomaly weight set to 5 and to have an AUC score above 0.90

You put the 5 in quotation marks because the parameters seem to be logged as string values, whereas the metrics are logged as floats.

From this output, it seems that only two of the five folds with the anomaly weight set to 5 had an AUC score above 0.90. Let's quickly search over the other parameters and check how many folds had an AUC score above 0.90 as well.

For filtering the anomaly weight by 10, refer to Figure 4-30.

| sklearn_ | creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|--------------|-----------|----------|--------|-----------|
| Experiment | ID: 15 | | Artifact Location 11e | ///C./Users/Shumpu/work/Book | s/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/minuns/15 | | | | | |
| Notes Nore | 4 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Run | e: metrice."auc_score" >= 0.50 AND para | meters anomaly_weight = "10" | | | | | | 6 State: | Active - | Searc | h Clear |
| Showing 3 r | matching name Compare Delete | Download CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | | = 0 | @ Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrics | | | | |
| 0 | Start Time | RanName | User | Severa | Version | anomaly, weight | 1 aux, surre | eval, ass | | train, | NK. |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:08 | | Shuhou | C:User/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.975 | 0.995 | | 0.999 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-03-14 13-43-09 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/Anal | | 10 | 0.931 | 0.999 | | 0.599 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-07 | | Shunou | C1User/Shumps/Anax | | 10 | 0.924 | 0.990 | | 0.999 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-30. Three runs for an anomaly weight of 10 also met your criteria for minimum AUC score

So, three of the five folds with the anomaly weight set to 10 had an AUC score above 0.90.

Let's check 15 now. Refer to Figure 4-31.

| Experiment ID | 15 | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------|-----------------------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|--------------|----------------|----------|------------|
| · Notes 2 | | | Artifact Location the | :///C./Users/Shampu/work/Book | ±2020%20MLOy | ss/Chapter%204/miruns/15 | | | | |
| - research the | | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Runs: | metrics."auc_score" >= 0.90 AND paramet | tors anomaly_weight = "1: | 5 | | | | | State Active - | Search | Clear |
| Showing 3 match | hing runs Compare Delete | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | = = | () Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrio | | | |
| C 50 | art Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | 1 auc, score | eval,acc | train_ac | 8 |
| 0 | @ 2005-08-14 15-0-13 | | Shumpu | C O'User/Shumps/Anar | | 15 | 0.975 | 0.996 | 0.998 | |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15:42:14 | | Shumpu | C:User/Shumpu/Anar | | 78 | 0.931 | 0.996 | 0.996 | |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 15(4):12 | | Shungu | Crit/ser/Shumpu/Anar | | 15 | 0.924 | 0.995 | 0.995 | |

Figure 4-31. You can see that with an anomaly weight of 15, there seems to be two folds that had an AUC score above 0.95

You see similar results with 15.

What if you tighten the AUC score requirement to be a minimum of 0.95? Let's check the runs for a minimum AUC of 0.95 and with an anomaly weight of 5. Refer to Figure 4-32.

| sklearn_c | reditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|-----------------------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|----------------------------------|------------------|----------------------|--------------|----------------|-------------|---|
| Experiment | D: 16 | | Artifact Location: | tie ///C /Usors/Shempe/work/Book | s/2020%20MLOps/C | hapter%204/minuns/16 | | | | |
| • Notes 🙁 | | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Runs | metrics "wac_score" >= 0.95 AND parameters an | rorrudy_weight = "5" | | | | | | State Active - | Search Clea | r |
| Showing 1 m | atching run Congaes Delete Doenlo | ad CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | E E Columns | |
| | | | | | | Farameters | Metzika | | | |
| 0 | Start Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version. | atomaly_weight | 1 aut, score | eval_acc | train_acc | |
| 0 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-04 | | Shumpu | ChUser/Shumpu/Anai | | \$ | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-32. This time, you see that only one of the folds for the runs with anomaly weight set to 5 has an AUC score above 0.95

So, it seems that only one fold reached an AUC score above 0.95 when the anomaly weight was 5.

What do the results look like for an anomaly weight of 10? Refer to Figure 4-33.

| sklearn_cre | ditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-------------|------------|---------|-----|------------|---------|
| Experiment ID | 15 | | Artifact Location | file://C.Users/Shumpu/work/Bool | ks/2020%20MLOps/Chi | apter%204/minuns/15 | | | | | | |
| Notes 🙁 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Rune: | metrics "auc_score" >= 0.95 AND parameters an | omaly_weight = "10" | | | | | | • State: A | ctive - | 3 | Search | Clear |
| Showing 1 mato | thing run Compare Delete Deverloa | d CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | | = 1 | | Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metsics | | | | | |
| 0 9 | tart Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | Last, start | eval, acc | | | train_acc. | |
| | and the second se | | Channel . | C Childrent Characterist | | 46 | 0.975 | 0.995 | | | n 999 | |

Figure 4-33. With an anomaly weight of 10, only one run has an AUC score above 0.95

Let's check the runs with an anomaly weight of 15. Refer to Figure 4-34.

| sklearn_creditcard_broad_sea | rch | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|--------------|-------------------|-----------|-----------|
| Experiment ID: 15 | | Artifact Location | Na:///C:/Usars/Shumpu/work/Bor | 4s/2020%20MLOp | s/Chapter%204/miruns/15 | | | | |
| - Notes 🙁 | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Runs: metrics."auc_score" >= | 0.95 AND parameters anomaly_weight = "15 | | | | | | O State: Active - | Search | Clear |
| Showing 1 matching run Company | Delote Download CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | = | © Columns |
| | | | | | Parameters | Metrio | | | |
| Start Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version | anorsaly_weight | 4 aux, score | eval, ex. | train_acc | |
| O 0202349-14 1543:13 | • | Shunou | Critisen/Shumps/Ana | e + | 15 | 0.975 | 0.996 | 0.998 | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-34. With an anomaly weight of 15, only one run has achieved an AUC score above 0.95. From these results, you cannot really infer which weight setting is the best, so you have to narrow the scope of your hyperparameter search. As far as you know, you could have missed the best setting, and it could be somewhere in between 5 and 10 or 10 and 15

It seems that for an anomaly weight of 15, only one run has achieved an AUC score above 0.95. It seems that you can't look at how you can narrow the scope without looking at the rest of the AUC scores.

It appears to be the case that the best AUC scores seem to be between 5 and 15.

Alright, so what if the higher anomaly weights were more consistent in their AUC scores, and the smaller anomaly weight runs achieving the highest AUC scores were just flukes? To see how each anomaly weight setting did, first remove the query statement, and click Search again. Next, make sure that the AUC scores are in descending order. Once you're done, refer to Figure 4-35 and verify that your output looks similar.

| skiearn | _creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|--------------|---------|----------|---------|---------|
| Experimen | nt ID: 15 | | Artifact Location: 5 | e ///C./Users/Situmpu/work/Book | 5/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/minuns/15 | | | | | |
| · Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Ru | ns metrics mus < 1 and params me | dal + "tree" and tags milliou source | type = "LOCAL" | | | | | • State | Active - | Searc | Clear |
| Shewing 2 | 6 matching runs Concess De | lete Download CSV | | | | | | | | = 0 | Columna |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrica | | | | |
| | Start Time | Bun Name | User | Severa | Version. | anomaly_weight | 1 aux, store | eval, a | ec | train_P | et |
| | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-04 | | Shumpu | ChUsert/Shumpu/Anar | | \$ | 0.975 | 0.998 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020-09-14 15-45-08 | | Shumpu | C:User/Shumpu/Anar | | 10 | 0.975 | 0.995 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020-09-14 19-43-13 | 47 | Shumpu | Cillsen/Shumpulanar | | 15 | 0.975 | 0.998 | | 0.998 | |
| | @202049-141543:05 | | Shumpu | C10sert/Shumps/Anax | | 5 | 0.951 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020-09-14 15:43:09 | 4 | Shumpu | Chlisen/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.951 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @202049-14 15-43.14 | | Shumou | Chlisen/Shumps/Anar | | 15 | 0.931 | 0.990 | | 0.995 | |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 15-41:07 | * | Shumpu | CriUseri/Shumpu/Anar | • | 10 | 0.924 | 0.995 | | 0.999 | |
| | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-12 | | Shumpu | ChUsen/Shumpuh/Anai | | 15 | 0.924 | 0.990 | | 0.996 | |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:10 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.894 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020-09-14 15:43:06 | 4/ | Shumpu | Cilliserr/Shumpi/sleai | | 5 | 0.894 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @202049-14 (545.13 | | Shumpu | C:Useri/Shumpu/Anal | | 15 | 0.094 | 0.995 | | 0.995 | |
| | @2020-09-14 15:43:11 | | Shumpu | Chliser/Shumps/Mean | ×. | 10 | 0.882 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-07 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumpu/Anar | | 5 | 0.882 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020-09-14 15:43:14 | | Shumpu | C C'Users/Shumpu'Anar | | 15 | 0.881 | 0.997 | | 0.998 | |
| | @202049-14 15:42:02 | ÷ | Shumpu | C10sert/Shumps/Anar | | 5 | 0.875 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020/09-14 15:42:02 | | Shumpu | Chlisen/Shumpinknai | * .: | 1 | 0.868 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:00 | ÷: | Shunpu | C:Useri/Shumpu/Anai | • | 1 | 0.857 | 0.995 | | 0.999 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43.02 | 20 | Shumpu | C:User/Shumps/Anas | * | 1 | 0.053 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |
| | @2020-09-14 15:43:01 | + | Shumpu | CSUser/Shumpu/Anar | | 1 | 0.841 | 0.995 | | 0.999 | |
| | @ 2020-05-14 15-42-59 | | Shumpu | ChUser/Shumps/Anar | | 1 | 0.8 | 0.999 | | 0.999 | |

Figure 4-35. Ordering the runs by descending AUC score

Using the following code, let's filter over all of the values for anomaly weights and check what the AUC scores look like, replacing 1 with 5, 10, and 15.

```
parameters.anomaly weight = "1"
```

Refer to Figure 4-36 to see the results of filtering by an anomaly weight of 1.

| skiearn | _creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------|----------|------------------------------|-------------|
| Experime | et 10: 15 | | Artifact Location: \$1 | e ///C:/Users/Shumpu/work/Book | ov/2020%20MLOy | ps/Chapter%204/miruns/15 | | | | | |
| - Notes | 2 | | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search A | uns: parameters anomaly_weight = "T] | | | | | | | • State: | Active - | Sea | ch Clear |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Showing ! | 5 matching runs Company Delete | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | | = 0 | (\$ Columns |
| Showing ! | 5 matching runs Company Delete | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | Farameters | Metrics | | | = 0 | @ Columns |
| Showing t | 5 matching runs Contquer Delete | Download CSV & | User | Seure | Version | Parameters anomaly_weight | Metrics | (est,) | we. | = m | @ Columns |
| Showing ! | Smatching rums Company Delete | Download CSV | Uner Shumpu | Seurce | Version. | Farameters anomaly_weight 5 | Metrics 1 auc, street 0.000 | evil_1 0.999 | we. | = B | th Columns |
| Stowing ! | 5 matching rums Company Delate | Doamload CSV & | User Shungu Shungu | Source Claser/Shampulina Claser/Shampulina | Version * | Parameters anomaly_weight 1 | Metrics 2 Bac, 300 YE 0.005 0.0057 | eval_a 0.399 0.998 | ube | E B | (D) Columns |
| Showing ! | 5 matching name Contgane Dalates | Doenlaad CSV 🛓 | Diar Diar Diangu Diangu Shangu | Source Cilibert/Shampu/Ana Cilibert/Shampu/Ana Cilibert/Shampu/Ana | Version • • | Finameters anomaly_weight 1 1 | Metrics 1 Inc, some 0.068 0.057 0.053 | 0.999 0.999 | we | E m train 0.99 0.99 | © Columns |
| Showing ! | 5 matching sams Company Dakes Start Tree © 2003 05 14 15-032 @ 2003 05 14 15-032 @ 2003 05 14 15-0302 @ 2003 05 14 15-0301 @ 2003 05-14 15-0301 | Download CSV & | Uter Shungu Shungu Shungu Shungu Shungu | Seate Cither/Shanpu/Ana Cither/Shanpu/Ana Cither/Shanpu/Ana Cither/Shanpu/Ana | Version - - - | Parameters anorrady_weight 3 5 5 3 | Metrics 1 bac_score 0.005 0.055 0.053 0.041 | 0.399 0.399 0.399 0.399 | HE. | E 0.99 | (D) Columns |

Figure 4-36. Looking at the AUC scores of the runs with an anomaly weight of 1 in descending order

None of the scores have gone above 0.9, so you can automatically rule out this anomaly weight setting. If you go back to your script, you can see that the average AUC was around 0.8437.

Let's look at the runs with an anomaly weight of 5. Refer to Figure 4-37.

| sklearn | creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | | |
|------------|----------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|--------------|-----------------|----------|---------|
| Experiment | ID: 15 | | Artifact Location: 10 | e:///C/Users/Shampu/work/Book | s/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/minuns/15 | | | | |
| Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | | |
| Search Ru | n: parameters anomaly_weight = * | স | | | | | | State: Active + | Search | Clear |
| Showing 5 | matching runs Company De | elete Download CSV | | | | | | | = 0 | Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrica | | | |
| | Start Tame | Run Name | Liser | Source | Version | anomaty_weight | 1 auc, store | eval,act | 1997,800 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-42-04 | | Shumpu | CiUser/Ghumps/Anai | | 5 | 0.975 | 0.998 | 0.999 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-05 | | Shumpu | CrUser(Shumps/Anar | | 5 | 0.901 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 0 | @ 2005-05-14 15-43-06 | | Shunpu | ChUser/Shumps/Anai | | 5 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:07 | | Shumpu | Crillsen/Shumps/Anar | | 5 | 0.862 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-(3.03 | · . | Shumpu | C CiUser/Shumps/Anar | | 5 | 0.875 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |



The scores have improved noticeably. If you go back to the original script's output, you can see that the average AUC score is now 0.9116.

The rest of the anomaly weights all achieved the highest AUC score of around 0.975, so the average AUC is a better metric to help you narrow the range.

Let's now look at the runs with an anomaly weight of 10. Refer to Figure 4-38.

| sklearr | _creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | |
|----------|---------------------------------------|----------------|----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------------|---------------|
| Experime | wt ID: 15 | | Artifact Location: 6 | e ///C /Users/Shumpu/work/Book | s/2020%20ML0 | ps/Chapter%204/mkuns/15 | | | |
| • Notes | 25 | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | uns: parameters anomaly_weight = "30" | | | | | | | State Active • | Search Clear |
| Showing | 5 matching.sura Company Delete | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | E B © Columns |
| | | | | | | Facameters | Metrics | | |
| | Start Time | Fun Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly, weight | 1 mic, score | eval,acc | train_acc. |
| | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:08 | | Shungu | C'User/Shumps/Anai | | 10 | 0.975 | 0.990 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43.09 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Anai | | 10 | 0.901 | 0.599 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-07 | | Shumpu | Chlisen/ShumpvVinai | | 10 | 0.924 | 0.000 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-10 | | Shungu | C C/User/Shumpv/Anar | | 10 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 15-43-11 | ÷. | Shumpu | Critisen/Shumpulanar | | 10 | 0.882 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-38. Looking at the AUC scores of the runs with an anomaly weight of 10 in descending order. These scores seem even better

These scores seem even better than the ones for an anomaly weight of 5. This time, the average AUC score is around 0.9215.

Finally, let's look at the scores for an anomaly weight of 15. Refer to Figure 4-39 to see the results of filtering by an anomaly weight of 15.

| sklearn | _creditcard_broad_search | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|------------------------------------------------|----------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|-------------|----------------|--------------|
| Experime | et ID: 15 | | Artifact Location file | e:///C:/Users/Shumpu/work/Book | s/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/minuns/15 | | | |
| • Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | uns parameters anomaly_weight = "15" | | | | | | | State Active - | Search Clear |
| Showing ! | 5 matching runs Generation Delete | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | 1 Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrics | | |
| | Start Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | Laux, score | eval, acc. | train_acc |
| 0 | @ 2009-09-14 15:43:13 | | Shumpu | Citiber/Shumps/Aner | | 15 | 0.975 | 0.995 | 0.990 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15:43:14 | | Shumpu | ChUsen/Shumps/Anax | | 15 | 0.931 | 0.995 | 0.995 |
| | | | G | C dataset for southers | 1.1 | 15 | 0.024 | 0.995 | 0.998 |
| 0 | @ 2020-05-14 15-43-12 | | snumpu | Printer Printer Printer | | | | | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 15-43-12 @ 2020-09-14 15-43-15 | | Shumpu | Croser/Shueps/Ana | | 15 | 0.894 | 0.998 | 0.996 |

Figure 4-39. Looking at the AUC scores of the runs with an anomaly weight of 15 in descending order. The scores are very similar, but the average is ever so slightly worse, so the true range seems to be somewhere in between 10 and 15

The scores are very similar to each other, and indeed, the average AUC score is now 0.9212.

Based on these results, you can see that there seems to be an increase from 5 to 10, but a slight decrease from 10 to 15. From this data, the ideal range seems to be somewhere in between 10 and 15, but again, the decrease in average AUC from 10 to 15 is essentially negligible. And so, what if it's potentially beyond 15, and you started out with the wrong range to search over?

From the results of this validation experiment, it seems that you haven't found a definite range of values that you know for sure you can focus on. And so, you must expand your range even more just to see if you can get better results with higher anomaly weights.

Looking at the distribution of data and how heavily the normal points outnumber the anomalies, you can use your intuition to help guide your hyperparameter search and expand the range far more.

Now that you know this, let's try expanding the range far more.

Parameter Tuning – Guided Search

The best overall performances were achieved by anomaly weights 10 and 15, but it seems to be on an upward trend the higher up you go with the anomaly weight.

Now that you know this, let's try another validation run with a broader range of anomaly weights to try.

Go back to the cell (or copy-paste it into a new cell) in Figure 4-23 and change the anomaly weights so that they look like the following:

```
anomaly_weights = [10, 50, 100, 150, 200]
```

You should see something like Figure 4-40.

```
In [29]: 1 anomaly_weights = (10, 50, 100, 150, 200)
2 num_folds = 5
3 kroid = Kroid(m_splits=num_folds, shuffle=True, random_state=2020)
```

Figure 4-40. Setting a narrow range of values to search over during the second validation run

The validation script itself should be the same, so if you simply replaced the anomaly weights in the original cell, **don't run the validation script yet!** Let's create a new experiment so that you don't clutter the original tuning experiment with these new runs.

Modify the following line in the old validation script so that it goes from

```
mlflow.set_experiment("sklearn_creditcard_broad_search")
```

to

```
mlflow.set_experiment("sklearn_creditcard_guided_search")
```

You should see something like Figure 4-41.

Figure 4-41. Setting a new experiment called sklearn_creditcard_ guided_search so that the results of this second validation experiment are stored separately

Now you can run this code. Once it finishes, go back to the UI, refresh it, and select the new experiment named sklearn_creditcard_guided_ search. You should see something like Figure 4-42.

| skiearn | _creditcard_guided_search | | | | | | | | | |
|----------|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|---------------|---------------------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|-----------|
| Experime | et ID: 16 | | Artifact Location: | Ne:///C./Users/Shumpu/work/Bo | eks/2020%20ML | Ops/Chapter%204/miruns/16 | | | | |
| · Notes | 35 | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | are: metrics image < 1 and parameters | del = "tree" and tags millow source | type = "LOCAL" | | | | | State: Acti | e- Search | Clear |
| Showing | 25 matching runs Concern De | lete Download CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | = = | © Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrica | | | |
| 0 | Start Time | Ran Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | aut_store | eval_act | train_act | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 10-44-45 | | Shumpu | ChUsen/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.903 | 0.902 | 0.984 | ^ |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 10-44-84 | | Shumpu | CiUser/Shumpu/Ana | | 200 | 0.539 | 0.903 | 0.983 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16-44-43 | | Shumpu | C OfUser/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.923 | 0.901 | 0.979 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 10:44:42 | | Shumpu | C:User/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.99 | 0.901 | 0.98 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16:44.41 | | Shumpu | CrUser/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.943 | 0.905 | 0.954 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16:44.45 | | Shumpu | CNUser/Shumps/Ana | | 150 | 0.905 | 0.967 | 0.955 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 10-44-33 | | Shumpu | C C/User/Shumps/Ana | | 150 | 0.541 | 0.907 | 0.965 | |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 16:44-38 | | Shumpu | Chliser/Shumpv/Ana | 64 - C | 150 | 0.925 | 0.995 | 0.963 | |
| | @ 2020 09 14 16 44 37 | | Shumpu | Criticen/Shumps/Jina | | 150 | 0.993 | 0.905 | 0.985 | |
| 0 | @3020-09-14 16:44:35 | | Shumpu | C CNJserr/Shumps/Ana | | 150 | 0.519 | 0.967 | 0.956 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 10:44:33 | | Shumpu | CHUsers/Shumps/Ana | (| 100 | 0.878 | 0.99 | 0.992 | |
| 0 | © 2020-09-14 16:44.34 | | Shumpu | C C/Users/Shumps/Ana | | 100 | 0.943 | 0.991 | 0.991 | |
| | ©2020-09-14 10-44:33 | | Shunpu | C:User/Shumpu/Ana | | 100 | 0.927 | 0.99 | 0.909 | |
| 0 | @2020-05-14 16:44:32 | | Shumpu | C C/Users/Shumps/Ana | | 100 | 0.995 | 0.99 | 0.909 | |
| | @2020-09-14 18-44-31 | | Shumpu | Cillsen/Shumpu/Ana | | 100 | 0.921 | 0.991 | 0.99 | |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 16:44:30 | | Shumpu | CrUser/Shumpv/Ana | | 50 | 0.88 | 0.994 | 0.995 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 36:44:29 | | Shunpu | ChUser/Shumpv/Ana | 6. F. | 50 | 0.915 | 0.994 | 0.995 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16:44.25 | • | Shumpu | ChUsen/Shumps/Ana | | 50 | 0.53 | 0.995 | 0.995 | _ |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 10-44.27 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/Ana | | 50 | 0.973 | 0.994 | 0.994 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 10-44.25 | 1.0 | Shumpu | C:User/Shumps/Ana | | 50 | 0.923 | 0.995 | 0.994 | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16.44.25 | | Shumpu | C/User/Shumps/Ana | | 10 | 0.882 | 0.999 | 0.999 | |
| | G52022149-14-16-44-25 | | Champs | Children Chameral Ann | · · · · | 10 | 0.894 | 6.999 | 0.999 | v. |

Figure 4-42. The results of the second validation experiment

The whole point of broadening the range of anomaly weights that you are performing the tuning experiment on is to help you understand where the best hyperparameter range may lie. You did not know this initially, so you picked a range that was too small to help you discover the best value. Now that you do know, you have expanded your search range considerably.

From the results of this experiment, you can hopefully narrow your range a lot more and repeat the experiment with a massively reduced range and arrive at the correct hyperparameter setting.

You will now filter out each of the values by each unique anomaly weight (10, 50, 100, 150, and 200) to get an idea of how the runs with that setting performed.

Make sure you're sorting AUC scores in descending order, type the following query, and search:

```
parameters.anomaly weight = "10"
```

You should see something like Figure 4-43.

| sklearr | _creditcard_guided_search | | | | | | | | |
|----------|----------------------------------------|----------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|-------------|--------------------------|--------------|-----------------|---------------|
| Experime | ent ID: 16 | | Artifact Location: 52 | e ///C /Users/Shampa/work/Book | v2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/miruns/16 | | | |
| · Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | lans: parameters anomaly_weight = "90" | | | | | | | State: Active - | Search Clear |
| Showing | 5 matching runs Company Delete | Download CSV 🛦 | | | | | | | E B © Columns |
| | | | | | | Facameters | Metrics | | |
| | Start Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version. | aromaly_weight | 1 suc, score | eval_acc | train_acc |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 36-44.23 | | Shumpu | ChUser/Shumps/Anar | | 10 | 0.975 | 0.995 | 0.999 |
| | @ 2020-09-14 16-44-24 | | Shumpu | Chlisen/ShumpulAnar | | 10 | 0.991 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| | @ 2020-09-14 16-44-22 | | Shungu | C C'User/Shumps/Ariar | | 10 | 0.924 | 0.995 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 16-44-25 | | Shungu | Chlisen/Shumpulanak | | 10 | 0.894 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16:44.26 | | Shungu | C C'User/Shumps/Anal | • . | 10 | 0.662 | 0.999 | 0.999 |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-43. Filtering the runs by anomaly weight of 10 and setting the AUC score to display in descending order

The average AUC score as displayed by the validation script is around 0.9215. Of course, this is the same result as from earlier.

Let's see how the scores look for an anomaly weight of 50. Refer to Figure 4-44.

| skiearn | _creditcard_guided_search | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|------------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|-------------|------------------|--------------|
| Experimen | et ID: 16 | | Artifact Location: 16 | e ///C./Users/Shumpu/work/Gook | s/2020%20MLO | ps/Chapter%204/minuns/16 | | | |
| • Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | ra: parameters anomaly weight = "I | D** | | | | | | 6 State Action - | Search Clear |
| Showing 5 | matching runs Consume Dele | nte Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | E B Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrica | | |
| 0 | Start Time | Run Name | User | Source | Version | anomaly_weight | Laur, score | eval_acc | train_acc |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16-44.27 | | Shumpu | C O'Wser/Shumpu/Anai | | 50 | 0.979 | 0.994 | 0.994 |
| 0 | @ 2000-09-14 16-44.28 | | Shumpu | Cillsen/Shanpu/Anal | | 50 | 0.90 | 0.995 | 0.995 |
| 0 | @ 2020-05-14 16-44-26 | | Shumpu | C1User/Shumpu/Anar | | 50 | 0.923 | 0,995 | 0.994 |
| 0 | @2020-09-14 18-44.29 | | Shumpu | Critiserr/Shumps/Janas | • | 50 | 0.918 | 0.994 | 0.995 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16:44:30 | | Shangu | C/User/Shamps/Anal | | 50 | 0.55 | 0.994 | 0.995 |

Figure 4-44. Filtering the runs by an anomaly weight of 50 and setting the AUC score to display in descending order. It seems there's a slight difference in values

There appears to be a minute difference in the range of AUC scores already. Looking at the script, you can see that the average AUC is around 0.9248, so there appears to be a small increase in the AUC score.

Let's keep going and check the results for the anomaly weight of 100. Refer to Figure 4-45.

| skiearr | _creditcard_guided_search | | | | | | | | |
|----------|----------------------------------------|----------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|---------------------|-------------|----------------|--------------|
| Experime | ent ID: 16 | | Artifact Location: Sie | e:///C:/Users/Shumpu/work/Book | s/2020%20MLOps/Ch | apter%204/miruns/16 | | | |
| · Notes | - 35 | | | | | | | | |
| lione | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R | brs: parameters anomaly_weight = "100" | | | | | | | State Active - | Search Clear |
| Showing | S matching runs Company Delete | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | Courses |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrics | | |
| | Start Time | Fun Name | User | Source | Version | anomsly_weight | Laur, scare | eval_acc | train_act |
| | @ 2003-05-14 10-44.32 | | Shumpu | C'User/Shungu/Aras | | 100 | 0.995 | 0.99 | 0.969 |
| 0 | @ 2023-09-14 16-44.34 | | Shumpu | C'Useri/Shumpu/Anar | | 100 | 0.940 | 0.991 | 0.991 |
| 0 | @ 2020-06-14 16-44-33 | | Shumpu | Critisers/Shumps/Anar | | 100 | 0.527 | 0.99 | 0.989 |
| 1.1 | | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16-44-31 | | Shunpu | C'Useri\Shumpu\Aras | | 100 | 0.921 | 0.991 | 0.99 |

Figure 4-45. Filtering the runs by an anomaly weight of 100 and setting the AUC score to display in descending order

The average this time appears to be 0.9327. Despite the massive increase in weight, the average AUC score did not go up that high. However, notice that the first result with an AUC score of 0.995 has appeared. The best AUC score up until the anomaly weight of 50 was 0.975, but this anomaly weight setting has broken past that.

Let's keep going and see if it increases with an anomaly weight setting of 150. Refer to Figure 4-46A.

| | _creditcard_guided_search | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------|--------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------|----------|---------------------------------------------|------------|
| Experime | t ID : 16 | | Artifact Location: 110 | :///C./Users/Shampu/work/Bock | s/2020%20MLOy | os/Chapter%204/miruns/16 | | | | | |
| · Notes | 8 | | | | | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Search R. | ns: parameters anomaly_weight = "190" | | | | | | | @ State: | Active - | Searc | Clear |
| Showing 5 | matching runs Company Deloto | Download CSV 🛓 | | | | | | | 0 | = | (8 Columns |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metria | | | | |
| | Start Time | Puri Name | User | Source | Weston | Parameters anomaly_weight | Metrica 1 auc.jacore | enit,au | | 1100.0 | er. |
| 0 | Start Time @ 2000-05-14 16-44:17 | Puri Name | Uner Shumpa | Source | Wession | Parameters anomaly_selight 150 | Metrics 1 aux, score 0.998 | eval_acc 0.985 | | train_a 0.985 | et. |
| 0 | Start Time @ 2000-05-14 16-46 17 @ 2000-05-14 16-46 19 | Pain Name | User Shumpu Shumpu | Source | Version | Parameters anomaly_aveight 150 150 | Metrica 1 aux, score 0.995 0.541 | evil_atz 6.985 6.987 | | train_a 0.965 | EE. |
| | Start Tone @ 2000/05.14 19:44:17 @ 2000/05.14 19:44:19 @ 2000/05.14 19:44:19 | Pun Nation | User Shanpa Shanpa Shanpa Shanpa | Source CrOserriShumpu'Anac CrOserriShumpu'Anac CrOserriShumpu'Anac | Version | Parameters anomaly_weight 150 150 530 | Metrics 1 suc_score 0.998 0.941 0.925 | evel, acc 0.985 0.987 0.905 | | 0.965 0.965 0.963 | et. |
| | Start Time © 2000-05-14 16-44 31 © 2000-05-14 16-44 39 © 2000-05-14 16-44 39 © 2000-05-14 16-44 36 | Rat Name | Uter Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou Shunou | Source CrosentShuepuNana CrosentShuepuNana CrosentShuepuNana CrosentShuepuNana | Version • • | Parameters anomaly_meight 150 130 130 130 | Mebics i Auc.,score 0.995 0.941 0.925 0.919 | reiLac 0.985 0.987 0.905 0.905 | | train_a 0.985 0.985 0.983 0.983 | er. |

Figure 4-46A. Filtering the runs by an anomaly weight of 150 and setting the AUC score to display in descending order

The AUC scores overall seem to be a bit higher. Indeed, the average AUC score is now 0.9365, so there was an increase. Finally, let's check the AUC scores for an anomaly weight setting of 200. Refer to Figure 4-46B.

| sklearn | _creditcard_guided_search | | | | | | | | |
|----------------|--------------------------------------|--------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------|---------|-----------------|--------------|-----------------|--------------|
| Experimen | e 10 : 16 | | Atflact Location: Ne:///C./Usars/Shumpu/wsik/Books/2020%20MLOgs/Chapter%204/misura/16 | | | | | | |
| Notes None | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| Search Ru | ns: parameters anomaly_weight = "200 | ŕ | | | | | | State: Active - | Search Clear |
| Showing 5 | matching runs Compare Delot | Download CSV | | | | | | | Columns |
| | | | | | | Parameters | Metrica | | |
| 0 | Start Time | PunName | User | Source | Version | anomaly, weight | 4 auc, score | eval, asc | train_acc |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16-66-42 | | Shungu | Critises/Shumps/Anal | | 200 | 0.99 | 0.981 | 0.98 |
| | @ 2023-09-14 16-4441 | 1. C | Shumpu | C'User/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.945 | 0.965 | 0.964 |
| 0 | @ 2023-05-14 16:44.44 | | Shumpu | C/User/Shumps/Ane | | 200 | 0.529 | 0.963 | 0.963 |
| 0 | @ 2020-05-14 16-4643 | ÷. | Shunpu | C/User/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.523 | 0.961 | 0.979 |
| 0 | @ 2020-09-14 16-44-45 | | Shunpu | C/User/Shumps/Ana | | 200 | 0.908 | 0.982 | 0.984 |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-46B. Filtering the runs by an anomaly weight of 200 and setting the AUC score to display in descending order

The new average AUC now is 0.9396, so this anomaly weight setting seems even better.

In fact, you still weren't able to come to a conclusion about an optimal range, since the AUC scores keep increasing as you set higher anomaly weights.

So, from this, you know that the best hyperparameter setting is somewhere above 200. You simply shift the range of the scope to start at 200 and search over a slightly different area, and once you have found a good range of values to search over (eventually the AUC scores will start trending down as you increase the anomaly weight), you can narrow the focus and start searching again.

After a certain amount of precision with the parameter value, you start to see diminishing returns where the added effort only produces negligible improvements in performance, but you will likely encounter this as you start getting deeper into the decimal values.
Hopefully now you understand more about how you can integrate MLFlow into the model training, testing, and validation pipeline using scikit-learn. You also looked at how to use the UI for basic comparisons, along with how you might perform hyperparameter tuning more easily using MLFlow.

A quick note to make is that if you'd like to perform more complicated searches over multiple metrics or parameters, MLFlow provides functionality through the API to let you do so via SQL searches within the code, letting you order by multiple columns, for example.

MLFlow also provides support for logging metrics, parameters, artifacts, and even models for other frameworks in their documentation. We will now take a look at how to integrate MLFlow with TensorFlow 2.0+/ Keras, PyTorch, and PySpark.

MLFlow and Other Frameworks MLFlow with TensorFlow 2.0 (Keras)

MLFlow provides easy integration with TensorFlow 2.0+ (any version of TensorFlow 2.0 and above). To see how, let's go over a very basic example of a handwritten digit classifier model on the MNIST dataset. We will be using the built-in Keras module to keep things simple for demonstration purposes. MLFlow supports TensorFlow 1.12 at a minimum, so this code should run as long as you have at least TensorFlow 1.12.

We will assume a basic level of familiarity with TensorFlow 2, so we won't go into much depth about what the functions, model layers, optimizers, and loss functions mean.

Before we begin, here are the versions of TensorFlow, CUDA, and CuDNN that we used. Keep in mind that we ran this using the GPU version of TensorFlow (the package is called tensorflow-gpu), although you should be able to run this without a GPU at the cost of it taking longer:

- TensorFlow (GPU version) 2.3.0
- **CUDA** 10.1
- **CuDNN** v7.6.5.32 for CUDA 10.1
- Sklearn 0.22.2.post1
- MLFlow 1.10.0

Data Processing

Here is the code to import the necessary modules and print out their versions:

import tensorflow as tf **from** tensorflow.keras.models **import** Sequential from tensorflow.keras.layers import Dense, Conv2D, Flatten from tensorflow.keras.datasets import mnist import numpy as np import matplotlib import matplotlib.pyplot as plt import sklearn from sklearn.metrics import roc auc score import mlflow import mlflow.tensorflow print("TensorFlow: {}".format(tf. version)) print("Scikit-Learn: {}".format(sklearn. version)) print("Numpy: {}".format(np. version)) print("MLFlow: {}".format(mlflow. version)) print("Matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib. version))

You should see something like Figure 4-47.



Figure 4-47. Importing the necessary modules and printing their versions

Let's now load the data:

```
(x_train, y_train), (x_test, y_test) = mnist.load_data()
```

Keras, and by extension TensorFlow, provides the MNIST handwritten digit dataset for you, so all you need to do to load the data is call the function, like in Figure 4-48.

Refer to Figure 4-48 to see the code in a cell.

In [6]: 1 (x_train, y_train), (x_test, y_test) = mnist.load_data()

Figure 4-48. Defining x_train, y_train, x_test, and y_test

You can even see what one of these images looks like. Run the following:

```
plt.imshow(x_train[0], cmap='gray'), print("Class: ", y_train[0])
```

You should see something like Figure 4-49.



Figure 4-49. Looking at what one of the data samples looks like using matplotlib. You also printed out the class label associated with this sample, which was 5

Also notice that you printed out the class label associated with this specific image. The labels are all integers between 0 and 9, each associated with an image that shows a handwritten digit from 0 to 9.

Since 2D convolutional layers in TensorFlow/Keras expect four dimensions in the format of (m, h, w, c) where *m* stands for the number of samples in the dataset, *h* and *w* stand for the height and width, respectively, and *c* stands for the number of channels (three if it's an RGB color image for example), you need to reshape your data so that it conforms to these specifications. Your images are all black and white, so they technically have a channel of one. And so, you must reshape them like so:

```
x_train = x_train.reshape(x_train.shape[0], x_train.shape[1],
x_train.shape[2], 1)
x_test = x_test.reshape(x_test.shape[0], x_test.shape[1],
x_test.shape[2], 1)
y_train = tf.keras.utils.to_categorical(y_train)
y_test = tf.keras.utils.to_categorical(y_test)
```

Refer to Figure 4-50 to see that code in a cell.



Figure 4-50. Reshaping the data to include one channel, conforming with the specifications of the convolutional layers. Additionally, the y sets are being converted to one-hot encoded formats

You converted the y sets by calling a function called to_categorical(). This converts each sample from an integer value of say 2 or 4 corresponding to the digit represented by the x samples into a one-hot encoded vector.

Samples in this format are now 0 vectors with a num_classes number of digits. In other words, these vectors all have a length matching the total number of classes. Whatever value the label was is now the index of the value 1. And so, if the label is 1, the value at the index of 1 in this vector will be one, and everything else is a 0.

This may be a little confusing, so refer to Figure 4-51 to see what the one-hot encoded label looks like for a digit representing 5.

```
In [9]: 1 y_train[0]
Out[9]: array([0., 0., 0., 0., 0., 1., 0., 0., 0., 0.], dtype=float32)
```

Figure 4-51. The new output of the one-hot encoded label representing a value of 5. Notice that the value at index 5 is now 1

As you can see, the index of the 1 is 5, corresponding to the first x train example you looked at earlier, which was the digit 5.

Now, let's print out the shapes:

```
print("Shapes")
print("x_train: {}\ny_train: {}".format(x_train.shape,
y_train.shape))
print("x_test: {}\ny_test: {}".format(x_test.shape,
y_test.shape))
```

You should now see something like Figure 4-52.

Figure 4-52. Printing the output shapes of the processed data

MLFlow Run – Training and Evaluating

Let's move on to the creation of your model. You will be using the Sequential method of model creation. The model will be quite simple, consisting of a couple 2D convolutional layers that feed into three dense layers. Run the following:

```
model = Sequential()
model.add(Conv2D(filters=16, kernel_size=3, strides=2,
padding='same', input_shape=(28, 28, 1), activation="relu"))
model.add(Conv2D(filters=8, kernel_size=3, strides=2,
padding='same', input_shape=(28, 28, 1), activation="relu"))
model.add(Flatten())
model.add(Dense(30, activation="relu"))
model.add(Dense(20, activation="relu"))
model.add(Dense(10, activation="softmax"))
model.summary()
```

You should see something like Figure 4-53.

| <pre>4 model.add(Conv2D(filters=0, kernel_mine=0, strides=2, padding='some', input_shape=(20, 20, 1), activation="relu") 5 model.add(Dense(00, activation="relu")) 7 model.add(Dense(20, activation="relu")) 8 model.add(Dense(10, activation="relu")) 9 10 model.summary() 10 model.summary() </pre> | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|---------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Layer (type) conv2d (Conv2D) | Output Shape (None, 14, 14, 16) | Param # | | | | | | | | | |
| conv2d_1 (Conv2D) | (None, 7, 7, 8) | 1160 | | | | | | | | | |
| | (None 202) | 0 | | | | | | | | | |
| flatten (Flatten) | (NODE, 352) | | | | | | | | | | |
| flatten (Flatten) dense (Dense) | (None, 30) | 11790 | | | | | | | | | |
| flatten (Flatten) dense (Dense) dense_1 (Dense) | (None, 20) | 11790 620 | | | | | | | | | |
| flatten (Flatten) dense (Dense) dense_1 (Dense) dense_2 (Dense) Total accession 12.040 | (None, 30) (None, 20) (None, 10) | 11790 620 210 | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 4-53. Creating the model and outputting a summary of the model's architecture

Let's now compile your model using the Adam optimizer and categorical cross-entropy for your loss. For your metric, you will only be using accuracy. Run the following:

```
model.compile(optimizer="Adam",
loss="categorical_crossentropy", metrics=["accuracy"])
```

You should see something like Figure 4-54.

In [15]: 1 model.compile(optimizer="Adam", loss="categorical_crossentropy", metrics=["accuracy"])

Figure 4-54. Compiling your model, setting the optimizer to Adam optimizer, setting the loss to categorical cross-entropy, and setting the metric to be accuracy

Now you get to the part where you tell MLFlow to log this run. You want all of the metrics to be logged to the same run, so you must tell MLFlow specifically to run a block of code in the context of the same run. To do so, you once again block your code using the following line:

```
with mlflow.start_run():
```

With that, run the following to set the experiment name, train the model, get the evaluation metrics you need, and log them all to MLFlow:

```
mlflow.set_experiment("TF_Keras_MNIST")
with mlflow.start_run():
    mlflow.tensorflow.autolog()
    model.fit(x=x_train, y=y_train, batch_size=256, epochs=10)
    preds = model.predict(x_test)
    preds = np.round(preds)
    eval_acc = model.evaluate(x_test, y_test)[1]
    auc_score = roc_auc_score(y_test, preds)
    print("eval_acc: ", eval_acc)
    print("auc_score: ", auc_score)
    mlflow.tensorflow.mlflow.log_metric("eval_acc", eval_acc)
    mlflow.tensorflow.mlflow.log_metric("auc_score", auc_score)
```

```
mlflow.end_run()
```

Refer to Figure 4-55 to see the output. Ignore the warning messages. They don't hinder the training process or the performance of the model.

```
In [9]: 1 mlflow.set_experiment("TF_Keras_MNIST")
        3 with mlflow.start run():
            mlflow.tensorflow.autolog()
           model.fit(x=x_train, y=y_train, batch_size=256, epochs=10)
preds = model.predict(x_test)
preds = np.round(preds)
           eval_acc = model.evaluate(x_test, y_test)[1]
auc_score = roc_auc_score(y_test, preds)
            print("eval_acc: ", eval_acc)
print("auc_score: ", auc_score)
            mlflow.tensorflow.mlflow.log_metric("eval_acc", eval_acc)
mlflow.tensorflow.mlflow.log_metric("auc_score", auc_score)
      18 mlflow.tenso

19

20 mlflow.end_run()
      INFO: 'IF Keras_MNIST' does not exist. Creating a new experiment French 1/10
      End
         ch 3/10
      235/235 [=
Epoch 4/10
                    ------ - 1s 6ms/step - loss: 0.1542 - accuracy: 0.9544
      235/235 [==
                   235/235 [=
Epoch 6/10
                    ------ - 1s 6ms/step - loss: 0.0903 - accuracy: 0.9730
                   235/235 [==
           7/10
      235/235 [=
Epoch 8/10
                       ------ - 1s 6ms/step - loss: 0.0649 - accuracy: 0.9803
      Epoch 9/10
235/235 [=====
Epoch 9/10
235/235 [====
                     Epoch 10/10
      auc_score: 0.986283036190461
```

Figure 4-55. Output of the MLFlow run and the training process. You can also see that the metrics you calculated have been updated

Another new line of code is the following:

mlflow.keras.autolog()

This basically tells MLFlow to log all the parameters and metrics associated with the particular TensorFlow/Keras model. As you will see shortly, MLFlow will log the hyperparameters, model metrics listed in the compile() function, and even the model itself once the training has finished.

MLFlow UI – Checking Your Run

With that, let's now open the MLFlow UI and check your run in MLFlow. Make sure your terminal or command prompt is in the same directory where the mlruns are stored. Usually, MLFlow saves all these runs in the same directory of the Jupyter notebook.

Now that you've opened the UI, you should see something like Figure 4-56.



Figure 4-56. The MLFlow UI after running the TensorFlow experiment. Notice that there is a new experiment titled TF_Keras_MNIST

Click the tab called TF_Keras_MNIST to see the results of the experiment you just logged. You should see something like Figure 4-57.



Figure 4-57. Opening the experiment titled TF_Keras_MNIST. You can see that it successfully logged a run

As you can see, your run was just successfully logged. Next, click it to explore all of the parameters, metrics, and artifacts that MLFlow logged.

| mlflow = | iperments Nodels | | | |
|--------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------|
| TF_Keras_MNIST | > Run ba423a8f28d24b67b8t | 1703ca6be43fc2 • | | |
| Cate: 2020-08-02-00:06 | 12 | | Searce : C C Users/Shumpi/Araconda2/anvs/p30/ibiate-packages/py/kensi_launchar.py | User: Shumpu |
| Duration: 21.94 | | | Status: FINISHED | |
| a lines of | | | | |
| - 10,005 | | | | |
| None | | | | |
| Parameters | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | |
| batch_size | 256 | | | |
| spochs | 10 | | | |
| opt_amograd | False | | | |
| opt_beta_1 | 0.9 | | | |
| opt_beta_2 | 0.999 | | | |
| opt_decay | 0.0 | | | |
| opt_epolion | 10-07 | | | |
| opt_learning_rate | 0.001 | | | |
| oot_same | Adam | | | |
| | | | | |
| Metrics | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | |
| accuracy let | 0.925 | | | |
| aut_score let | 0.986 | | | |
| eval_acc kd | 0.977 | | | |
| ions lat | 0.25 | | | |

You should see something like Figure 4-58.

Figure 4-58. Looking at the specific run logged in the experiment. As you can see, all the parameters and metrics were logged, even the one you specified. It also shows you the duration and the status of the run, so now you know how long it took to train the model as well as whether or not it completed MLFlow saved all of the hyperparameters used when creating the model. This could be very useful for hyperparameter tuning on a validation set, for example, where you are trying to tune many hyperparameters at once. For example, you can definitely tune batch_size, epochs, or something related to the Adam optimizer like opt_learning_rate, opt_beta_1, or opt_beta_2.

As you can see in Figure 4-58, MLFlow saved the model metrics for accuracy and loss as calculated during the training process. In addition, MLFlow also saved the metrics that you defined.

Scroll down to artifacts and click model and then data. You should see something like Figure 4-59.



Figure 4-59. Upon closer inspection of the artifacts, it seems MLFlow has also logged the model itself

Here, you can see that MLFlow also saved the model after the training process finished. In fact, let's briefly look at how you can load this model. Make sure you go to the top and copy the run ID before doing this.

Loading an MLFlow Model

With the run ID copied, head on over to the notebook and create a new cell. Run the following code, but replace the run ID with yours:

```
loaded_model =
mlflow.keras.load_model("runs:/YOUR_RUN_ID/model")
```

Your code should look similar to Figure 4-60. Our run was ba423a8f28d24b67b8f703ca6be43fc2, so that's what we replaced YOUR_RUN_ID with.

In [16]: 1 loaded_model = mlflow.keras.load_model("runs:/ba423a8f28d24b67b8f703ca6be43fc2/model")

Figure 4-60. Loading a logged model using a specific run. Notice that we are doing mlflow.keras. This is because the model is technically a Keras model

You'll notice that we did mlflow.keras instead of mlflow.tensorflow. This is because this model is technically a Keras model, and so it conforms to the specific load_model() code in the mlflow.keras module.

Run the following code to quickly calculate the same evaluation metrics that you logged earlier:

```
eval_loss, eval_acc = loaded_model.evaluate(x_test, y_test)
preds = loaded_model.predict(x_test)
preds = np.round(preds)
eval_auc = roc_auc_score(y_test, preds)
print("Eval Loss:", eval_loss)
print("Eval Acc:", eval_acc)
print("Eval AUC:", eval auc)
```

This just ensures that the model is the same and demonstrates that you can use the model to make predictions. Refer to Figure 4-61 to see the output.

Figure 4-61. The output of the code block printing out the loss, accuracy, and AUC score when the model was evaluated on the test set. These three values match the corresponding values from the output of the run earlier

As you can see, this output matches the values from the output of the run earlier. Additionally, this model is also functional and can make predictions.

And with that, you now know how to integrate MLFlow into your TensorFlow 2.0+ experiments. Again, MLFlow supports TensorFlow 1.12+, which also contains the Keras submodule. This means that you should be able to follow the same convention to log tf.keras module code as long as you have TensorFlow 1.12+.

In practice, you are likely to have functions to build and compile the model, functions to train the model, and functions to evaluate and perhaps even validate the model. Just be sure to call all of them in the block with mlflow.start_run(): so that MLFlow knows all of this is happening within the same run.

Next, let's look at how to integrate MLFlow with PyTorch.

MLFlow with PyTorch

MLFlow also provides integration with PyTorch. While the process isn't as easy as with Keras or TensorFlow, integrating MLFlow into your existing PyTorch code is quite simple. To see how to do so, we will be exploring a simple convolutional neural network applied to the MNIST dataset once again.

Before we begin, here are the versions of the modules we are using, including CUDA and CuDNN:

- **Torch** 1.6.0
- **Torchvision** 0.7.0
- **CUDA** 10.1
- **CuDNN** v7.6.5.32 for CUDA 10.1
- Sklearn 0.22.2.post1
- MLFlow 1.10.0
- **numpy –** 1.18.5

Data Processing

Let's get started. Here's the code to import the necessary modules, print out their versions, and set the device that PyTorch will use:

```
import torch
import torch.nn as nn
from torch.utils import data
import torchvision
import torchvision.datasets
import sklearn
from sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, accuracy_score
import numpy as np
import mlflow
import mlflow.pytorch
device = torch.device("cuda:0" if torch.cuda.is_available()
else "cpu")
```

```
print("PyTorch: {}".format(torch.__version__))
print("torchvision: {}".format(torchvision.__version__))
print("sklearn: {}".format(sklearn.__version__))
print("MLFlow: {}".format(mlflow.__version__))
print("Numpy: {}".format(np.__version__))
print("Device: ", device)
```

Refer to Figure 4-62 to see the output.

```
In [1]:
    1 import torch
    2 import torch.nn as nn
    3 from torch.utils import data
    import torchuisia import data
    import torchuisian
    import torchvisian
    import torchvisian
    import torchvisian
    import sklearn
    from sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, accuracy_score
    inimport nutpy as np
    import niflow
    import niflow.pytorch
    import niflow.pytorch
    if device = torch.device("cudsi0" if torch.cuda.is_available() else "cpu")
    print("PyTorch: ()".format(torch._version_))
    print("forchvisian: ()".format(torch._version_))
    print("klearn: ()".format(torch._version_))
    print("klearn: ()".format(torch._version_))
    print("klear: ', device)
    PyTorch: 1.6.0
    torchvision: 0.7.0
    sklear: 0.0.0
    Numpy: 1.36.5
    Device: cudat0
```

Figure 4-62. Importing the necessary modules and printing the versions of the modules

The line of code

```
device = torch.device("cuda:0" if torch.cuda.is_available()
else "cpu")
```

tells PyTorch which device to run the code on. If there is a GPU that CUDA can connect to, it will use that instead. Otherwise, it will run everything on the CPU. In our case, we have CUDA set up with our GPU, so Torch displays "cuda:0" as seen in Figure 4-62.

Next, you will define some basic hyperparameters:

```
batch_size = 256
num_classes = 10
learning_rate = 0.001
```

Refer to Figure 4-63 to see them in a cell.

In [2]: 1 batch_size = 256
2 num_classes = 10
3 learning_rate = 0.001

Figure 4-63. Setting the hyperparameters relevant to the training of the model

Next, you will load in the MNIST dataset. Like Keras and TensorFlow, PyTorch also provides example datasets. In this case, you are loading MNIST:

```
train_set = torchvision.datasets.MNIST(root='./data',
train=True, download=True, transform=None)
test_set = torchvision.datasets.MNIST(root='./data',
train=False, download=True, transform=None)
```

Refer to Figure 4-64 to see this code in a cell.

In [3]: 1 train_set = torchvision.datasets.MNIST(root='./data', train=True, download=True, transform=None)
2 test_set = torchvision.datasets.MNIST(root='./data', train=False, download=True, transform=None)

Figure 4-64. Defining the training and testing sets by loading the data from PyTorch

You will now define your x_train, y_train, x_test, and y_test datasets:

```
x_train, y_train = train_set.data, train_set.targets
x test, y test = test set.data, test set.targets
```

Refer to Figure 4-65.

```
In [65]: 1 x_train, y_train = train_set.data, train_set.targets
2 x_test, y_test = test_set.data, test_set.targets
```

Figure 4-65. Creating your x_train, y_train, x_test, and y_test data sets from the training and testing sets

In PyTorch, you want the data to be channels first. In other words, the format of the data should be (m, c, h, w), where *m* stands for the number of samples, *c* stands for the number of channels, *h* stands for the height of the samples, and *w* stands for the width of the samples.

Notice that this is the "opposite" format of how Keras and TensorFlow do it by default, which is channels last. In Keras and TensorFlow, you can also do channels first, but you must specify that you are doing it this way.

Let's reshape your x-sets:

```
x_train, y_train = train_set.data, train_set.targets
x test, y test = test set.data, test set.targets
```

Refer to Figure 4-66 to see this code in a cell.

```
In [5]: 1 x_train = x_train.reshape(x_train.shape[0], 1, x_train.shape[1], x_train.shape[2])
2 x_test = x_test.reshape(x_test.shape[0], 1, x_test.shape[1], x_test.shape[2])
```

Figure 4-66. Reshaping the x-sets so the data is encoded in a channels-first format

Before you print out all the shapes, note that your y-sets are not in a one-hot encoded format. Run the following:

```
y_train[0]
```

Refer to Figure 4-67.

```
In [6]: 1 y_train[0]
Out[6]: tensor(5)
```

Figure 4-67. The output of the first sample in the y_train set. Note that the numbers are not in a one-hot encoded format

Notice that this outputs a number, not a vector. You must convert your y-sets into a one-hot encoded format. However, there isn't a handy function like keras.utils.to_categorical() you can just call, so you will define one:

```
def to_one_hot(num_classes, labels):
    one_hot = torch.zeros(([labels.shape[0], num_classes]))
    for f in range(len(labels)):
        one_hot[f][labels[f]] = 1
```

return one_hot

That being said, you can always call keras.utils.to_categorical(): and type-cast the resulting output to a PyTorch tensor.

Refer to Figure 4-68 to see this in a cell.

Figure 4-68. A custom function that converts the input called "labels," given the number of classes, into a one-hot encoded format and returns it

Now let's convert your y-sets to be in a one-hot encoded format:

```
y_train = to_one_hot(num_classes, y_train)
y_test = to_one_hot(num_classes, y_test)
```

Refer to Figure 4-69 to see this code in a cell.

In [8]: 1 y_train = to_one_hot(num_classes, y_train)
2 y_test = to_one_hot(num_classes, y_test)

Figure 4-69. Converting your y-sets into a one-hot encoded format using your custom function

Let's check what y_train looks like now:

y_train[0]

Refer to Figure 4-70.

```
In [70]: 1 y_train[0]
Out[70]: tensor([0., 0., 0., 0., 0., 1., 0., 0., 0., 0.])
```

Figure 4-70. Checking the output of the first sample in y_train, you now see that the tensor has been converted into a one-hot encoded format

As you can see, it is now in a one-hot encoded format. Now you can proceed to checking the shapes of your data sets:

```
print("Shapes")
print("x_train: {}\ny_train: {}".format(x_train.shape,
y_train.shape))
print("x_test: {}\ny_test: {}".format(x_test.shape,
y test.shape))
```

You should see something like Figure 4-71.

```
In [71]: 1 print("Shapes")
2 print("%_train: ()\ny_train: ()".format(x_train.shape, y_train.shape))
3 print("%_rest: ()\ny_test: ()".format(x_test.shape, y_test.shape))
4
Shapes
% train: torch.Size([60000, 1, 28, 28])
y_train: torch.Size([60000, 10])
%_est: torch.Size([10000, 10])
```

Figure 4-71. Printing the shapes of your training and testing sets. As you can see, the x-sets are in a channels-first format, and the y-sets are in a one-hot encoded format

MLFlow Run – Training and Evaluating

Now, let's define your model. A popular convention in PyTorch is to define the model as a class since it allows you to much more easily use the GPU while training. Instead of passing in every layer to the GPU, you can just send in the model object directly.

Run the following code to define your model:

```
class model(nn.Module):
    def init (self):
        super(model, self). init ()
        # IN 1x28x28 OUT 16x14x14
        self.conv1 = nn.Conv2d(in channels=1, out channels=16,
        kernel size=3, stride=2, padding=1, dilation=1)
        # IN 16x14x14 OUT 32x6x6
        self.conv2 = nn.Conv2d(in channels=16, out channels=32,
        kernel size=3, stride=2, padding=0, dilation=1)
        # IN 32x6x6 OUT 64x2x2
        self.conv3 = nn.Conv2d(in channels=32, out channels=64,
        kernel size=3, stride=2, padding=0, dilation=1)
        # IN 64x2x2 OUT 256
        self.flat1 = nn.Flatten()
        self.dense1 = nn.Linear(in features=256,
        out features=128)
        self.dense2 = nn.Linear(in features=128,
        out features=64)
        self.dense3 = nn.Linear(in features=64,
        out features=10)
    def forward(self, x):
        x = self.conv1(x)
        x = nn.ReLU()(x)
```

x = self.conv2(x) x = nn.ReLU()(x) x = self.conv3(x) x = nn.ReLU()(x) x = self.flat1(x) x = self.dense1(x) x = nn.ReLU()(x) x = self.dense2(x) x = nn.ReLU()(x) x = self.dense3(x) x = nn.Softmax()(x) return x

Refer to Figure 4-72.



Figure 4-72. Defining the model's architecture as a class

Next, let's send your model to the device, define and initialize an instance of Adam optimizer with the learning rate you set earlier, and set your loss function:

```
model = model().to(device)
optimizer = torch.optim.Adam(model.parameters(),
lr=learning_rate)
criterion = nn.BCELoss()
```

Refer to Figure 4-73.

```
In [15]: 1 model = model().to(device)
2 optimizer = torch.optim.Adam(model.parameters(), lr=learning_rate)
3 oriterion = nn.SCLloss()
```

Figure 4-73. Sending the model object to the device, defining your optimizer, and initializing the loss function

Next, you will define a data loader using functionality provided by PyTorch to take care of batching your data set:

```
dataset = data.TensorDataset(x_train,y_train)
train_loader = data.DataLoader(dataset, batch_size=batch_size)
```

Refer to Figure 4-74.

In [14]: 1 dataset = data.TensorDataset(x_train,y_train)
2 train_loader = data.DataLoader(dataset, batch_size=batch_size)

Figure 4-74. Creating a data loader object out of your data set. With this functionality, PyTorch will batch your data set for you, allowing you to pass in a minibatch at a time in your training loop. This essentially is what the TensorFlow 2/Keras .fit() function does, but it's all abstracted for you

As you can see, this is much simpler than having to make an intricate loop to batch and pass in data yourself.

Finally, let's define the training loop:

```
num_epochs = 5
for f in range(num_epochs):
    for batch_num, minibatch in enumerate(train_loader):
        minibatch_x, minibatch_y = minibatch[0], minibatch[1]
        output = model.forward(torch.Tensor
        (minibatch_x.float()).cuda())
        loss = criterion(output, torch.Tensor
        (minibatch_y.float()).cuda())
        optimizer.zero_grad()
        loss.backward()
        optimizer.step()
        print(f"Epoch {f} Batch_Num {batch_num} Loss {loss}")
```

This can take at least a couple minutes depending on your GPU, and even longer if you're using a CPU. Feel free to lower the number of epochs if you'd like to decrease total training time.

You should see an output like Figure 4-75.



Figure 4-75. Output of your training loop. Feel free to reduce the number of epochs to save on training time, but this could potentially hinder the model's performance

Now, let's start an MLFlow run, calculate the metrics you want, and log everything:

```
mlflow.set_experiment("PyTorch_MNIST")
```

```
with mlflow.start_run():
```

```
preds = model.forward(torch.Tensor(x_test.float()).cuda())
preds = np.round(preds.detach().cpu().numpy())
eval_acc = accuracy_score(y_test, preds)
auc_score = roc_auc_score(y_test, preds)
mlflow.log_param("batch_size", batch_size)
mlflow.log_param("num_epochs", num_epochs)
mlflow.log_param("learning_rate", learning_rate)
```

```
mlflow.log_metric("eval_acc", eval_acc)
mlflow.log_metric("auc_score", auc_score)
print("eval_acc: ", eval_acc)
print("auc_score: ", auc_score)
mlflow.pytorch.log_model(model, "PyTorch_MNIST")
mlflow.end run()
```

As you can see, MLFlow integration is still quite easy with PyTorch. Refer to Figure 4-76 to see the output.



Figure 4-76. Setting the experiment, and logging the parameters, metrics, and the model to the MLFlow run

MLFlow UI – Checking Your Run

Let's open up the UI. Refer to Figure 4-77.



Figure 4-77. Looking at the MLFlow UI now. Notice that your experiment, PyTorch_MNIST, is created

As you can see, there is a new experiment titled PyTorch_MNIST. Click it. You should now see the run you just completed. Refer to Figure 4-78.



Figure 4-78. The MLFlow UI showing your completed run

Now that your run has shown up, click it. You should see all the parameters and metrics logged in that run. Refer to Figure 4-79.

| June Carrier A | Run 094a9f92cd714711 | 1926114b4c96f6d73 - | | |
|-----------------------|----------------------|---------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------|
| uta: 2020-08-02 17:17 | 21 | | $Searce: \ \ \square \ C. \\ Ubors'Shumpu'Anscenda 2 envs'p \\ Shidolate-packages' pykemel_bancher.py \\$ | User: Shumpu |
| uration: 464ms | | | Status: FRISHED | |
| Notes 🗠 | | | | |
| icre | | | | |
| Parameters | | | | |
| Nama | Value | | | |
| batch size | 256 | | | |
| learning_rate | 0.001 | | | |
| num_epochs | \$ | | | |
| | | | | |
| Metrics | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | |
| auc_score Md | 0.989 | | | |
| eval_acc left | 0.98 | | | |
| | | | | |
| Tags | | | | |
| Name | Value | Actians | | |
| | No tago found. | | | |
| Add Teg | | | | |
| | | Add | | |

Figure 4-79. All the parameters, metrics, and artifacts (the model) you specified have been logged

Also notice the model that's been saved by MLFlow under artifacts. Refer to Figure 4-80.

| Tags | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Name | Value | Actiona | | | |
| | No tags found | | | | |
| NOC TAG | | | | | |
| | | Add | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Addix/3 | | | | | |
| PyTorch_MN | GT | Full Path: No.11C Alsons/Shomparoot/So | eks/2020%20MLOps/Chapter%204/minu | w/3/094a090cd714711926114b4c906d73fantacts/Pyflorch_MNET/dota | |
| B model p B posta B ML model B conda yan | e nodulu_into tut i | Dex 10 | | | |
| | | | æ. | Select a file to preview upported formats: image, test, tens, pot, geopon tiles. | |
| | | | | | |

Figure 4-80. MLFlow has successfully logged the model as well

Loading an MLFlow Model

Let's now go over how to load this model using MLFlow. Copy the run ID, and head back to the notebook. Run the following, but replace the placeholders with your run ID:

```
loaded_model = mlflow.pytorch.load_model("runs:/YOUR_RUN_ID/
PyTorch_MNIST")
```

In our case, our run ID was 094a9f92cd714711926114b4c96f6d73, so our code looks like Figure 4-81.



Figure 4-81. Loading the logged MLFlow model

Now that's done, so let's make predictions and calculate the metrics again:

```
preds = loaded_model.forward(torch.Tensor(x_test.float()).
cuda())
preds = np.round(preds.detach().cpu().numpy())
eval_acc = accuracy_score(y_test, preds)
auc_score = roc_auc_score(y_test, preds)
print("eval_acc: ", eval_acc)
print("auc_score: ", auc_score)
```

Refer to Figure 4-82 to see the output.



Figure 4-82. The output of calculating the evaluation metrics from earlier but with the logged model. As you can see, the scores match exactly

As you can see, these metrics are the same as from the training run. You now know how to load a PyTorch model using MLFlow and how you can use it to make predictions.

With that, you now know how to integrate MLFlow into your PyTorch experiments. Next, we will look at how you can integrate MLFlow into PySpark.

MLFlow with PySpark

In our final example, we will look at how MLFlow integrates with PySpark. Like in the scikit-learn example, we will be looking at the application of a logistic regression model to the credit card dataset. In fact, this code is very similar to the PySpark example from Chapter 2.

Before we begin, here are the versions of the modules we are using, including CUDA and CuDNN:

- **PySpark** 2.4.5
- Matplotlib 3.2.1
- Sklearn 0.22.2.post1
- MLFlow 1.10.0
- **mumpy** 1.18.5

Data Processing

With that, let's get started. First, you must import all the necessary modules and set up some variables for Spark:

```
import pyspark #
from pyspark.sql import SparkSession
from pyspark import SparkConf, SparkContext
from pyspark.sql.types import *
from pyspark.ml.feature import VectorAssembler
from pyspark.ml import Pipeline
from pyspark.ml.classification import LogisticRegression
import pyspark.sql.functions as F
import os
import seaborn as sns
import sklearn #
from sklearn.metrics import confusion matrix
from sklearn.metrics import roc auc score, accuracy score
import matplotlib #
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
import mlflow
import mlflow.spark
os.environ["SPARK LOCAL IP"]='127.0.0.1'
spark = SparkSession.builder.master("local[*]").getOrCreate()
spark.sparkContext. conf.getAll()
print("pyspark: {}".format(pyspark. version ))
print("matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib. version ))
print("seaborn: {}".format(sns. version ))
print("sklearn: {}".format(sklearn. version ))
print("mlflow: {}".format(mlflow. version ))
```

Refer to Figure 4-83.



Figure 4-83. Importing the necessary modules and printing their versions

Next, let's load your data set and specify what columns you want to take:

```
data_path = 'data/creditcard.csv'
df = spark.read.csv(data_path, header = True,
inferSchema = True)
labelColumn = "Class"
columns = df.columns
numericCols = columns
numericCols.remove("Time")
numericCols.remove(labelColumn)
print(numericCols)
```

Refer to Figure 4-84 to see the output.



Figure 4-84. Loading the data and specifying the columns that you want as a list

Notice that you dropped the column Time here, like with the scikitlearn example. This column just adds a lot of extraneous information that doesn't actually correlate very much with the label column and could even possibly make the learning task harder than it needs to be.

Let's see what the data frame looks like:

```
df.toPandas().head()
```

Refer to Figure 4-85 to see the output.

| | Time | 8 | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | V8 | V9 | | V21 | V22 | V23 | V24 | 1 |
|---|------|---|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|--------|
| (|) | 0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2.536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | | -0.018307 | 0.277838 | -0.110474 | 0.066928 | 0.128 |
| 1 | | 0 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.166480 | 0.448154 | 0.050018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0 255425 | | -0 225775 | -0.638672 | 0.101288 | -0.339846 | 0.167 |
| | 1 | 1 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | *** | 0.247998 | 0.771679 | 0.909412 | -0.689281 | -0.327 |
| | 3 | 1 | -0.966272 | -0.185226 | 1.792993 | -0.863291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | | -0.108300 | 0.005274 | -0.190321 | -1.175575 | 0.647 |
| | | 2 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | | -0.009431 | 0.798278 | -0.137458 | 0.141267 | -0.206 |

Figure 4-85. Converting the Spark data frame to Pandas and checking the output. As you can see, the columns have loaded in correctly, along with the data. The column Time has not been dropped because you did not filter the data frame yet

You'll notice that the columns you "dropped" are still showing up, like Time. You haven't filtered the columns you want yet, which you are going to do now. Run the following to select the features you want from the data frame and create your normal and anomaly splits:

```
stages = []
assemblerInputs = numericCols
assembler = VectorAssembler(inputCols=assemblerInputs,
outputCol="features")
stages += [assembler]
dfFeatures = df.select(F.col(labelColumn).alias('label'),
*numericCols )
normal = dfFeatures.filter("Class == 0").
sample(withReplacement=False, fraction=0.5, seed=2020)
anomaly = dfFeatures.filter("Class == 1")
normal_train, normal_test = normal.randomSplit([0.8, 0.2],
seed = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = anomaly.randomSplit([0.8, 0.2],
seed = 2020)
```

Refer to Figure 4-86 to see the code in a cell.



Figure 4-86. Selecting the columns that you want and defining your normal and anomaly train and test sets

Let's look at the new data frame now:

dfFeatures.toPandas().head()

Refer to Figure 4-87.

| label | V1 | V2 | V3 | V4 | V5 | V6 | V7 | V8 | V9 | V20 | V21 | V22 | V23 | V |
|-------|-----------|-----------|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|---------|
| 0 0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2.536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | 0.251412 | -0.018307 | 0.277838 | -0.110474 | 0.0665 |
| 0 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.166480 | 0.448154 | 0.060018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0.255425 | -0.069083 | -0.225775 | -0.638672 | 0.101288 | -0.3398 |
| 2 0 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | 0.524980 | 0.247998 | 0.771679 | 0.909412 | -0.6892 |
| 3 0 | -0.966272 | -0.185226 | 1.792993 | -0.863291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | -0.208038 | -0.108300 | 0.005274 | -0.190321 | -1.1755 |
| 1 0 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | 0.408542 | -0.009431 | 0.798278 | -0.137458 | 0.1412 |

Figure 4-87. As you can see, Time has been dropped. This is the data frame that your training and testing sets are derived from

Notice that the columns you dropped are gone. Now you know that normal and anomaly don't have the features you dropped either and that everything is proceeding as planned. Let's create the train and test sets:

```
train_set = normal_train.union(anomaly_train)
test_set = normal_test.union(anomaly_test)
```

Refer to Figure 4-88.

In [6]: 1 train_set = normal_train.union(anomaly_train)
2 test_set = normal_test.union(anomaly_test)

Figure 4-88. Concatenating the normal and anomaly sets to create the train and test sets

Let's now move on to creating the feature vector that the logistic regression model is going to use. Run the following to define the pipeline and create your final train and test sets:

```
pipeline = Pipeline(stages = stages)
pipelineModel = pipeline.fit(dfFeatures)
train_set = pipelineModel.transform(train_set)
```

```
test_set = pipelineModel.transform(test_set)
selectedCols = ['label', 'features'] + numericCols
train_set = train_set.select(selectedCols)
test_set = test_set.select(selectedCols)
```

```
print("Training Dataset Count: ", train_set.count())
print("Test Dataset Count: ", test_set.count())
```

Refer to Figure 4-89.



Figure 4-89. Defining the pipeline used to create the feature vector that will be used to train the model. From the feature vector and the label vector, you define your final train and test sets

Now that you've finished processing the data, let's define a function to train the model and calculate some relevant metrics:

```
def train(spark_model, train_set):
    trained_model = spark_model.fit(train_set)
    trainingSummary = trained_model.summary
    pyspark_auc_score = trainingSummary.areaUnderROC
    mlflow.log_metric("train_acc", trainingSummary.accuracy)
    mlflow.log_metric("train_AUC", pyspark_auc_score)
    print("Training Accuracy: ", trainingSummary.accuracy)
    print("Training AUC:", pyspark_auc_score)
    return trained model
```
Refer to Figure 4-90 to see the function in a cell.



Figure 4-90. The code to train the PySpark logistic regression model and log the training accuracy and AUC score metrics

Let's now define a function to evaluate the model and calculate those metrics, too:

```
def evaluate(spark_model, test_set):
    evaluation_summary = spark_model.evaluate(test_set)
    eval_acc = evaluation_summary.accuracy
    eval_AUC = evaluation_summary.areaUnderROC
    mlflow.log_metric("eval_acc", eval_acc)
    mlflow.log_metric("eval_AUC", eval_AUC)
    print("Evaluation Accuracy: ", eval_acc)
    print("Evaluation AUC: ", eval_AUC)
```

Refer to Figure 4-91.



Figure 4-91. The code to evaluate the trained PySpark logistic regression model and log the evaluation accuracy and AUC score metrics

MLFlow Run – Training, UI, and Loading an MLFlow Model

Now that you have finished defining the training and evaluation functions along with the metrics you want to log, it's time to start an MLFlow run and build a model:

```
lr = LogisticRegression(featuresCol = 'features', labelCol =
'label', maxIter=10)
mlflow.set_experiment("PySpark_CreditCard")
with mlflow.start_run():
    trainedLR = train(lr, train_set)
    evaluate(trainedLR, test_set)
    mlflow.spark.log_model(trainedLR,
    "creditcard_model_pyspark")
```

```
mlflow.end_run()
```

Refer to Figure 4-92.



Figure 4-92. The output of the MLFlow run. The experiment has been created and the metrics and model successfully logged

Alright, now that MLFlow has finished logging everything and the run has ended, open up the MLFlow UI. You should see something like Figure 4-93.



Figure 4-93. The MLFlow UI showing that your experiment, PySpark_CreditCard, has been created

Notice that a new experiment called PySpark_CreditCard has been created. Click it, and you should see something like Figure 4-94. If MLFlow didn't log the run here, try rerunning the cell. It should log it correctly.



Figure 4-94. MLFlow UI showing that your run has successfully finished

If everything went well, you should see a run logged in this experiment. Click it, and you should see something like Figure 4-95.

| | Manual Annual | | | | Sec. 2 |
|-----------------------|----------------------|------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------|--------|
| Py Spark_CreditC | ard > Run 58e5aac5d4 | 3948c6948bee29c0c04cca | | | |
| Date: 2020-08-02 18 0 | 7.43 | | Source : 🛱 C. Users' (Shumpul Vinacunda Zemis'g () Vibilistic packages' (pykernet_launcher.py | User: Shumpu | |
| Duration: 43 fis | | | Status FINISHED | | |
| • Notes 😢 | | | | | |
| ione | | | | | |
| Parameters | | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Metrics | | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | | |
| NIL, AUC ME | 0.979 | | | | |
| wal_acc. Mt | 0.999 | | | | |
| M DUA, Net | 0.978 | | | | |
| Date _acc Md | 0.999 | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| • Tags | | | | | |
| lan-i | Salare | Actions | | | |
| | No tags found. | | | | |
| Add Tag | | | | | |
| | | Add | | | |
| | | | | | |
| Attracts | | | | | |

Figure 4-95. Looking at the run, it appears that all of your metrics have successfully been logged

Finally, in the artifacts section, click the folder that says creditcard_model_pyspark to expand it. You should see a folder called sparkml that contains the PySpark logistic regression model. Refer to Figure 4-96.

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW



Figure 4-96. MLFlow has also logged the PySpark model. There is no concrete model file like with the TensorFlow or PyTorch examples because of the way PySpark stores its models

Now that you've verified MLFlow has logged everything you specified, copy the run number at the top. Now go back to the notebook and run the following, replacing the placeholder with your run:

```
model = mlflow.spark.load_model("runs:/YOUR_RUN_ID/
creditcard_model_pyspark")
```

In our case, our run was 58e6aac5d43948c6948bee29c0c04cca, so our cell looks like Figure 4-97.



Figure 4-97. Loading the logged MLFlow model

Now that the model has been loaded, let's make some predictions with it. Run the following:

```
predictions = model.transform(test_set)
y_true = predictions.select(['label']).collect()
y_pred = predictions.select(['prediction']).collect()
```

Refer to Figure 4-98 to see the code in a cell.

```
In [12]: 1 predictions = model.transform(test_set)
2 y_true = predictions.select[['label']).collect()
3 y_pred = predictions.select(['prediction']).collect()
```

Figure 4-98. Making predictions with your loaded model

Let's print out the evaluation accuracy and the AUC score:

```
print(f"AUC Score: {roc_auc_score(y_true, y_pred):.3%}")
print(f"Accuracy Score: {accuracy_score(y_true, y_pred):.3%}")
```

Refer to Figure 4-99.



Figure 4-99. Printing out the evaluation metrics. The AUC score noticeably differs, but the accuracy score matches what was displayed during the MLFlow run

You will notice that the AUC score differs compared to what was calculated in the evaluation function. This is likely because PySpark calculates the ROC curve slightly differently because it has direct access to the model itself. On the other hand, with scikit-learn, you only have the true labels and the predictions to work with, so the ROC curve is calculated slightly differently.

Finally, let's construct the confusion matrix:

```
conf_matrix = confusion_matrix(y_true, y_pred)
ax = sns.heatmap(conf_matrix, annot=True,fmt='g')
ax.invert_xaxis()
ax.invert_yaxis()
plt.ylabel('Actual')
plt.xlabel('Predicted')
```

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

Refer to Figure 4-100.



Figure 4-100. Displaying the confusion matrix using the true values and the predictions made by the model you loaded

From the confusion matrix, you can see that the AUC score as calculated by PySpark must be reflecting its performance on how well it classifies normal data. Looking at the anomalies, a fair chunk of the fraudulent data has been misclassified. Roughly speaking, the model only got two-thirds of the anomalies when evaluated on the test data. Perhaps this explains the disparity between what scikit-Learn says is the AUC score and what PySpark says is the AUC score. Both must have calculated the ROC curves slightly differently with PySpark's graph somehow favoring the excellent true positive rate of the normal data's classification.

With that, you now know how to integrate MLFlow into your PySpark experiments.

Next, we will take a look at how you can deploy your models locally and how you can query the models with samples of data and receive predictions.

Local Model Serving Deploying the Model

Serving and querying models locally is very easy and can be done in the command line. You only need the experiment ID and the run ID to serve the model. This is where the print statement from earlier can apply, as it prints the run ID of that specific run. If you just want to serve the latest model, you may do so using that ID.

Otherwise, you can look in the MLFlow UI, select a model run that suits your needs, and paste the run this way.

Before you begin, go to the MLFlow UI once again, and click the experiment scikit_learn_experiment. Pick a run and copy the run ID. Don't forget the model name that you logged the model with either, which should be log_reg_model.

You may create a new notebook at this point to keep the code more organized, but be sure to import the following:

```
import pandas as pd
import mlflow
import mlflow.sklearn
import seaborn as sns
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
from sklearn.model_selection import train_test_split
from sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, accuracy_score,
confusion matrix
```

```
CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

import numpy as np

import subprocess

import json
```

You'll notice that you are now importing subprocess. If you're using the same notebook, make sure to import this module as well.

Refer to Figure 4-101 to see this code in a cell.



Figure 4-101. Importing the necessary modules

Now, open up your command prompt/terminal so that you can begin to serve your local model. First, you need to change your directory to one that contains the mlruns folder with all your experiments. Next, you need two things: your **model run** and your **model name**.

Again, your model run can be anything you pick from the MLFlow UI or it can simply be the latest run. The model name is whatever you set it to when logging the model. In this case, it will be log_reg_model.

Once you have that, run the following command in your command prompt/terminal. We have generalized the command, so be sure to replace the fields with your model run and model name, respectively:

```
mlflow models serve --model-uri runs:/YOUR_MODEL_RUN/
YOUR_MODEL_NAME -p 1235
```

In our case, our model run was 3862eb3bd89b43e8ace610c521d974e6, and our model name was once again log_reg_model. And so, the command we ran looks like Figure 4-102.

(p36) C:\Users\Shumpu\work\Books\2020 MLOps\Chapter 4>mlflow models serve --model-uri runs:/3862eb3bd89b43e8ace610c521d9 74e6/log_reg_model -p 1235

Figure 4-102. The command that we ran to serve our model locally

In text, the command looks like this:

mlflow models serve --model-uri runs:/3862eb3bd89b43e8ace610c52
1d974e6/log_reg_model -p 1235

MLFlow should start constructing a new conda environment right away that it will use to serve locally. In this environment, it installs basic packages and specific packages that the model needs to be able to run.

After some time, you should see something like in Figure 4-103.

```
Command Prompt - millow models serve --model-uni nums/3882eb3bd39bd3eBace300521d974eb/log_reg_model -p1235 -- C X
WARNING: The script alembic.exe is installed in 'C:\Users\Shumpu\Anaconda2\envs\mlflow-dd9a9304d9fed3d69fd9eC7ad7a9f26 +
DaGcae2a42Scripts' which is not on PATH.
Consider adding this directory to PATH or, if you prefer to suppress this warning, use --no-warn-script-location.
WARNING: The script mlflow.exe is installed in 'C:\Users\Shumpu\Anaconda2\envs\mlflow-dd9a9304d9fed3d69fd9eC7ad7a9f26 +
DaGcae2a42Scripts' which is not on PATH.
Consider adding this directory to PATH or, if you prefer to suppress this warning, use --no-warn-script-location.
WARNING: The script mlflow.exe is installed in 'C:\Users\Shumpu\Anaconda2\envs\mlflow-dd9a9304d9fed3d69fd9eC7ad7a9f26 to
Sccae2a42Scripts' which is not on PATH.
Consider adding this directory to PATH or, if you prefer to suppress this warning, use --no-warn-script-location.
Successfully installed flask-1.1.2 ling22_11.2 Mako-1.1.3 Markup5afe-1.1.1 Werkeug-1.0.1 alembic-1.4.2 azure-core-1.7
t0 azure-storage-blob-12.3.2 cffi-1.1.4.1 chardet-3.0.4 click-7.1.2 cloudpickle-1.3.0 cryptography-3.0 databricks-cli-0.1
1.0 docker-4.2.2 entrypoints-0.3 glitb.4.0.5 glitp.thon.3.1.7 gon!lla-0.3.0 idna-2.10 isodate-0.6.0 itsdamgerous-1.1.0 ml
flow-1.10.6 msrest-0.6.18 oauthlib-3.1.0 pandas-1.1.0 prometheus-client-0.8.0 prometheus-flask-exporter-0.1.5.4 protobuf-
string-parser-1.2.4 requests-2.2.4.0 requests-oauthlib-1.3.0 smmap-3.0.4 sqlalchemy-1.3.13 sqlparse-0.3.1 tabulate-0.8.7
To activate this environment, use
$ conda activate mlflow-dd9a9304d9fe43d69fd90c7ad7a9f26ba0cae2aa
To deactivate an active environment, use
$ conda activate mlflow-dd9a9304d9fe43d69fd90c7ad7a9f26ba0cae2aa\libsite-packages\waltress\adgelybet3de9fd90e7ad7a9f26ba0cae2aa\libsite-packages\waltress\adgelybet3de9fd90e7ad7a9f
26ba0ecae2aa\libsite-packages\waltress\adgelybet3de9fd90e7ad7a9f26ba0ecae2aa\libsite-packages\waltress\adgelybet3de9fd90e7ad7a9f
26ba0ecae2aa\libsite-packages\waltress\adgelybe
```

Figure 4-103. The result of running the command to deploy the model locally. You might see something different, such as localhost:1235, but this is because we have docker installed

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

MLFlow should create a new conda environment before hosting the model on your local server. The port option -p lets you set a specific port to host the model on. We selected a specific port so that we can have MLFlow UI running at the same time, as both of them default to port 5000. In our case, our MLFlow UI is running on port 1234, so we are serving the model on port 1235.

Querying the Model

You are now ready to query the model with data and receive predictions. This is where the subprocess module comes in, and you'll see why shortly. First, let's load up your data frame again. Run the following code:

```
df = pd.read_csv("data/creditcard.csv")
```

You should see something like Figure 4-104.

```
In [3]: 1 df = pd.read_csv("data/creditcard.csv")
```

Figure 4-104. Loading the credit card dataset

Next, select 80 values from your data frame to query your model with. Run the following code:

```
input_json = df.iloc[:80].drop(["Time", "Class"],
axis=1).to_json(orient="split")
```

You should see something like Figure 4-105.

In [7]: 1 input_json = df.iloc[:80].drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1).to_json(orient="split")

Figure 4-105. Converting a selection of 80 rows, dropping the Time and Class columns since they were dropped in the original x_train used to train the model, to a JSON with a split orient

The next step is important because of how you preprocessed the data before training your model originally. To show why it's so important, we will quickly demonstrate the difference in evaluation metrics from passing in non-scaled data and scaled data. First of all, here is the code to send data to the model and receive predictions back:

```
proc = subprocess.run(["curl", "-X", "POST", "-H",
"Content-Type:application/json; format=pandas-split",
"--data", input_json, "http://127.0.0.1:1235/invocations"],
stdout=subprocess.PIPE, encoding='utf-8')
output = proc.stdout
df2 = pd.DataFrame([json.loads(output)])
df2
```

Essentially, what this does is run the following command within Python itself:

```
curl -X POST -H "Content-Type:application/json;
format=pandas-split" -data "CONTENT_OF_INPUT_JSON"
"http://127.0.0.1:1235/invocations"
```

The core of the problem is that if you are running this in command line, pasting the JSON format data of the data frame can get very messy because there's so many columns. That is why we chose to use subprocess as it is easier to directly pass in the JSON itself using a variable name, input_json in this case, to hold the contents of the JSON.

You should see something like Figure 4-106.

Figure 4-106. Sending data to the locally hosted model and receiving predictions from the model

Now, you will query the model with input data that is not scaled.

Querying Without Scaling

You will keep the selection of 80 values from earlier and query the model. The model accepts data in the JSON format, so you will have to convert the format of your data before sending it to the model. Run the cell in Figure 4-106.

You should see something like Figure 4-107.



Figure 4-107. The list of predictions that you get after querying the model with input_json. Notice that it's predicting a lot of anomalies. This is the first red flag that indicates something's wrong

The resulting data frame is what you get by converting the predictions that you got back from the model into a data frame. Since you have the true predictions, let's calculate an AUC score and an accuracy score to see how the model did. Run the following code:

```
y_true = df.iloc[:80].Class
df2 = df2.T
eval_acc = accuracy_score(y_true, df2)
y_true.iloc[-1] = 1
eval_auc = roc_auc_score(y_true, df2)
print("Eval Acc", eval_acc)
print("Eval AUC", eval_auc)
```

First of all, you had to transpose df2 using .T so that you can get the predictions to be in a Pandas Series format. Next, the AUC score cannot be calculated if one of the arrays y_true or y_preds only have one class. In this case, y_true is only comprised of normal values, so you had to manipulate the last value and make it 1 when it really isn't just to get an AUC score. Of course, the resulting AUC score will be nonsense.

You should see something like Figure 4-108.

In [45]: 1 y_true = df.iloc[:80].Class
2 df2 = df2.T
3 eval_acc = accuracy_score(y_true, df2) y_true.iloc[-1] = 1
6 eval_auc = roc_auc_score(y_true, df2) 8 print("Eval Acc", eval_acc)
9 print("Eval AUC", eval_auc) Eval Acc 0.65 Eval AUC 0.3291139240506329

Figure 4-108. Evaluating the accuracy and the AUC score from the predictions. The AUC score is nonsense, but the accuracy score reveals that the model has performed very poorly

As you can see, the accuracy score is horrible. This basically means that the model doesn't know the difference between the anomalies and the normal points but seems to have some idea about normal points.

The reason the model did so poorly despite doing so well during the training process is that the input data has not been scaled. You will see the difference in model performance when you now scale the data before passing it in.

Querying with Scaling

You will take the same split of data except you will now scale it before passing it in. Run the following code to recreate the data that you used to fit the scaler when training the model originally:

```
normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).
reset_index(drop=True)
anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split
(anomaly, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
scaler = StandardScaler()
scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop(["Time", "Class"],
axis=1))
```

You should see something like Figure 4-109.

```
In [48]: 1 normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).reset_index(drop=True)
2 anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
4 normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
5 anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly, test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
7 scaler = StandardScaler()
8 scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
9
Out[48]: StandardScaler(copy=True, with_mean=True, with_std=True)
```

Figure 4-109. Recreating the original dataset that you used to fit the standard scaler when processing the data originally. Using this, you will transform your new sample of data and pass it into the model

Now that you have fit the scaler, let's transform your data selection:

```
scaled_selection = scaler.transform(df.iloc[:80].drop
(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
input_json = pd.DataFrame
(scaled_selection).to_json(orient="split")
```

Refer to Figure 4-110.

In [52]: 1 scaled_selection = scaler.transform(df.iloc[:80].drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
2 input_json = pd.DataFrame(scaled_selection.to_json(orient="split")

Figure 4-110. Scaling the selection of 80 values from the original data frame and converting it into a JSON format to be sent to the model

Now run the following:

```
proc = subprocess.run(["curl", "-X", "POST", "-H",
                             "Content-Type:application/json; format=pandas-split",
                                  "--data", input_json, "http://127.0.0.1:1235/invocations"],
                                 stdout=subprocess.PIPE, encoding='utf-8')
output = proc.stdout
```

```
preds = pd.DataFrame([json.loads(output)])
preds
```

You should see something like Figure 4-111.



Figure 4-111. Querying the model with the scaled values. From a first glance, the predictions appear to be correct this time around

One thing to note is that you are scaling it on the combination of all normal data and all anomaly data, as you did when you were creating the train, test, and validation splits. Since the model was trained on data that was scaled on the partition of data you used in the training process

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

(the training, testing, and validation data together), passing in data scaled differently won't result in the correct predictions. When you scale the new data, it must be scaled after fitting it on the training set.

One problem that may eventually arise is that new data might have a different distribution than the original training data. This could lead to performance issues with the model, but really that's a sign that you need to train your model to update it on the new data.

Let's check how your model did now:

```
y_true = df.iloc[:80].Class
preds = preds.T
eval_acc = accuracy_score(y_true, preds)
y_true.iloc[-1] = 1
eval_auc = roc_auc_score(y_true, preds)
print("Eval Acc", eval_acc)
print("Eval AUC", eval_auc)
```

Refer to Figure 4-112.



Figure 4-112. Checking the accuracy and the AUC scores of the predictions. The accuracy score is far better, but you will need more prediction data with both normal and anomaly values to be able to get AUC scores

As you can see, the accuracy score is noticeably higher, and the model's performance is reminiscent of when it was trained and evaluated. Unfortunately, the AUC score isn't a very accurate reflection of the model's performance since the samples you are querying the model with only have normal data.

Let's see how the model performs when you query it with a larger sample of data.

Batch Querying

Unfortunately, there is a limit to how many data samples you can ask the model to make predictions on. The number 80 is really close to the maximum number of samples you can send at one time. So how do you get around this issue and make predictions on more than just 80 samples? For one, you can try batching the samples and making predictions one batch at a time.

Run the following code:

```
test = df.iloc[:8000]
true = test.Class
test = scaler.transform(test.drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
preds = []
batch_size = 80
for f in range(100):
    sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch_size:(f+1)*batch_size]).
    to_json(orient="split")
    proc = subprocess.run(["curl", "-X", "POST", "-H",
        "Content-Type:application/json;
        format=pandas-split", "--data",
            sample, "http://127.0.0.1:1235/
            invocations"],
            stdout=subprocess.PIPE,
            encoding='utf-8')
```

```
CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW

output = proc.stdout

resp = pd.DataFrame([json.loads(output)])

preds = np.concatenate((preds, resp.values[0]))

eval_acc = accuracy_score(true, preds)

eval_auc = roc_auc_score(true, preds)

print("Eval Acc", eval_acc)

print("Eval AUC", eval_auc)
```

Here, you are selecting the first 8,000 samples from the data frame. Since the batch size is 80, you have 100 batches that you are passing to the model. Of course, you must scale this data as well before passing it in. You will scale it in a manner similar to how you did it earlier: you will fit the scaler on the same normal and anomaly data that you used in the model training pipeline samples to transform the values you want to send to the model. Once finished, you should see something like Figure 4-113. This might take several seconds to finish, so sit tight!



Figure 4-113. The results of querying the model with the first 8,000 samples in the data frame. Notice that the AUC score is far better samples

This time, you don't have to worry about only having one class in the entire data. This is because there are examples of anomalies in this selection of 8,000 data points, so the true labels and predictions should contain samples of both classes.

You can see that the model performs quite well on this data, which includes data that the model has never seen before. Although you did end up using all of the anomalies when training the data, the model still performs well on the normal data, as evidenced by the relatively high AUC score.

In fact, let's plot a confusion matrix to see how the model did and what's bringing down the AUC score. Run the following code:

```
conf_matrix = confusion_matrix(true, preds)
ax = sns.heatmap(conf_matrix, annot=True,fmt='g')
ax.invert_xaxis()
ax.invert_yaxis()
plt.ylabel('Actual')
plt.xlabel('Predicted')
plt.title("Confusion Matrix")
```

Refer to Figure 4-114 to see the output.

CHAPTER 4 INTRODUCTION TO MLFLOW



Figure 4-114. The confusion matrix for the predictions and true values. The model performed excellently and was able to classify every normal point correctly and a majority of the anomaly points correctly samples

As you can see, the confusion matrix shows that the model has performed very well on this data. Not only did it classify the normal points perfectly, but it even classified most of the anomaly points correctly as well.

With that, you hopefully know more about the process of deploying and querying a model. When you deploy to a cloud platform, the querying process follows a similar path where you must deploy a model on the cloud platform and query it by sending in the data in a JSON format.

Summary

MLFlow is an API that can help you integrate MLOps principles into your existing code base, supporting a wide variety of popular frameworks. In this chapter, we covered how you can use MLFlow to log metrics, parameters, graphs, and the models themselves. Additionally, you learned how to load the logged model and make use of its functionality. As for frameworks, we covered how you can apply MLFlow to your experiments in scikit-learn, TensorFlow 2.0/Keras, PyTorch, and PySpark, and we also looked at how you can take one of these models, deploy it locally, and make predictions with your model.

In the next chapter, we will look at how you can take your MLFlow models and use MLFlow functionality to help deploy them to Amazon SageMaker. Furthermore, we will also look at how you can make predictions using your deployed model.

CHAPTER 5

Deploying in AWS

In this chapter, we will cover how you can operationalize your MLFlow models using AWS SageMaker. We will cover how you can upload your runs to S3 storage, how you can build and push an MLFlow Docker container image to AWS, and how you can deploy your model, query it, update the model once it is deployed, and remove a deployed model.

Introduction

In the previous chapter, you learned what MLFlow is and how you can utilize the functionality it provides to integrate MLOps principles into your code. You also looked at how to deploy a model to a local server and perform model inference. However, now it's time to move to the next stage and explore how you can deploy your machine learning models to a cloud platform so that multiple entities can use its prediction services.

Before you begin, here are some **important prerequisites**:

- You must have the AWS command line interface (CLI) installed and have your credentials configured.
 - Once your credentials are verified, the AWS CLI lets you connect to your AWS workspace. From here, you can create new buckets, check your SageMaker endpoints, and so on all through the command line.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

- You must have an Identity and Access Management (IAM) execution role defined that grants SageMaker access to your S3 buckets. Refer to Figure 5-8 to see more on this.
- You must have Docker installed and working properly. Verify that you can build Docker images.
 - It is essential to have Docker working on your system because without it, MLFlow cannot build the Docker container image to push to the AWS ECR.

We also recommend that you learn about AWS in general and how it works. Having background knowledge of AWS and how it works can help you understand this chapter and allow you to fix any issues much more easily.

In detail, we will go over the following in this chapter:

- **Configuring AWS:** Here, you set up a bucket and push your mlruns folders here to be stored on the cloud. These folders contain information about all of the runs associated with the experiments along with the logged models themselves. Next, you build a special Docker container as defined by MLFlow and push that to AWS ECR. SageMaker uses this container image to serve the MLFlow model.
- **Deploying a model to AWS SageMaker:** Here, you use the built-in MLFlow SageMaker module code to push a model to SageMaker. After SageMaker creates an endpoint, the model is hosted on here utilizing the docker image that you pushed earlier to the ECR.

- **Making predictions:** Once the model has finished deployment and is ready to serve, you use Boto3 to query the model and receive predictions.
- **Switching models:** MLFlow provides functionality that enables you to switch out a deployed model with a new one. SageMaker essentially updates the endpoint with the new model you are trying to deploy.
- **Removing the deployed model:** Finally, MLFlow lets you remove your deployed model altogether and delete the endpoint. This is important to do so that you don't incur the charges of leaving an endpoint running.

Also, it is important to note that AWS is actively being worked on, and functionality and operating procedures can change! What that means is that something that works now may not work later on.

However, MLFlow specifically provides support for SageMaker, so if something fundamental to how SageMaker runs changes in the future, MLFlow is likely to account for it in the next build.

In the absolute worst-case scenario where that doesn't happen, you can still run an MLFlow server and host it on AWS. You will still be able to deploy models and make inferences with them, and the overall functionality is still preserved. Instead of SageMaker directly hosting the model using an MLFlow container image, you would do something similar to the local model deployment experiment we did in Chapter 4, except you would connect to the server IP and port that the MLFlow server is hosted on.

We will explore how to do this with Google Cloud, as MLFlow does not support Google Cloud like it does SageMaker and Azure.

With that, let's get started!

Configuring AWS

Before you can actually push any model to SageMaker, you need to set up your Amazon workspace. You can push models from your local mlruns directory, similar to how you did local model deployment, but it is much more convenient and centralized to have all your runs be pushed to AWS and stored in a bucket. This way, all teams can access models that are stored here. In a sense, this can act as your "model registry," although it doesn't offer the same functionality as the model registry provided by MLFlow.

What MLFlow allows you to do is take specific runs and determine whether to stage that model to the development branch or to production. In this case, you can have buckets for each team, separated into development or production branches. It's a couple extra steps on top of MLFlow's model registry, but it would still allow you to enjoy the benefits of having a model registry.

In this case, you will simply be creating one bucket to host all of your MLFlow runs. From here, you will be picking a specific run and deploying to SageMaker. To keep it simple, you will once again use the scikit-learn logistic regression model that you trained as the model you are deploying.

So with that, create a simple bucket and name it something like mlflow-sagemaker. You can either create it through the AWS CLI or do so through the AWS console in your browser.

We will do the latter so that you can visually see what Amazon is really doing when a bucket is created.

Keep in mind that AWS is always working on its UI, so your screen may not look exactly like what is portrayed. That being said, you are still likely able to access S3 bucket storage services, so the core functionality should still be the same, despite the UI changes.

When you log into your portal, you should see something like Figure 5-1.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

| AWS services | | Stay connected to your AWS resources on-the- go | | | |
|-----------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|
| Ind Services | | Developed the AWS Console Mebile Job to your IOS or | | | |
| Q. Exomple: Relational Database | e Service, dotobose, RDS | Android mobile device. Learn more | | | |
| Recently visited services | | | | Explore AWS | |
| P 53 | Amazon SageMaker | | | | |
| All services | | Amazon FSx for Windows File Server | | | |
| suild a solution | unnated and flows | | | - workloads. Learn more 🖸 Get Up to 40% Better Price Performance in Amazon EC2 | |
| aunch a virtuel machine | Duild a web app | Build using virtual servers | Register a domain | Amazon EC2 M6g. C6g. and R6g instances provide the best price performance for cloud native workloads in Amazon EC2. Learn more 🕑 | |
| -3 minutes | 6 minutes | 1-2 minutes | 3 minutes | RDS Read Replicas | |
| o | ි | | (53) (53) | Achieve scale and low latency for read heavy weekloads with RDS Read Replicas. Learn more 🗹 | |
| | | | | Amazon Elasticsearch Service | |
| Connect an IoT device Vith AWS IoT | Start migrating to AWS With CloudEndure Migration | Start a development project With CodeStar | Deploy a serverless microservice With Lambda, API Gateway | Fully managed Elasticsearch for log analytics, without the operational overhead. Learn more 🙆 | |
| minutes | 1-2 minutes | 5 minutes | 2 minutes | | |
| ഹ്മ | (AR) | 200 | 40 | Have feedback? | |

Figure 5-1. The home screen of the AWS console. Keep in mind that yours is likely to look different to the one shown here

As you can see, you can look up services with the search bar. Here, type S3 and click the result that states "S3" with the description "Scalable Storage in the Cloud."

You should go to a page that looks like Figure 5-2.

| Amazon S3 | K O We're gradually updating the design of the Amazon S | | | the experience, <u>give feedback</u> on the r | |
|---------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------|---------------|
| Buckets | Use ClouelFormation templates to setup, secure and | d accelerate your content with 53 & Amazon CloudFront. | | | Learn more |
| harch: Operations Access analyzer for 53 | Amazon 53 | | | | |
| lieck public access (account articles) | While we continue to improve the new version | n of the \$3 cansole, you can temporarily solidit to the previous console | e experience for buckets. To help us improve the e | sperience, give feedback. | |
| fasture spotlight 📵 | Buckets (16) Buckets are containers for data strend in 53. Lawer more | 2 | 0 0 | Engly ARN Despty Dete | Create locket |
| | Q. First backet by norm | | | | < 1 ⊃ ⊕ |
| | Name | Region | T Access | ♥ Creation date | * |
| | 0 | US East (N. Virginia) us-east-1 | Objects can be public | June 4, 2020, 11:16 (UT | (-04:90) |
| | 0 | US East (Ohio) us-east-2 | Objects can be public | May 29, 2020, 09:36-0./7 | C-04:003 |

Figure 5-2. What your screen might look like when you open the S3 bucket services module. We have greyed out the names of the buckets, but you can see string names here

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

You should see a button that says Create Bucket. Click it and you will see something like Figure 5-3.



Figure 5-3. This is how your bucket creation screen may look. In this case, you are just naming the bucket and aren't concerned with anything else

We named our bucket mlops-sagemaker-runs. You don't have to worry about the rest of the options, so scroll down to the bottom and click Create Bucket. Once done, you should be able to see your bucket in the list of buckets.

From here, let's use a subprocess to sync the local mlruns directory to this bucket. What this does is upload the entire mlruns directory to your bucket, so that all of your runs are stored on the cloud.

First, collect the following attributes:

- s3_bucket_name: What is the name of the S3 bucket you are trying to push to?
- mlruns_directory: What is the location of the mlruns directory you're pushing to the bucket?

Based on that, run the following. We included the bucket name and mlruns directory in our case, so just replace them with your respective values.

import subprocess

```
s3_bucket_name = "mlops-sagemaker-runs"
mlruns_direc = "./mlruns/"
output = subprocess.run(["aws", "s3", "sync", "{}".
format(mlruns_direc), "s3://{}".format(s3_bucket_name)],
stdout=subprocess.PIPE, encoding='utf-8')
print(output.stdout)
print("\nSaved to bucket: ", s3 bucket name)
```

After running that code, you should see something similar to Figure 5-4, letting you know that it has synchronized your local mlruns directory with the bucket. If you see no output, that means there's nothing new to push (if you are rerunning it). Ensure that the mlruns directory is in the same directory as this notebook; otherwise it won't be able to find it.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS



Figure 5-4. This is what your output may look like when you are first syncing your mlruns directory with the bucket. Make sure that your mlruns directory is in the same directory as this notebook file

Once this is done, you can proceed to building the container that SageMaker will use to host the model once you get to deployment. To do that, run the following command in your terminal:

```
mlflow sagemaker build-and-push-container
```

Again, this requires you to have your Amazon credentials configured.

You do not need to create a new docker image each time you use a new framework. This one image will be able to handle all your MLFlow models thanks to modularization. This is similar to the deployment pipeline we discussed in Chapter 3 from which you simply need to swap models in and out.

This step can take some time, so sit back, relax, and let it do its thing. You should see something like Figure 5-5.



Figure 5-5. Something similar to what you should see when you run the command to build the container

Once this is finished, the console should output something like Figure 5-6.

| Command Prompt | - | | × |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------|--------|------|
| Successfully built c0dde5cda5be | | | |
| Successfully tagged mlflow-pyfunc:latest | | | |
| SECURITY WARNING: You are building a Docker image from Windows against a non-Windows Docker host. All file | s and | direc | tor |
| ies added to build context will have '-rwxr-xr-x' permissions. It is recommended to double check and reset | perm | ission | s f |
| or sensitive files and directories. | | | |
| 2020/08/06 22:53:02 INFO mlflow.sagemaker: Pushing image to ECR | | | |
| 2020/08/06 22:53:04 INFO mlflow.sagemaker: Pushing docker image mlflow-pyfunc to 180072566886.dkr.ecr.us-er | ast-2 | .amazo | naw |
| s.com/mlflow-pyfunc:1.10.0 | | | |
| 2020/08/06 22:53:04 INFO mlflow.sagemaker: Executing: aws ecr get-login-password docker loginusername | a AWS | pa | SSW |
| ord-stdin 180072566886.dkr.ecr.us-east-2.amazonaws.com && docker tag mlflow-pyfunc 180072566886.dkr.ecr.us- | -east | -2.ama | zon |
| aws.com/mlflow-pyfunc:1.10.0 && docker push 180072566886.dkr.ecr.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/mlflow-pyfunc:1.16 | 0.6 | | 4.64 |
| Login Succeeded | | | |
| The push refers to repository [180072566886.dkr.ecr.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/mlflow-pyfunc] | | | |
| b4270d4dad9c: Pushed | | | |
| c078d42e0962: Pushed | | | |
| 428bc4bea91f: Pushed | | | |
| 9c9e02cc7f76: Pushed | | | |
| 062bfb2ceab2: Pushed | | | |
| a95d516eb3aa: Pushed | | | |
| 25ad3082950e: Layer already exists | | | |
| 3f19d6798a02: Layer already exists | | | |
| 0ec2dbb4f23f: Layer already exists | | | |
| 5ded279f751d: Layer already exists | | | |
| 28ba7458d04b: Layer already exists | | | |
| 838a37a24627: Layer already exists | | | |
| a6ebef4a95c3: Layer already exists | | | |
| b7f7d2967507: Layer already exists | | | |
| 1.10.0: digest: sha256:4704fee65244509b4b49dc5e97206f044a1fc8110c7798e08fc5c09a5cf16acd size: 3263 | | | |
| (p36) C:\Users\Shumpu> | | | |

Figure 5-6. What you should see when the docker container image has successfully been built and pushed to Amazon ECR

Now, you should be able to see a new container in the portal when you navigate to Amazon ECR.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

From your home console, navigate to Amazon ECR, and verify you see something called mlflow-pyfunc. You should see something like Figure 5-7, confirming that the docker image has successfully been pushed to AWS ECR.

| Amazon Container X Services | ECR > Repositories | | |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------------------------|-------------------|
| Amazon ECS Clusters | Repositories (1) Q, The resolution | O View push commands Delete Edit | Create repeationy |
| Task definitions | Repository name 🔺 URI | Greated at v Tag investability Scan on push | Encryption type |
| Amazon EKS Clusters | O enflere-pyfunc 👩 180072566886.dkt.etr.un-east-2.amatonaue.com/enflere-pyfunc | 05/27/20, 2:56:07 FM Disabled Disabled | AES-256 |
| Amazon ECR Repetitories | | | |

Figure 5-7. After running the command, you should be able to see your container in the ECR repository list

With that, you have set up everything related to MLFlow functionality that you need in your AWS console in order to deploy your models to SageMaker.

Let's now look at deploying one of the models.

Deploying a Model to AWS SageMaker

To deploy a model to SageMaker, you need to gather the following information:

- app_name
- model_uri
- execution_role
- region
- image_ecr_url

The execution role refers to the Identity and Access Management (IAM) role, which you can find by searching for "IAM" in the console. Once you have created or selected an execution role (make sure it can access S3 and can perform get, put, delete, and list operations on it), copy the entire value that exists there. As for the specific policy that this role should follow, refer to Figure 5-8 to see how our IAM execution role is set up.

As for the execution role ARN number, you should see something like Figure 5-8.



Figure 5-8. In the IAM tab, under policies, select (or create) the role you are going to use to execute the deployment process. There, you should be able to see the specific Policy ARN value, which you must copy and keep track of

Make sure you have the Policy ARN value copied down. AWS lets you copy it to the clipboard if you click the little clipboard symbol next to the policy.

To find the image_ecr_url value, go back to the ECR and look for something like Figure 5-7. Now click it to see something like Figure 5-9.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

| Services | mlflow-pyfunc | | | | | | View push command |
|--------------------------------------------|----------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------|----------------|----------------|-------------------|
| Amazon ECS Clusters Task definitions | Images (2) | | | | | C | Dalata Sezo |
| Amazon EKS | Q: And inspire | | | | | | <1> 6 |
| Clusters | D Inspitus | Image URI | Pashed at 🔹 | Digest | Size (MB) v | Scan Mattes | Vulnerabilities |
| Imazon ECIt Repositories | 1,10.0 | 180072566886.dkr.ecr.us- east-2.amazonaws.com/mt/flow-pytunc:1.10.0 | 06/06/20, 10:57:46 PM | Ø sha256:4704feet5 | 871.63 | | * |
| lanages. | 0 180 | D 150072566886.ckr.ec.un- east 2.amazonaws.com/millow.pyfunc18.0 | 05/27/20, 4:18:36 PM | Ø sha256 000145444 | 876.56 | 2 | 9 |
| Lifecycle Policy Tags | | | | | | | |

Figure 5-9. The Image URI is the value you want to copy

Copy the value where it says Image URI, except for the version you want. We are running MLFlow version 1.10.0, so copy the value for that one.

Next, find the specific run that you want to deploy. Go to your list of S3 buckets and click the one you created, which should be titled mlops-sagemaker-runs.

In here, navigate until you see the folder with several runs displayed. We picked the top run. Refer to Figure 5-10.



Figure 5-10. Look at your bucket to find the run you want to deploy. (These runs all have the same performance metrics, so it does not matter which one we pick. If it did, we could look at it through the MLFlow UI (ensuring the terminal is in the same directory as the same mlruns directory we pushed) and select the best run.) Also, remember to take note of the experiment ID and the name of the model you logged. You should be able to find it if you click the run ID and then artifacts. For our case, it is log_reg_model With all that information gathered, let's proceed to the deployment. Run the following:

```
import boto3
import mlflow.sagemaker as mfs
import json
app_name = "mlops-sagemaker"
execution_role_arn = "arn:aws:iam::180072566886:role/
service-role/AmazonSageMaker-ExecutionRole-20181112T142060"
image_ecr_url = "180072566886.dkr.ecr.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/
mlflow-pyfunc:1.10.0"
region = "us-east-2"
s3_bucket_name = "mlops-sagemaker-runs"
experiment_id = "8"
run_id = "1eb809b446d949d5a70a1e22e4b4f428"
model_name = "log_reg_model"
model_uri = "s3://{}/{}/{}/artifacts/{}/".format
(s3 bucket name, experiment id, run id, model name)
```

This will set up all of the parameters that you will use to run the deployment code.

Finally, let's get on to the actual deployment code:

```
mfs.deploy(app_name=app_name,
    model_uri=model_uri,
    execution_role_arn=execution_role_arn,
    region_name=region,
    image_url=image_ecr_url,
    mode=mfs.DEPLOYMENT_MODE_CREATE)
```

You should see something like Figure 5-11.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

Figure 5-11. You should see something like this when you are attempting to deploy the model. Don't worry if it takes its time

This step can take a while. If you want to check on the status of your SageMaker endpoint, open up the portal and search for and navigate to SageMaker. There should be a section for Endpoints where you can see all of the SageMaker endpoints that exist. You should see your current endpoint with the status of "creating," as in Figure 5-12.
CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

| Amazon SageMaker × | Amazon Sagahlalor 🗇 Encipionis | | |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------------------|
| Amazon SageMaker Studio | Endpoints | C | Update endpoint Actions V Create andpoint |
| Dashboard Search | Q, Search endpoints | | < 1 > |
| Ground Truth Justician label | Name * ADN | Creation time | Status Last updated |
| Labeling datasets Labeling workforces | enlige-sogemäter am avecsogemäterse-exel-2:180072566886 endpoint/inteps-sogemäter | Aug 07, 2020-03:30-UTC | O Creating Aug 07, 2020 03:30 UTC |
| Notebook Notebook instances Lifecycle configurations Git repositories | | | |
| Processing Processing jobs | | | |
| Training Algorithms Training jobs Hyperparameter fuming jobs | | | |
| Inference Compilation jobs Model packages Hodels Endpoint configurations | | | |
| Enclosiets Betch transform jobs | | | |
| ▼ Augmented Al | | | |

Figure 5-12. What you should see in the Endpoints section of Amazon SageMaker. Once it has finished creating the endpoint, you should see it update the status to "InService."

Once this endpoint is successfully created, which you will know when you see the status update to "InService," you can now move on to making predictions.

Making Predictions

Making predictions is simple. All you need is the name of the endpoint and the functionality that boto3 provides in order for the model to be queried. Let's define a function to query the model:

```
def query(input_json):
    client = boto3.session.Session().client
    ("sagemaker-runtime", region)
    response = client.invoke_endpoint(
        EndpointName=app_name,
        Body=input_json,
        ContentType='application/json; format=pandas-split',
    )
```

```
preds = response['Body'].read().decode("ascii")
preds = json.loads(preds)
return preds
```

Now, let's load your data, process it, and scale it just like you did for the local model deployment example. Make sure that the folder data exists, ensuring that creditcard.csv exists within it. Run the following:

```
import pandas as pd
import mlflow
import mlflow.sklearn
import seaborn as sns
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
from sklearn.model_selection import train_test_split
from sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, accuracy_score,
confusion matrix
```

import numpy as np

```
df = pd.read_csv("data/creditcard.csv")
```

Once the import statements and the data frame has been loaded, run the following:

```
normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).
reset_index(drop=True)
anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
```

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

```
scaler = StandardScaler()
scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop(["Time",
"Class"], axis=1))
```

Once this is all finished, run the following to ensure that the model is actually making predictions:

```
scaled_selection = scaler.transform(df.iloc[:80].drop
(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
input_json = pd.DataFrame
(scaled_selection).to_json(orient="split")
```

pd.DataFrame(query(input_json)).T

You should see an output like Figure 5-13.

Figure 5-13. Querying the deployed model with the scaled data representing the first 80 rows of the data frame and getting a response back

Figure 5-13 shows a successful query of the model while it is hosted on a SageMaker endpoint and the predictions received as a response.

Let's run the batch query script with some modifications:

```
test = pd.concat((normal.iloc[:1900], anomaly.iloc[:100]))
true = test.Class
test = scaler.transform(test.drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
preds = []
```

```
CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS
batch_size = 80
for f in range(25):
    print(f"Batch {f}", end=" - ")
    sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch_size:(f+1)*batch_size]).
    to_json(orient="split")
    output = query(sample)
    resp = pd.DataFrame([output])
    preds = np.concatenate((preds, resp.values[0]))
    print("Completed")
eval_acc = accuracy_score(true, preds)
eval_auc = roc_auc_score(true, preds)
print("Eval Acc", eval_acc)
print("Eval AUC", eval_auc)
```

Once finished, you should see something like Figure 5-14.

```
In [35]:

1 test = pd.concat((normal.iloo[1900), anemaly.iloo[100]))

2 true = test.Class

totat = soulle.transform(test.drop([*Time*, "Class"], axis*1))

4 preds = []

5 betch size = 80

7 for f in range(2):

9 print(f*Batch (f)*, end** - ")

9 sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch_size:(f+1)*batch_size]).to_json(orient=*split*))

10 output = query(sample)

11 resp = pd.DataFrame(test, fresp.values[0]))

12 preds = np.concatence(preds, resp.values[0]))

13 print(f*Completed")

14 eval_scc = accuracy_score(true, preds)

15 eval_scc = coc_auc_score(true, preds)

16 print(*Tval AC*, eval_scc)

17 strue = domainstate (preds)

18 betch = Completed

19 be
```

Figure 5-14. Output of the batch querying script. You included a mix of 100 anomalies with 1900 normal points so that you can get a better idea of how the model performs against anomalies as well. Otherwise, you would have gotten a handful of anomalies

All this is great, but what do you do when you want to switch the model that is deployed? Well, SageMaker allows you to update the endpoint and switch to a new model. Let's look at how to do this.

Switching Models

Perhaps you want to update your model, or you have no more use for the current model and its prediction services so you want to replace it without having to delete and create a new endpoint. In this case, you can simply update the endpoint and swap out the model that is currently hosted on there. To do so, you only need to collect the new model_uri.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

This time, the model_uri refers to the URI of the new model that you want to deploy. In your case, you are selecting the second run of the three runs you uploaded to your bucket. Everything else remains the same, so you only have to get a new model_uri.

Now, run the following, replacing the run_id value with your chosen run_id:

```
new_run_id = "3862eb3bd89b43e8ace610c521d974e6"
```

```
new_model_uri = "s3://{}/{}/artifacts/{}/".format
(s3_bucket_name, experiment_id, new_run_id, model_name)
```

Now that you have run this, run the following code to update the model:

```
mfs.deploy(app_name=app_name,
    model_uri=new_model_uri,
    execution_role_arn=execution_role_arn,
    region_name=region,
    image_url=image_ecr_url,
    mode=mfs.DEPLOYMENT MODE REPLACE)
```

You will find that this function looks quite similar to the one you used to deploy the model. The only parameter that differs is the mode, as you are now doing mfs.DEPLOYMENT_MODE_REPLACE instead of mfs.DEPLOYMENT_MODE_CREATE.

Refer to Figure 5-15 to see what the output should look like. Note that this also can take some time to finish.



Figure 5-15. This is what your output should look like after running the update code

While this is running, you can check on the endpoint in your portal to see that it is now updating. Refer to Figure 5-16 to see this.

| Paraduri Jagariakor 20000 | Endpoints | C Update andpoint Actions * Crasts andpoint |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------|
| Dashboard Search | Q, Seach originits | < 1 > (|
| Ground Truth Labeling jobs Labeling datasets Labeling workforces | Name v ANN O mitopi-sopenialer entrans-sopenialerus-aust-21100722566888 undpoint/miopi-sopenialer | Creation line |
| Notebook Notebook instances Lifecycle configurations Git repositories | | |
| Processing Processing jobs | | |
| | | |
| Training Algorithms Training jobs Hyperparameter tuning jobs | | |

Figure 5-16. The endpoint is now updating. Once finished, it should show "InService" just like when the endpoint was being created

Once it finishes running, you can query this model again using the same function. You don't have to modify the batch script either.

Now that you know how to update the endpoint with a new model, we will look at how you can remove the endpoint and the deployed model.

Removing Deployed Model

Perhaps you have multiple endpoints each with a different model hosted, and you no longer want to keep an endpoint running because of the cost. To delete an endpoint, you only need the following information:

- app_name
- region

With that information defined, which it already should be, you can simply run the following:

mfs.delete(app_name=app_name,region_name=region)

You should see it output something like Figure 5-17. This process finishes quite quickly.



Figure 5-17. The output of the deletion command

You can go check the endpoint in the portal as well, and it should show something like Figure 5-18.

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS



Figure 5-18. SageMaker endpoint resources after the deletion. There should be nothing here if the deletion process went successfully

As you can see, the endpoint is now completely gone.

One thing to note is that you should make sure you don't accidentally leave any resources running because the costs can certainly stack up over time and put a dent in your wallet. For services like SageMaker endpoints, you are charged by the hour, so be sure to delete them once you're done with them.

As for the S3 bucket and the ECR container, those are a one-time charge that only bill for data transfer.

With that, you now know how to operationalize your MLFlow model with AWS SageMaker.

Summary

MLFlow provides explicit AWS SageMaker support in its operationalization code. And so we covered how to upload your runs to an S3 bucket and how to create and push an MLFlow Docker container image for AWS SageMaker to use when operationalizing your models. We also covered

CHAPTER 5 DEPLOYING IN AWS

how to deploy your model on an endpoint, query it, update the endpoint with a new model, and delete the endpoint. Hopefully now you now know how to operationalize your machine learning models with MLFlow and AWS SageMaker.

In the next chapter, we will look at how you can operationalize your MLFlow models with Microsoft Azure.

CHAPTER 6

Deploying in Azure

In this chapter, we will cover how you can use Microsoft Azure to operationalize your MLFlow models. In particular, we will look at how you can also utilize Azure's built-in functionality to deploy a model to a development branch and to a production branch, along with how you can query the models once deployed.

Introduction

In the previous chapter, we went over how to deploy your models to Amazon SageMaker, manage them through update or delete events, and query them. Now, we will shift our focus to show how you can operationalize your MLFlow models using Microsoft Azure.

Before you begin, here is an **important prerequisites**:

• Install azureml-sdk in your Python environment.

Just like with AWS, Microsoft Azure is constantly being worked on and updated. Since MLFlow supports Microsoft Azure, you should be able to utilize MLFlow to operationalize your models. Any new functionality is sure to be documented by MLFlow, and in the absolute worst-case scenario, you should still be able to host a server on Azure and maintain your MLOps functionality that way.

Again, we will explore how to do this in the next chapter when we look at how to operationalize your MLFlow models with the Google Cloud API.

In detail, we will go over the following in this chapter:

- **Configuring Azure:** Here, you basically use MLFlow's functionality to build a container image for the model to be hosted in. Then, you push it to Azure's Azure Container Instances (ACI), similar to how you pushed an image to the Amazon AWS Elastic Container Registry (ECR).
- **Deploying a model to Azure (dev stage):** Here, you use built-in azureml-sdk module code to push a model to Azure. However, this is a development stage deployment, so this model is not production-ready since its computational resources are limited.
- **Making predictions:** Once the model has finished deployment, it is ready to be queried. This is done through an HTTP request. This is how you can verify that your model works once hosted on the cloud since it's in the development stage.
- **Deploying to production:** Here, you utilize MLFlow Azure module code to deploy the model to production by creating a container instance (or any other deployment configuration provided, like Azure Kubernetes Service).
- **Making predictions:** Similar to how you query the model in the dev stage, you query the model once it has been deployed to the production stage and run the batch query script from the previous chapter.
- **Switching models:** MLFlow does not provide explicit functionality to switch your models, so you must delete the service and recreate it with another model run.

• **Removing the deployed model:** Finally, you undo every deployment that you did and remove all resources. That is, you delete both the development and production branch services as well as the container registries and any additional services created once you are done.

With that, let's get started!

Configuring Azure

Before you can start using Azure's functionality to operationalize your models, you must first create or connect to an existing Azure workspace. You can do this either through code or the UI in a browser.

In your case, you will open up the portal in the browser and learn how to create a workspace. Refer to Figure 6-1.

| icrosoft Azure | P. Search resources, services, and doiny size | η. | | 9 ? Q |
|----------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------------------------------------|-------|
| | Azure services | | | |
| | Charles Contaner Hubernates All resources | Storage storage virtual accounts machines | Rep Service SQI delabase Mare services | |
| | Recent resources | Japan | Last Viewed | |
| | 😨 silinam loging | Container instances | 5 minutes ago | |
| | 🖶 miego scure prod | Kabernettes service | 27 minutes ago | |
| | The stops as an production | Kubernetes service | 45 minutes ago | |
| | | Machine Learning | 2 hours ago | |
| | | Kervall | 4 hours ago | |
| | The second destroyed | Storage account | tā koura ago | |
| | Navigate 🔶 Subcriptors 🚱 Resource group | a Al resources | Cathourd | |
| | Tools | | | |
| | Margaret Leen of Lean Aque with free celline training from Microsoft | ops and Security Center Secure your apps and inflastructure | Cost Management Analyze and optimize your doubt gend for free | |
| | Useful links | | Azure mobile app | |
| | | | | |

Figure 6-1. An example of the Microsoft Azure portal home screen

Next, click the Create a resource option and search for "Machine Learning." You should see something like Figure 6-2.



Figure 6-2. An example of the service "Machine Learning" provided by Azure. You want to create a workspace within this service, so click the Create button

Click the Create button. You should see something like Figure 6-3. (We filled the fields with our own parameters.)

Your subscription might differ from ours. For the resource group, we created a new one titled azure-mlops.

The fields you completed in Figure 6-3 are enough to create your workspace. Next, click the Review + create option and click Create once Azure states that the validation procedure has been passed and allows you to click Create.

| Project details | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Select the subscription to manage of all your resources. | leployed resources and costs. Use resource groups like fold | ders to organize and manage |
| Subscription * 💿 | Azure for Students | ~ |
| Resource group * ① | (New) azure-mlops | ~ |
| | Create new | |
| Madaaaaa datalla | | |
| vorkspace details | | |
| pecify the name, region, and editio | n for the workspace. | |
| Vorkspace name * ① | azure-mlops-workspace | ~ |
| | | |
| egion * 🛈 | East US | ~ |
| Vorkspace edition * ① | Basic | ~ |
| | | |
| | | |
| For your convenience, these res Application Insights. Azure Key | ources are added automatically to the workspace, if regionally ava Vault | ilable: Azure Storage, Azure |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

Figure 6-3. Workspace creation UI (we filled in the fields with our own parameters)

This will take some time to deploy. Once the workspace has been created, go back to the home portal and click the All resources option. You should see something like Figure 6-4.

Click your workspace, which should have an image of a chemical beaker next to it.

In this overview, you will see several parameters associated with this workspace. Make sure to keep track of the following attributes of the workspace so that you can connect to it in the code:

- workspace_name (azure-mlops-workspace)
- subscription (The value where it says Subscription-ID)
- resource_group (azure-mlops)
- location (East-US)

| Hone 3 | | | | | |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------|-------------|-----------------------|---|
| All resources P tainanty of Fonds | | | | | × |
| 🕂 Add 🔮 Manage view 🗸 🚫 Rafrish 🛓 Expert to CSV 🦉 Open query 🕴 🖯 Assig | rtogs 🛞 Delets 🗍 💙 Feedback | | | | |
| Seturity same | X Location on all X by Add | titur . | | | |
| Showing 1 to 14 of 14 records. 🔲 Show hidden types 🗇 | | | | No proping ✓ Ust view | ~ |
| Same 1. | type 14 | Resource group 14 | Location 14 | Subscription 1. | |
| 🔲 🖷 Tezzi-Hazzi-Halenske-Hitelster | Container registry | mflox,abure | East US | Azure for Students | |
| L acure mirgo-workspace | Machine Learning | abure extops | East US | Advanta for Muchenity | |

Figure 6-4. You might see something like this when you look at the All resources option

Refer to Figure 6-5.

| >> Search (ctite/) | 🛓 Download configijson 🔋 Delete 🍠 Upgrade | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------|
| 4 Overview | Opgrade this workspace to Enterprise edition (preview) to us | ce visual machine learning, advanced automated machine learning, and to manage quota. Learn more <u>about our pricing</u> , | |
| Activity log | Uppende | | |
| Access control (IAM) | | | |
| togs | | | |
| Diagnose and solve problems | Workspace edition : Basic | Storage : | |
| Events | Resource group I azure-mops | Pagnoy | |
| | tobaction - East Us | Angle stars basicity - | |
| 3945 | Subscription ID | Approximation magnets | |
| J Compute | ¥ Essentials | | View as JSO |
| rttings | | | |
| Properties | | | |
| Locks | | Azure Machine Learning studio | |
| Deport template | | | |
| | | An immersive experience for managing the end-to-end machine | |
| traitarian | | In second s | |
| tenitoring | 10 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A | learning lifecycle. | |
| tenitoring Alerts | | learning lifecycle. | |
| tonitoring Alerts Á Mutrics | | learning Mecycle. | |
| Aoniboring Alerts Matrics Diagnostic settings | | learning Elecycle. | |
| konitoring Aterts § Matrics © Diagnostic settings © Logs | Getting Started | learning Efecycle. | |
| enkoring Alerts Matrics Diagnostic settings Logs pport + troubleshooting | Getting Started | learning lifecycle. | 8 |
| kenkoving Ments § Matrics E Giagnostic settings D Logs upport + troubleshooting E Usage + quotas | Cetting Sured | learning Elecycle. Laucense learn sore of | ø |
| tenkoring Mutus Mutus Mutus Mutus Mutus Disport Disport Varge + quotus Numerical Numer | Getting Started When Documentation Lemmer to get Apert Address Learning. | learning Eflecycle. Learning Eflecycle. (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) (*) | đ |
| Interfacting Interface Int | Getting Started Wire Documentation Lest Net for April Mathine Learning | learning Elecycle. Lawrence (* | ď |
| entoring Alerts Anencs Oraquatic settings Oraquit Usage + quotas New seport regard | Cetting Sured When Documentation Learn true trues Apart Machine Learning. | learning Efecycle. Lauremann Carlos Contraction of another taxing complete and Contraction of another taxing complete and the contraction of another taxing complete and taxing c | đ |

Figure 6-5. You should see something like this for your own workspace. Here we've censored potentially sensitive fields, but you should be able to see your own unique subscription ID on your screen. This is the value you want to use

Now that you have that, run the following to create/connect to your own workspace:

If you have successfully connected to your workspace, the cell should run without any issues.

Next, you must build the MLFlow container image to be used by Azure. Here, you also specify the run of the model you are trying to deploy.

In the case of Amazon SageMaker, you were able to reference runs from your local machine or runs from an S3 bucket. You can do the same thing for Azure, except using Azure's storage entities called blobs.

Either way, you need the **run ID** of the model you are deploying and the **artifact scheme** that the model is logged in. For the models you stored in Amazon S3 buckets, you used the scheme s3:/, but this time you will just use a run locally. If you'd like, you can still use your Amazon S3 bucket or Google Cloud buckets. Where you store your run does not matter.

Run the following, replacing the values with your specific run and storage scheme:

```
run_id = "1eb809b446d949d5a70a1e22e4b4f428"
model_name = "log_reg_model"
model_uri = f"runs:/{run_id}/{model_name}"
```

The model name should be the same in your case unless you changed it. Since we are using local runs, we have a URI starting with runs:/. Again, change this to whatever is appropriate in your case.

Finally, with all that information set, let's create the container image:

import mlflow.azureml

```
model_image, azure_model = mlflow.azureml.build_image
        (model_uri=model_uri,
        workspace=workspace,
        model_name="sklearn_logreg_dev",
        image_name="model",
        description="SkLearn LogReg Model
        for Anomaly Detection",
        synchronous=False)
```

You should see something like Figure 6-6. You may or may not see the warning messages depending on your version of MLFlow.



Figure 6-6. Building and pushing the container to Azure's container registry. Ignore the warning messages for now. You might not see these messages in the future. Since this is code created and maintained by MLFlow, it is likely that they will provide support for whatever new functionality Azure pushes

Next, run the following to check the status of the container:

```
model_image.wait_for_creation(show_output=True)
```

You should see something like Figure 6-7.

```
In [37]: 1 model_image.wait_for_creation(show_output="True)
Succeeded
Image creation operation finished for image model:1, operation "Succeeded"
```

Figure 6-7. Checking the output of the progress in the image creation operation

Once the image has been created, you can now deploy your model.

Deploying to Azure (Dev Stage)

One interesting bit of functionality that Azure provides is the ACI webservice. This webservice is specifically used for the purposes of debugging or testing some model under development, hence why it is suitable for use in the development stage.

You are going to deploy an ACI webservice instance based on the model image you just created.

Run the following:

```
from azureml.core.webservice import AciWebservice, Webservice
```

You should see something like Figure 6-8.



Figure 6-8. The output of creating the ACI service. It seems that this function may be removed in the future, but for now this is one way to access the ACI service and deploy the model

This exact way of starting the service may be deprecated in the near future in favor of Environments. For the time being, you should still be able to start an ACI service in this manner, but the important thing to know is that there is a web service specifically tailored for development stage testing.

Now run the following to check the progress:

```
aci_service.wait_for_deployment(show_output=True)
```

You should see something like Figure 6-9.

```
In [8]: 1 aci_service.wait_for_deployment(show_output=True)
Running.
Succeeded
ACI service creation operation finished, operation "Succeeded"
```

Figure 6-9. The output you should see from checking if the deployment has succeeded

Before making your predictions, let's first verify that you can reach your service:

aci_service.scoring_uri

You should see something like Figure 6-10. If not, try going into your resources in the portal to verify that a new container exists with the name sklearn-model-dev. If not, try rerunning the cells in the same order. It should display some URI this time.

You should see something like Figure 6-10.

```
In [55]: 1 aci_service.scoring_uri
Out[35]: "http://ba7e6ec2-10a5-48cf-8594-9c73b84fflal.eastus.azurecontainer.io/score"
```

Figure 6-10. The scoring URI is displayed, indicating that you can connect to it and make predictions

You can now make predictions with this model.

Making Predictions

Now you need to acquire some data to predict with.

Just like before, you will be loading the credit card dataset, preprocessing it, and setting aside a small batch that you will query the model with. Run the following blocks of code, and make sure you have the folder named data in this directory with creditcard.csv in it:

```
import pandas as pd
import mlflow
import mlflow.sklearn
import seaborn as sns
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
from sklearn.model_selection import train_test_split
from sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, accuracy_score,
confusion matrix
```

```
CHAPTER 6 DEPLOYING IN AZURE
import numpy as np
import subprocess
import json
df = pd.read csv("data/creditcard.csv")
```

Once you have loaded all the modules and have loaded the data, run the following:

```
normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).
reset_index(drop=True)
anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal, test_size
= 0.2, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
scaler = StandardScaler()
scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop(["Time", "Class"],
axis=1))
```

In cells, the above two blocks of code should look like Figure 6-11.



Figure 6-11. The import statements and data processing code. You also define the scaler here and fit it to the data, just as you did when originally training these models

Once you are all done with preparing the data, let's define a function to help you query the deployed model:

```
import requests
import json

def query(scoring_uri, inputs):
    headers = {
    "Content-Type": "application/json",
    }
    response = requests.post(scoring_uri, data=inputs,
    headers=headers)
    preds = json.loads(response.text)
    return preds
```

Now you can select a few points and make a prediction:

```
data_selection = df.iloc[:80].drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1)
input_json = pd.DataFrame(scaler.transform(data_selection)).
to_json(orient="split")
preds = query(scoring_uri=aci_service.scoring_uri,
inputs=input_json)
pd.DataFrame(preds).T
```

Together, you should see something like Figure 6-12.



Figure 6-12. Querying the model deployed on an ACI webservice with some sample data and receiving a response

As you can see, the model has returned predictions that look correct (thanks to the scaling).

Now that you know how to deploy to a development branch, let's look at how you can deploy the model to production using built-in MLFlow functionality.

Deploying to Production

MLFlow provides Azure support and helps us deploy our models directly, using a container instance by default.

Let's get straight into it. Run the following, replacing the names with anything else preferred:

It's worth mentioning that you can deploy to a specific web service. By default, MLFlow will host the model on a container instance, but you can specify a computer cluster. To learn more, refer to the documentation here:

www.mlflow.org/docs/latest/python_api/mlflow.azureml.html.

Once the code finishes running, which can take some time, you can also check to see if the URI can be printed:

azure_service.scoring_uri

Together, you should see something like Figure 6-13.

Figure 6-13. Successfully creating the endpoint and verifying that the service has a URI

Now that you have successfully deployed your model, let's move on to making predictions.

Making Predictions

Now that you have your model deployed, let's run your code to make predictions.

First of all, let's run the following to make sure that you are receiving predictions. You should already have defined input_json:

```
preds = query(scoring_uri=azure_service.scoring_uri,
inputs=input_json)
pd.DataFrame(preds).T
```

You should now see something like Figure 6-14.

Figure 6-14. Querying the deployed model with your batch of scaled data to ensure it works

Now, let's run your batch querying script:

```
test = pd.concat((normal.iloc[:1900], anomaly.iloc[:100]))
true = test.Class
test = scaler.transform(test.drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
preds = []
```

```
batch_size = 80
for f in range(25):
    print(f"Batch {f}", end=" - ")
    sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch_size:(f+1)*batch_size]).
    to_json(orient="split")
    output = query(scoring_uri=azure_service.scoring_uri,
    inputs=sample)
    resp = pd.DataFrame([output])
    preds = np.concatenate((preds, resp.values[0]))
    print("Completed")
eval_acc = accuracy_score(true, preds)
eval_auc = roc_auc_score(true, preds)
print("Eval Acc", eval_acc)
print("Eval AUC", eval_auc)
```

Once finished, you should see something like Figure 6-15.



Figure 6-15. The results of running the batch querying script. This effectively made predictions on 2,000 data points

With that, you now know how to query your deployed model and make predictions with it. This should be the same procedure if you've opted to deploy to a specific compute cluster with, for example, Azure Kubernetes Service.

Cleaning Up

Unfortunately, there does not seem to be any specific functionality to **update** the service with a new model. The procedure seems to be to delete the service and create a new service with another model URI.

So, with that, let's now look at how you can remove all the services you just created.

Run the following:

```
aci_service.delete()
azure service.delete()
```

Refer to Figure 6-16.

| In [70]: | 1 aci_service.delete() | |
|----------|--------------------------|--|
| In [71]: | 1 azure_service.delete() | |

Figure 6-16. Deleting the web services you launched earlier

Now, navigate to the All resources section again from the home portal. Check every item with the resource group type named Container Instance. You should see that there are none. Figure 6-17 shows what this might look like. (We have a container instance here, but it is unrelated.) Since you deleted the services just now, you should not see sklearn-logreg or sklearn-model-dev.

| Hore > | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------|-------------|-----------------------------|---|
| All resources Attack of Torota | | | | | × |
| 🕂 Add 💿 Manage view 🗸 🕐 Refresh 🛓 Export to CSV 🧏 Open query 🕴 🕅 Au | rige tags 🗄 Delete 🗢 Feedback | | | | |
| Filter by name | all 🛛 Location on all 🖂 Add I | Rer | | | |
| Showing 1 to 13 of 13 records. 🗌 Show hidden types 🗇 | | | | No grouping 😪 List niew | ~ |
| Name 1 | Type t ₄ | Resource group 14 | Location +2 | Subscription T ₄ | |
| | Container registry | stary relats | East US | Acure for Students | |
| C & THEISHADDSHITMERINERINE | Container registry | million, acure | East US | Acure for Students | |
| A aurentige workpace | Machine Learning | Aburt miligh | East US | Acure for Students | |
| acareniapswork/282541884 | Storage account | acura miopa | East US | Acure for Students | |
| C 🕈 acurentopowork2999791000 | Key vault | agure enlage | East US | Assert for Students | |
| • • acurentopswork6434823602 | Application insights | scure milega | East US | Acure for Students | |
| 🔲 🥔 Containenn sights (defaulte only pace 14876/23 dational 1971) e060/fodbath euro | Solution | default-essurergroup ess | East US | Acure for Students | |
| 🔲 🔮 Defaultemrkspace (457/8/23-date: 4ad1-501) etisktifisideati tiuti | Log Analytics workspace | DefaultheseurceSharp EUS | East US | Adure for Students | |
| L McOps-Azers | Machine Learning | willow, allow | East US | Agure for Students | |
| C = mispraper/1008279851 | Storage account | willow, store | Ratt US | Acure for Studients | |
| C 3 mlsptanrx8008756811 | Key vault | willow, at une | Rast US | Assers for Students | |
| • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | Application insights | allow, store | Kast US | Abure for Students | |
| staam-ingrest | Container instances | willing all and | Ratt US | Azure for Students | |

Figure 6-17. You should not see any resources titled sklearn-logreg or sklearn-model-dev of type container instance. (There is one here, but it is not related to the experiments from above, and only exists to show what a resource with this resource type looks like.)

If you want to remove services from here, you can simply delete the container instances or other services, as in Figure 6-18.

| Home 3 | | | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------|---------------------------|
| All resources & University of Finish | | | | × |
| 🕂 Add 📵 Manage view 🗸 🕐 Refresh 🛓 Exports CSV 😤 Open query 🗌 🦁 Ass | igntagi 🗑 Dekte 🗢 Feedback | | | |
| Efter by same | all × Location all × + Add N | Ref | | |
| Showing 1 to 13 of 15 records. 🗌 Show hidden types 🗇 | | | | [No grouping] [List view] |
| Name 1. | Type Ti | Resource proup: 1. | Location 1.4 | Subscription 7.3 |
| C 40 0013424272404684977146487340621 | Container registry | ature-whees | East US | Azure for Dudem |
| 🔲 🖷 79425432055448448844954495495 | Container registry | million, azuro | Sact US | Azure for Dudents |
| 🖸 🛓 azure ellept workspace | Machine Learning | and when | East US | Azure for Duderts |
| C = assemblycovo41262541984 | Storage account | agure where | East US | Azure for Dudients |
| assembspework2000191808 | Key soult | agure-wiego | East US | Azura far Dadenta |
| • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • | Application insights | agura where | East US | Agure for Dudants |
| 🔲 🧬 Containernightscheleiteringesce-1427.623-dalte-fakt-6011-ab6638xdbab-eux) | Solution | defaultressurcegroup-eus | East US | Azure for Dudents |
| 🔲 🧟 Cultautran-Aspana-Asthtetta-Aasti 4019-ebiktitivatkab-EUS | Eog Analytics workspace | Defaultifications/Craup-BUS | East US | Agure for Dudents |
| L Anopenaure | Machine Learning | nifes, sain | Eartus | Abure for Dudents |
| C = mitglaater 1000373951 | Storage account | editor, and a | East US | Agure for Ducketts |
| mitphagura9008756891 | Key usuft | estion, abure | Lat US | Abure for Dudents |
| Sectors and the sector and the secto | Application insights | millionutere | Eartus | Abure for Students |
| 🗾 🛠 akan-isyng | Container instances | Atura wings | East US | Abure for Students |
| 🖬 🖗 alaan ingrag! | Container instances | million, above | Facture | Acure for Students |
| 🗾 🐓 szlean-medil der | Container instances | Ature whips | East US | Abure for Students |

Figure 6-18. Deleting services manually through the All resources UI

You can now delete everything else (or just the new resources created for this chapter) in your UI following this same procedure to clean up your Azure workspace.

With that, you now know how to use MLFlow to deploy a model on Microsoft Azure.

It's worth mentioning that Azure has a lot of additional functionality relating to monitoring your machine learning experiments and more, but that might also come with additional costs depending on the depth of functionality you are going after. Be sure to refer to their excellent documentation if you'd like to learn more about Azure and its functionality.

Summary

Like Amazon AWS, Microsoft Azure is a cloud platform that performs many advanced services for a wide range of users. In particular, Azure has a lot of support for operationalizing machine learning models using built-in functionality separate from MLFlow. In this chapter, you learned how to build a container image for a specific MLFlow model run, deploy it in a development setting/production setting, and query the model on Microsoft Azure.

In the next chapter, we will look at how you can use Google Cloud as a platform to operationalize your MLFlow models. There is no explicit MLFlow support for Google Cloud, so you will be adopting a different approach where you serve the models on a server hosted on Google Cloud and make predictions that way.

CHAPTER 7

Deploying in Google

In this chapter, we will cover how you can use MLFlow and Google Cloud to operationalize your models even without MLFlow providing explicit deployment support for Google Cloud.

More specifically, we will cover how to set up your Google Cloud bucket and virtual machine (used to run the server) and how you can operationalize and query your models.

Introduction

In the previous chapter, we went over how you can deploy your models to Microsoft Azure, manage them through update or delete events, and query them. This time, we will explore how you can operationalize your models using Google Cloud.

MLFlow does not provide explicit support for deploying in Google Cloud like it does with AWS SageMaker and Microsoft Azure, and so you will approach this a bit differently from how you operationalized models in the previous two chapters.

This time, you will use the same model serving functionality that you used in Chapter 4 except you will host it on a Google Cloud machine that is accessible by the Internet. However, deployment is far quicker this way since you don't have to wait for the creation of an endpoint. Furthermore, once you set up the machine, swapping models is very simple, and you can serve multiple models by using different ports.

CHAPTER 7 DEPLOYING IN GOOGLE

It's worth noting that Google Cloud has an assortment of advanced tools and functionality dedicated to machine learning, such as Kubeflow. Kubeflow is a tool that allows you to essentially integrate your machine learning lifecycles into Kubernetes. And so all your machine learning pipelines are managed through Kubernetes. Kubeflow also integrates into the Google Cloud platform, seeing as how Kubernetes was built by Google. In this chapter, we will just go over how you can deploy MLFlow logged models. We won't get into any of the platform-specific tools that help manage your machine learning lifecycles.

Before you begin, here is an important prerequisite:

• Download and install the Google Cloud SDK so you can use the CLI to connect to your server.

In detail, we will go over the following in this chapter:

• **Configuring Google:** This is perhaps the hardest step in this deployment process. First, you set up a bucket and push the contents of your mlruns folder to be stored on the cloud.

Next, you set up the virtual machine that will host your server when you deploy the model. This involves installing Conda and MLFlow.

Finally, you set up a firewall to allow your server to have inbound access through the default port of 5000 that MLFlow uses so that you can actually connect to this server through your Jupyter notebook.

• **Deploying and querying the model:** Here, you check the IP address, pick a run, and launch the code to serve the model. Then, you query the model and run the batch query script as well.

- **Updating and removing a deployment:** Here, you stop deployment and simply rerun the model serving script with a different model run to fulfill model switching functionality. After you have updated the model, removing the deployment is as easy as stopping the model serving.
- **Cleaning up:** Here, you go through all of the new services you used and delete them all so as not to incur any charges.

With that, let's get started!

Configuring Google

Most of the work that is involved in deploying your models using Google Cloud is actually taken up by the configuration process. Once you set up the storage and the machine to host your model, model serving becomes an extremely easy task. To switch up models, you only need to change up the model run and let MLFlow take care of the rest.

As for where you are storing the models, you will be using Google Cloud Storage to do so. Once again, this fulfills a functionality similar to storing your runs in Amazon S3 buckets or Azure blobs. The purpose of pushing all of your runs to the cloud is so that there is a centralized storage container that holds the models. Now anyone can access them anywhere around the world, and there are no issues with version mismatch where your copy of the run happens to differ with someone else's. In a sense, this is serving the role of a model registry, just without the added functionality of the MLFlow Model Registry.

Bucket Storage

And so, let's begin. First, open up the Google Cloud portal. You should see something like Figure 7-1. Be aware, though, that Google Cloud is also constantly being updated, so your portal screen may look different.

| t Home | > DAS | HEGAND ACTIVITY RECOMMENDATIONS | | | | / OUSTON |
|---------------------|-------|------------------------------------------------|---|------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------------------|----------|
| Pins appear here @ | × | | | | | - |
| Data Fusion | | Her boge cost is negled and costs is president | | | | |
| Financial Services | | Project info | 1 | Compute Engine | Google Cloud Platform status | |
| Healthcare | £. | Project.name sat2py | | OPP (%) | All services normal | |
| Life Sciences | ×: | Project ID sandpy-279415 | | 1 | -> On to Cloud status dashboard | |
| Dataprep | | Project number 371227157060 | | | | |
| INCLAL INTELLIGENCE | | ADD DEDING TO THAT HED HITT | | | Biling i | |
| Al Platform | 3 | | | | For the billing period Aug 1 - 7, 2026 | |
| Data Labeling | 2 | -9 Go to project settings | | stat. stat. stat. stat. | View detailed charges | |
| Natural Language | | Resources | 1 | | | |
| Recommendation | | Compute Engine | | -> de to Compute Engine | Monitoring I | |
| Tables | | E Storage | | ari APis | Design until the factor | |
| Talent Solution | 3 | | | Requests (requests/sec) | | |
| Translation | 2 | trace | 1 | | View all dashboards | |
| Vision | × | No trace data from the past 7 days | | | → Ga to Maniford | |
| Video Intelligence | | -> Out started with Stackdriver Trace | | | 0.000 | |
| ER GOOGLE BOLUTIONS | | | | $\Lambda \Lambda \Lambda \Lambda \Lambda \Lambda I $ | Entor Reporting | |
| Game Servers | 3 | Setting Started | 1 | 1211 1211 1241 1241 | | |
| Google Maps | 5 | WT Explore and enable APts | | Pequett: 1300 | Learn how to set up Citor Reporting | |

Figure 7-1. What our Google Cloud portal screen looks like

Notice the scroll bar on the left side of the screen. This is where you can look at the services Google Cloud provides. Scroll to the section that says Storage, and click the service named Storage. You should see something similar to Figure 7-2.

| | Google Cloud Platform | | | | | | | | | D I 🗖 |
|---|--------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|---------------|
| | Storage | Storage browser | п Сяная | | | | | | 54 | OW INFO PANEL |
| | Breaser | The judiets | | | | | | | | 0 1 |
| - | Monitorina | • Bucket sorting and filtering are available in the Storage browser. Now | you can filler your buckets by any | value and sort by any r | course. | | | | | DISME |
| | | Same 1 | Onafied | Location Type | Location | Default storage class Ø | Updated @ | Public access @ | Access control @ | Lifecycle |
| 2 | Transfer | dataprep-staging 10777 Rec-cas5-Ketif a350-5e525 dev15b0 | Jun 6, 2928, 11, 31, 25 AM | Multiregion | us (multiple re., | Multi-regional | Jun 6, 2020, 11:31:25 AM | Dubject 1 Click on the | menuits see what size you | cando X |
| ۰ | Transfer for on-premises | detaprocistaging-us-central1-671227167060-pt9cauge | Jun 8, 2020, 9:06:09 AM | Report | uncentral1 (su- | Standard | Jun 0, 2020, 9 20 29 AM | Budgect t with your at | | |
| - | Transfer Appliance | delaprochemplus-central1-671227167269-bredhiel | Jun 8, 2020, 9:00:09 AM | Report | un-central? (co., | Standard | Jun 8, 2020, 9:00-09 AM | Dudger(11) | | |
| | Dertings | < [| | | | | | | | |

Figure 7-2. Something similar to what you might see. In your case, you might not have any buckets here

Click the button that says CREATE BUCKET. Type in mlops-storage. Next, where it asks for a location type, select the Region option to have the lowest costs. Refer to Figure 7-3.

| Storage | Create a bucket | × Monthly cost estimate |
|----------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|
| 🗑 Browser | S Name your bucket | Enter-values below to check this bucket's monthly cost. For |
| di Monitoring | | Protection Contraction |
| a house | Choose where to store your data | Storage and retrieval |
| | This permanent choice defines the peographic placement of your data and affects | Brade size 0 |
| C Transfer for on-promises | cost, performance, and availability Learn more | SC 500 ser 08-month |
| 1 Transfer Appliance | Location type | |
| | Region | Outla retrieval size 0 |
| O settings | Lowest storay within a single region | Fran |
| | O dual region mice availability and loss latence acress 7 micros | |
| | O Multi-region impact exclusion access largest area | Operations @ |
| | Location | Class A operations per-mont |
| | usi-east1 (South Carolina) | 30.005.per 1,000 spi |
| | | Class 8 operations per mont |
| | CONTINUE | SC 0004 per 1,300 rem |
| | Choose a default storage class for your data | Availability SLA: 99.9% |
| | Choose how to control access to objects | Monthly cost: \$0.00 |
| | | Currency: US Deliter (3) * |
| | Advanced settings (optional) | |
| | CHEATE CANCEL | |
| | Name of Control of Con | |

Figure 7-3. Specifying the storage option for your bucket. Select Region to keep the costs the lowest, although with the amount of data you are pushing, the actual costs are very little

Keep the rest of the options as is and click the Create button. You should now see something that looks like Figure 7-4.



Figure 7-4. What your bucket might look like after creation
From here, you want to upload your MLFlow experiments (the content of your mlruns directory) as folders, so click Upload Folder, and upload all of the folders inside the mlruns directory. You can leave out the folder named .trash. In our case, we only **uploaded the experiment using scikit-learn** and left the rest out since we won't be using the other experiments.

You should see something like Figure 7-5 when finished.

| = | Google Cloud Platform | | | | = • © I 의 | 🕏 🕬 I X |
|-----------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| 9 9 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | Storage Browner Monitoring | Bucket details mlops-storage owners coversummory remessors | RETINITION LIFECTURE | | 0 | Recommanded for you Control access to data it Learn how to manage and maintain data access and periodi continuities appointe. Access statistic |
| | Transfer Transfer for on premises Transfer Appliance | Buckets > mige-stange 0 uncoso-Russ uncoso-rocorra creation The by these or bibler ranne prefix | MAMOR HOLDS DELETE | | | Make data public 0 Serie your disects to be publicly readable by anyone on the interact with the lost. "Access cashiel |
| | Getrop. | Name Size Type Graded Size 6 | Manage class Last modified Public access | Encryptore () Relation explosition data | 0 Hote 0 | Manage object Mecycles U Earls costs by setting rules to more objects to costar Cloud Storage places are time. |
| | | | | | | You might also like Image: Image |
| | | | | | Uploading 40 | liers V X |
| | | | | | million source. | Noe Complete O |
| | | | | | million source. | type Complete O |
| - | | | | | niffox source.) skiesm_roc_pk | type Complete D otpng Complete D |

Figure 7-5. Our bucket after uploading the contents of our mlruns directory. We only uploaded the experiment using scikit-learn to save on costs

With that, you have finished configuring your storage. The next thing to configure is the virtual machine that will be hosting your model.

Configuring the Virtual Machine

After going back to the portal, scroll to the Compute section and click the Compute Engine option. You should see something like Figure 7-6. You want to make sure you're in the portal for the service titled VM Instances.

| = | Google Cloud Platform | > sanday + Q, Search products and resources + ■ ● ● i Q + | B Tutorial I X |
|----|--------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| ۲ | Compute Engine | VM instances 🛛 cheart instruct. & information (Cheartern I) - struct / regional (I) state (I) 🔘 📗 🗠 monitor access (Dirow and Print), S | itart your project |
| | VM instances | | ion that you've created a VM instance, learn ow to put it to work for you. |
| 4 | Instance groups | W Frite Vid Instances BD Columns - | lanafar files |
| | instance templates | C Nove - Zone Reconnectation Scorety Intend P Entend P Convert | ind existing VM solutions |
| п | Dole-tenant rodes | C 0 Meestionalise execute 2010/03/040 Mees 2014 - 1 | atitive Mathetaliace II |
| | Machine images | d b | Zuickly learn how to build a two- ier web app |
| | Diska | | SHOW ME HOW |
| 8 | Shapshots | | low-to guides and tutorials |
| 00 | Images | | ertino va your website host name 10 |
| | TPUs | | Institute and managing Windows Instances C |
| æ | Migrate for Compute Eng. | Ð | xplore tools and APIs |
| 10 | Committed use discounts | | eart about the Cloud Shell CL/ provertion via cleart Workers 17 |
| == | Metaduta | | mport or migrate your |
| 0 | Health checks | | Experience of the sectors of the sec |
| 55 | Zones | | rearbog virtual diaka |
| te | Network endport groups | P | Vicing |
| 0 | Operations | - | CONSTRUCT PROOF IT |
| ø | Security scans | | |
| 0 | OS patch management | | |
| ۰ | Settings v | | |
| 1 | Mariatpiace | | |
| • | | | |

Figure 7-6. What your VM Instances screen may look like. In our case, we already have another machine running, but that is irrelevant since we are creating a new machine

Now, click Create Instance and you should see something like Figure 7-7.



Figure 7-7. The options you can fill in when creating your VM machine instance. You should match the selections shown in the figure to ensure consistency with our results

In our case, we filled in or selected the options that we want our VM machine to use. We named our machine mlops-server, selected our region (it autoselects a zone for you), and specified that we want to use Ubuntu 18.04 LTS. Finally, at the end, we want to allow HTTPS traffic from the internet.

Finally, when finished, you should be able to see your VM machine on the list of machines. What you want to do now is to open your VM machine instance by clicking the name mlops-server. This should take you to a screen that looks like Figure 7-8.



Figure 7-8. What you should see when you click mlops-server. Notice the box that says SSH. You will use that shortly

Now look at the box that says SSH. There should be a little down arrow indicating that it is a drop-down list of something. Click that arrow and select the View gcloud command option. Refer to Figure 7-9.



Figure 7-9. The drop-down options for connecting to this VM instance

This should take you to a popup window that looks like Figure 7-10. You have two options: running that command in a new instance of the Google Cloud SDK CLI (in our case, we had to search "Google Cloud SDK Shell" and it opened a configured Google Cloud terminal instance), or running it through a shell directly on the portal page itself. You can do either option, as both connect to the VM anyway.

| unote access | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| - H2 | |
| | |
| Enable connecting to serial ports @ | gcloud command line |
| ga na la na | The following other descented line are belowed to 2001 into this instance. |
| and port 7 (meanin) | The following goldud command line can be used to som line this instance. |
| More | gcloud beta compute sah **zone "us-east1+b" "mlops-server" **project "sas2py=279415" |
| stance Id | |
| 176150646686625764 | |
| achine type | |
| standard-1 (1 vCPU, 3.75 GB memory) | |
| eservation | |
| itomatically choose | |
| PU platform | |
| tel Haswell | |
| splay device | |
| m on a display device if you want to use screen capturing and recording tools. | |
| | |
| | |
| east1-0 | |
| dels - | |
| ine | ¢ > |
| eation time | Line wrapping |
| ig 7, 2020, 1.36-11 PM | gcloud reten |
| strenk interfaces | CLOSE DIMINICIALD ST |
| Aame Network Subsetwork Primary Internal IP Alias IP ranges. External IP | CLOSE RON IN CLOOD SH |
| 10 data data 10.13203 - 04.25741 | (ephemeral) Premium Off View details |
| DED DETECTE DETECTE DETECTE | |
| ne denne denne (v. re. s | |
| Bie DNS PTR Record | |
| den Delande Geraun (U. 1920) - U. 1920 See DRS PTR Record See | |
| en anna an anna an an an an an an an an a | |

Figure 7-10. The command that lets you connect to the VM via SSH. You can also run it within the portal page itself if you'd like

Copy and paste that command in your terminal to connect to the VM. When finished running, you should see something like Figure 7-11, where it opens up a PuTTY instance of the actual shell inside the VM.



Figure 7-11. The result of running the gcloud command that the portal provided. On the right, you can see a PuTTY terminal where you have the shell open inside the VM

This is where you must configure your VM so that it can host your MLFlow models.

First, run the following commands:

sudo apt update

sudo apt upgrade

Answer "y" to any prompts.

Once finished, you can now install Conda. Without Conda, MLFlow won't be able to reconstruct the environment that the MLFlow model was logged in. This is part of MLFlow's modularization. In the case of SageMaker and Azure, you built containers that, as their name suggests, "contain" these Conda environments already. This way, SageMaker does not have to reinstall any Conda packages once the container is in the cloud. It simply has to run an instance of the container and it already has everything configured.

First, find out how to install Anaconda on Linux by going to its webpage. An install link should be provided. Copy the link and paste it somewhere. You will retrieve that link using a command.

Run the following one at a time:

```
cd /tmp
curl -0 https://repo.anaconda.com/archive/
Anaconda3-2020.07-Linux-x86_64.sh
```

You should see something like Figure 7-12.

```
Shumpu@mlops-server:~$ cd /tmp
Shumpu@mlops-server:/tmp$ curl -0 https://repo.anaconda.com/archive/Anaconda3-20
20.07-Linux-x86_64.sh
% Total % Received % Xferd Average Speed Time Time Time Current
Dload Upload Total Spent Left Speed
100 550M 100 550M 0 0 165M 0 0:00:03 0:00:03 --:--- 165M
Shumpu@mlops-server:/tmp$
```

Figure 7-12. The output of fetching the Anaconda installation script

Next, let's install Anaconda by running the following. You can type in bash Anaconda and press Tab to autofill the rest of the script name.

```
bash https://repo.anaconda.com/archive/
Anaconda3-2020.07-Linux-x86_64.sh
```

It should ask you to look through the license agreement. At the end, answer yes, and press Enter to confirm the default installation location. Conda should then proceed with the installation. Answer yes to any further prompts. Once it's done, restart the shell (close the PuTTY client and rerun the command or cloud shell), and you should now have Conda fully configured.

As you will now see, Conda has already started the base environment. Let's create a new environment by running the following code:

```
conda create -n mlflow python=3.7
```

Answer "y" to any following prompts, and you should see something like Figure 7-13.

```
Shumpu@mlops-server: ~
                                            ×
Proceed ([y]/n)? y
Downloading and Extracting Packages
certifi-2020.6.20
           | 156 KB
                    python-3.7.7
            pip-20.1.1 | 1.7 MB
setuptools-49.2.0 | 743 KB
                    Preparing transaction: done
Verifying transaction: done
Executing transaction: done
# To activate this environment, use
   $ conda activate mlflow
±
1#
# To deactivate an active environment, use
±
±
   $ conda deactivate
(base) Shumpu@mlops-server:~$
```

Figure 7-13. If you see this, then your Conda environment has successfully installed

Next, you will install the following packages: **mlflow** and **google-cloud-storage**. The former is self-explanatory: you will need MLFlow to do anything with MLFlow. You need google-cloud-storage because you are going to access your runs from the Google storage bucket from earlier.

Run the following:

```
conda activate mlflow
```

```
pip install mlflow google-cloud-storage
```

Running this code should also install all of the dependencies. In the future, should you need to install any more dependencies, it's as simple as activating the mlflow environment and using pip install to get any more packages or update existing packages.

Once it has finished installing everything, you should see something like Figure 7-14.

| P Shumpu@mlops-server: ~ | - | | × |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------|--------|-----|
| chemy querystring-parser | | | ^ |
| Installing collected packages: pytz, six, python-dateutil, numpy, | panda | s, gor | ill |
| a, click, Werkzeug, MarkupSafe, Jinja2, itsdangerous, Flask, clou | ipickl | e, pyt | hon |
| -editor, sqlalchemy, Mako, alembic, urllib3, idna, chardet, reque | sts, t | abulat | e, |
| databricks-cli, websocket-client, docker, azure-core, isodate, oa | thlib | , requ | est |
| s-oauthlib, msrest, pycparser, cffi, cryptography, azure-storage- | olob, 1 | promet | heu |
| s-client, prometheus-flask-exporter, pyyaml, gunicorn, protobuf, | sqlpar | se, qu | ery |
| string-parser, entrypoints, smmap, gitdb, gitpython, mlflow, pyas | nl, py | asnl-m | odu |
| les, cachetools, rsa, google-auth, googleapis-common-protos, goog | le-api | -core, | go |
| ogle-cloud-core, google-crc32c, google-resumable-media, google-cloud-core, google-cloud-c | oud-st | orage | |
| Successfully installed Flask-1.1.2 Jinja2-2.11.2 Mako-1.1.3 Marku | Safe- | 1.1.1 | Wer |
| kzeug-1.0.1 alembic-1.4.2 azure-core-1.7.0 azure-storage-blob-12. | 3.2 ca | chetoo | ls- |
| 4.1.1 cffi-1.14.1 chardet-3.0.4 click-7.1.2 cloudpickle-1.5.0 cry | ptogra | phy-3. | 0 d |
| atabricks-cli-0.11.0 docker-4.2.2 entrypoints-0.3 gitdb-4.0.5 git | ython | -3.1.7 | go |
| ogle-api-core-1.22.0 google-auth-1.20.1 google-cloud-core-1.4.1 g | ogle- | cloud- | sto |
| rage-1.30.0 google-crc32c-0.1.0 google-resumable-media-0.7.1 goog | leapis | -commo | n-p |
| rotos-1.52.0 gorilla-0.3.0 gunicorn-20.0.4 idna-2.10 isodate-0.6. |) itsd | angero | us- |
| 1.1.0 mlflow-1.10.0 msrest-0.6.18 numpy-1.19.1 oauthlib-3.1.0 pan | ias-1. | 1.0 pr | ome |
| theus-client-0.8.0 prometheus-flask-exporter-0.15.4 protobuf-3.12 | .4 pya | snl-0. | 4.8 |
| pyasnl-modules-0.2.8 pycparser-2.20 python-dateutil-2.8.1 python- | -edito | r-1.0. | 4 p |
| ytz-2020.1 pyyaml-5.3.1 querystring-parser-1.2.4 requests-2.24.0 | reques | ts-oau | thl |
| ib-1.3.0 rsa-4.6 six-1.15.0 smmap-3.0.4 sqlalchemy-1.3.13 sqlpars | e-0.3. | l tabu | lat |
| e-0.8.7 urllib3-1.25.10 websocket-client-0.57.0 | | | |
| (mlflow) Shumpu@mlops-server:~\$ | | | ~ |

Figure 7-14. The final output after finishing installing the necessary packages in the Conda environment

With that, you have fully configured your VM. All that is left is to configure the firewall.

Configuring the Firewall

First, you need to look at the internal IP that your VM instance is using. To do that, run the following:

ifconfig

You should see something like Figure 7-15.

```
P Shumpu@mlops-server: ~
                                                                        ×
pyasnl-modules-0.2.8 pycparser-2.20 python-dateutil-2.8.1 python-editor-1.0.4 p
ytz-2020.1 pyyaml-5.3.1 guerystring-parser-1.2.4 requests-2.24.0 requests-oauth1
ib-1.3.0 rsa-4.6 six-1.15.0 smmap-3.0.4 sqlalchemy-1.3.13 sqlparse-0.3.1 tabulat
e-0.8.7 urllib3-1.25.10 websocket-client-0.57.0
(mlflow) Shumpu@mlops-server:~$ ifconfig
ens4: flags=4163<UP, BROADCAST, RUNNING, MULTICAST> mtu 1460
       inet 10.142.0.4 netmask 255.255.255.255 broadcast 0.0.0.0
       inet6 fe80::4001:aff:fe8e:4 prefixlen 64 scopeid 0x20<link>
        ether 42:01:0a:8e:00:04 txqueuelen 1000 (Ethernet)
       RX packets 48844 bytes 722521313 (722.5 MB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 29650 bytes 3269468 (3.2 MB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
lo: flags=73<UP,LOOPBACK,RUNNING> mtu 65536
       inet 127.0.0.1 netmask 255.0.0.0
        inet6 ::1 prefixlen 128 scopeid 0x10<host>
        loop txqueuelen 1000 (Local Loopback)
       RX packets 200 bytes 19892 (19.8 KB)
       RX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 frame 0
       TX packets 200 bytes 19892 (19.8 KB)
       TX errors 0 dropped 0 overruns 0 carrier 0 collisions 0
(mlflow) Shumpu@mlops-server:~$
```

Figure 7-15. Something similar to what you should see when you run the command. We have highlighted in red where you can find the internal IP of your machine. In our case, it is 10.142.0.4. Yours will be different

Make a note of the internal IP, which we have highlighted in red. In your case, it will be different.

Now, you must add a firewall to allow access to your server once it is started. Go back to the portal, scroll to the section that says Networking, and click the VPC Networks option. You should see something like Figure 7-16.

| = | Google Cloud Platform | э захору + | | | | | ٩ | Search products | and resources | | |
|-----|-----------------------|------------|-------------------------|---------|-----------|-------------------|------------|-----------------|------------------------|-----------|--|
| Ц | VPC network | VPC netwo | tks CREATE VPC | NETWORK | C REFRESH | | | | | | |
| 8 | VPC networks | Name 🛧 | Region | Subnets | Mode | IP address ranges | Gatewaye | Firewall Rules | Global dynamic routing | Flow logs | |
| CT. | External IP addresses | ✓ default | | 24 | Auto 🕶 | | | 7 | 011 | | |
| 12 | Frenal | | us-central1 | default | | 10.128.0.0/20 | 10.128.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | europe-west1 | default | | 10.132.0.0/20 | 10.132.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| N | Routes | | us-west1 | default | | 10.138.0.0/20 | 10.138.0.1 | | | 07 | |
| 4 | VPC network peering | | asis-east1 | default | | 10.140.0.0/20 | 10.140.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| м | Charact UD? | | us-east1 | default | | 10.142.0.0/20 | 10.142.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| ~ | 0.000 | | asia-northeast1 | default | | 10.146.0.0/20 | 10.146.0.1 | | | 01 | |
| 0 | Serverless VPC access | | asia southeast1 | default | | 10.148.0.0/20 | 10.148.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| -0- | Packet mirroring | | us-east4 | default | | 10.150.0.0/20 | 10.150.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | australia-southeast1 | default | | 10.152.0.0/20 | 10.152.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | europe-west2 | default | | 10.154.0.0/20 | 10.154.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | europe-west3 | default | | 10.156.0.0/20 | 10.156.0.1 | | | 01 | |
| | | | southamerica-east1 | default | | 10.158.0.0/20 | 10.158.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | asia-south1 | default | | 10.160.0.0/20 | 10.160.0.1 | | | 07 | |
| | | | northamerica-northeast1 | default | | 10.162.0.0/20 | 10.162.0.1 | | | on | |
| | | | europe-wes14 | default | | 10.164.0.0/20 | 10164.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | europe-north1 | default | | 10.166.0.0/20 | 10.166.0.1 | | | n | |
| | | | us-west2 | default | | 10.168.0.0/20 | 10.168.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | asia-east2 | default | | 10 170 0 0/20 | 10.170.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | europe-west5 | default | | 10.172.0.0/20 | 10.172.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | asia northeast2 | default | | 10.174.0.0/20 | 10.174.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | asia-northeast3 | default | | 10.178.0.0/20 | 10.178.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | us-west3 | default | | 10.180.0.0/20 | 10.180.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | us-west4 | default | | 10.182.0.0/20 | 10.182.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | asie-southeast2 | default | | 10.184.0.0/20 | 10.184.0.1 | | | 011 | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure 7-16. The VPC Networks module in the portal. Click the Firewall option to look at the firewall options

Now, click Firewall and then click Create Firewall Rule. Namely, you want to enter the following values:

- Name: mlflow-server
- Target tags: mlops-server, http-server, https-server
- **Source IP ranges**: 0.0.0.0/0
- **Protocols and Ports**: Check TCP and type 5000

If you made a mistake, you can edit the firewall rules. You should see something like Figure 7-17.

| VPC networks | mlflow-server | |
|------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---|
| External IP addresses | Description Firewall rules for the MLFlow server. | |
| Firewall | | |
| Routes | | |
| VPC network peering | Logs Turning on firewall logs can generate a large number of logs which can increase costs in | |
| Shared VPC | Stackdriver. Learn more | |
| Shared VPC | Off | |
| Serverless VPC access | Matural | |
| Packet mirroring | default | |
| 1.15599524/1275/197915/5121 - * 1 | | |
| | Priority* 1000 | 0 |
| | Priority can be 0 - 65535 Check priority of other frawall gives | |
| | Then your be a course pronty of other methan take | |
| | Direction | |
| | Ingress | |
| | Action on match | |
| | Allow | |
| | Targets | |
| | Specified target tags | • |
| | | |
| | mlops-server (2) http-server (2) | |
| | Source filter | |
| | IP ranges 👻 | 0 |
| | Cauroa ID ranger 1 | |
| | source in ranges - | 0 |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 3 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 | • |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 G for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 | |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 S for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None | 0 |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 S for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None | 0 |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 😵 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None Protocols and ports 🚱 | 0 |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 😵 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None Protocols and ports Allow all Securit destroy is added to | 0 |
| | 0.0.0.00 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None Protocols and ports Allow all Specified protocols and ports | 0 |
| | 0.0.0.0/0 😵 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None Protocols and ports Allow all Specified protocols and ports top : 5000 | 0 |
| | 0.0.0/0 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None Protocols and ports Allow all Specified protocols and ports top: 5000 udp: all | 0 |
| | 0.0.0/0 for example, 0.0.0.0/0, 192.168.2.0/24 Second source filter None Protocols and ports Allow all Specified protocols and ports top: 5000 udp: all | 0 |

Figure 7-17. What your firewall configuration should look like. We have autofilled the values with our own

Now click Create. You are done configuring the firewall and configuring everything else in Google Cloud. Now you can move on to deploying your model.

Deploying and Querying the Model

With your virtual machine fully configured, it's time to deploy your model.

Make sure you still have that internal IP logged in. Go back to the PuTTY client and now enter the following command:

```
mlflow models serve -m gs://mlops-storage/EXPERIMENT_ID/RUN_ID/
artifacts/MODEL_NAME -h 10.142.0.4
```

Our command looks like the following. We simply took the first run in the Google Storage bucket.

mlflow models serve -m gs://mlops-storage/8/1eb809b446d949d5a70
a1e22e4b4f428/artifacts/log_reg_model -h 10.142.0.4

You should see something like Figure 7-18.

```
Shumpu@mlops-server: ~
                                                                         ×
0.15.4 protobuf-3.12.4 pycparser-2.20 python-dateutil-2.8.1 python-editor-1.0.4
pytz-2020.1 pyyaml-5.3.1 querystring-parser-1.2.4 requests-2.24.0 requests-oauth
lib-1.3.0 six-1.15.0 smmap-3.0.4 sqlalchemy-1.3.13 sqlparse-0.3.1 tabulate-0.8.7
urllib3-1.25.10 websocket-client-0.57.0
# To activate this environment, use
ŧ
     $ conda activate mlflow-dd9a9304d9fe43d69fd90c7ad7a9f26ba0cae2aa
# To deactivate an active environment, use
     $ conda deactivate
2020/08/07 18:30:34 INFO mlflow.pyfunc.backend: === Running command 'source /hom
e/Shumpu/anaconda3/bin/../etc/profile.d/conda.sh && conda activate mlflow-dd9a93
04d9fe43d69fd90c7ad7a9f26ba0cae2aa 1>&2 && gunicorn --timeout=60 -b 10.142.0.4:5
000 -w 1 ${GUNICORN CMD ARGS} -- mlflow.pyfunc.scoring server.wsgi:app'
[2020-08-07 18:30:34 +0000] [26836] [INFO] Starting gunicorn 20.0.4
[2020-08-07 18:30:34 +0000] [26836] [INFO] Listening at: http://10.142.0.4:5000
(26836)
[2020-08-07 18:30:34 +0000] [26836] [INFO] Using worker: sync
[2020-08-07 18:30:34 +0000] [26846] [INFO] Booting worker with pid: 26846
```

Figure 7-18. This is what your output should look like if it successfully built the Conda environment and is now serving the model

There's only one more step that remains before you can successfully make predictions with this model. You must now see what your external IP is. To do so, go back to the VM Instances page to find your VM machine. You should see something like Figure 7-19.



Figure 7-19. The VM Instances section in the portal should display the external IP of your server. We have highlighted ours in red, but yours is most likely something different

Once you have the external IP address, copy it down somewhere. Now you can start up your Jupyter notebook and query this model. In a Jupyter notebook cell, run the following. Make sure you have the

data folder in the same directory as this notebook, and that the data folder contains the creditcard.csv file:

```
import pandas as pd
import seaborn as sns
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
from sklearn.model_selection import train_test_split
from sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, accuracy_score,
confusion matrix
```

```
import numpy as np
import subprocess
```

import json

```
df = pd.read_csv("data/creditcard.csv")
```

Next, you define your query() function that you will use to get model predictions:

return preds

Notice that the IP is now http://34.75.74.9:5000/invocations. Basically, your IP should take the form of http://YOUR_EXTERNAL_ IP:5000/invocations, replacing the placeholder with the external IP address of your VM.

Let's now query your model:

```
input_json = df.iloc[:80].drop(["Time", "Class"],
axis=1).to_json(orient="split")
pd.DataFrame(query(input_json)).T
```

Altogether, you should see something like Figure 7-20.



Figure 7-20. The output of querying the model with the first 80 rows of your data frame

As expected, the predictions aren't correct because you did not scale the data before querying the model with it. However, you have verified that you have queried the correct address and that the model is able to return predictions.

Now run the following cells:

```
normal = df[df.Class == 0].sample(frac=0.5, random_state=2020).
reset_index(drop=True)
anomaly = df[df.Class == 1]
normal_train, normal_test = train_test_split(normal, test_size
= 0.2, random_state = 2020)
anomaly_train, anomaly_test = train_test_split(anomaly,
test_size = 0.2, random_state = 2020)
```

```
scaler = StandardScaler()
scaler.fit(pd.concat((normal, anomaly)).drop(["Time", "Class"],
axis=1))
test = pd.concat((normal.iloc[:1900], anomaly.iloc[:100]))
true = test.Class
test = scaler.transform(test.drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1))
preds = []
batch size = 80
for f in range(25):
    print(f"Batch {f}", end=" - ")
    sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch size:(f+1)*batch size]).
    to json(orient="split")
    output = query(sample)
    resp = pd.DataFrame([output])
    preds = np.concatenate((preds, resp.values[0]))
    print("Completed")
eval acc = accuracy score(true, preds)
eval auc = roc auc score(true, preds)
print("Eval Acc", eval acc)
print("Eval AUC", eval auc)
```

Once finished, you should see something like Figure 7-21.

| In [19]: | <pre>1 test = pd.concat((normal.iloc[:1900], anomaly.iloc[:100]))</pre> | | | | | | | |
|----------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 2 true = test.Class | | | | | | | |
| | <pre>3 test = scaler.transform(test.drop(["Time", "Class"], axis=1)) </pre> | | | | | | | |
| | a preas = [] | | | | | | | |
| | S barch size = 20 | | | | | | | |
| | Datch size = 50 | | | | | | | |
| | <pre>8 print(f)Batch(f)", end=" - ")</pre> | | | | | | | |
| | o princi bacch (r), end -) | | | | | | | |
| | <pre>sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch_size:(f+1)*batch_size]).to_json(orient="split") coutput = query(sample) s resp = pd.DataFrame([output])</pre> | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | <pre>greds = np.concatenate((preds, resp.values[0]))</pre> | | | | | | | |
| | 15 | | | | | | | |
| | 16 print("Completed") | | | | | | | |
| | 17 | | | | | | | |
| | 8 eval acc = accuracy score(true, preds) | | | | | | | |
| | <pre>19 eval_auc = roc_auc_score(true, preds)</pre> | | | | | | | |
| | 20 | | | | | | | |
| | print("Eval Acc", eval_acc) | | | | | | | |
| | 22 print("Eval AUC", eval_auc) | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 1 = Completed Batch 3 = Completed Batch 4 = Completed Batch 5 = Completed Batch 6 = Completed Batch 7 = Completed Batch 7 = Completed Batch 9 = Completed Batch 11 = Completed Batch 12 = Completed Batch 13 = Completed Batch 13 = Completed Batch 14 = Completed Batch 14 = Completed Batch 15 = Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 17 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 18 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 19 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 20 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 21 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Satch 22 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Satch 23 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | Batch 24 - Completed | | | | | | | |
| | EVAL ACC 0.9915 | | | | | | | |
| | EVAL AUC D. 915 | | | | | | | |

Figure 7-21. The results of running your batch query script

Updating and Removing a Deployment

Updating the model deployment is extremely easy. With how you set it up, it's only a matter of quitting the model serving command (Ctrl-C), and rerunning the command with a different run ID.

Let's try deploying a different run. In your case, check your Google Storage bucket and pick the second run.

In our case, we ran the following:

mlflow models serve -m gs://mlops-storage/8/3862eb3bd89b43e8ace 610c521d974e6/artifacts/log_reg_model -h 10.142.0.4

As you can see in Figure 7-22, it successfully deployed, and we can simply query it using the same script.

×

A Shumpu@mlops-server: ~

(27183)

Aborted!

[2020-08-07 18:45:42 +0000] [27183] [INFO] Starting gunicorn 20.0.4 [2020-08-07 18:45:42 +0000] [27183] [INFO] Listening at: http://10.142.0.4:5000 [2020-08-07 18:45:42 +0000] [27183] [INFO] Using worker: sync [2020-08-07 18:45:42 +0000] [27192] [INFO] Booting worker with pid: 27192 C[2020-08-07 19:00:08 +0000] [27183] [INFO] Handling signal: int [2020-08-07 19:00:09 +0000] [27192] [INFO] Worker exiting (pid: 27192) [2020-08-07 19:00:09 +0000] [27183] [INFO] Shutting down: Master

(mlflow) Shumpu@mlops-server:~\$ mlflow models serve -m gs://mlops-storage/8/3862 eb3bd89b43e8ace610c521d974e6/artifacts/log_reg_model -h 10.142.0.4 2020/08/07 19:04:28 INFO mlflow.models.cli: Selected backend for flavor 'python function' 2020/08/07 19:04:30 INFO mlflow.pyfunc.backend: === Running command 'source /hom e/Shumpu/anaconda3/bin/../etc/profile.d/conda.sh && conda activate mlflow-dd9a93 04d9fe43d69fd90c7ad7a9f26ba0cae2aa 1>&2 && gunicorn --timeout=60 -b 10.142.0.4:5 000 -w 1 \${GUNICORN CMD ARGS} -- mlflow.pyfunc.scoring server.wsgi:app' [2020-08-07 19:04:31 +0000] [27408] [INFO] Starting gunicorn 20.0.4 [2020-08-07 19:04:31 +0000] [27408] [INFO] Listening at: http://10.142.0.4:5000 (27408)[2020-08-07 19:04:31 +0000] [27408] [INFO] Using worker: sync [2020-08-07 19:04:31 +0000] [27417] [INFO] Booting worker with pid: 27417

Figure 7-22. Deploying a different model run using the same command convention

As for removing a deployment, all you have to do is just cancel the command with Ctrl-C and your deployment is now cancelled.

With that, you now know how to serve models, switch a model and deploy a different one, and remove a deployment by simply canceling the model serving command.

Cleaning Up

It's time to delete every instance of a service that you created so that you won't incur any charges. Here's a list of all of the services you used:

- **Google Cloud Storage Bucket** •
- **Compute Engine VM Instance** •
- Networking Firewall Rule •

Beginning with your VM Instance, you want to click STOP to first stop the VM from running. You should see something like Figure 7-23 depending on where you access this VM.



Figure 7-23. The VM instance after stopping it

After that, you can simply click DELETE to remove the VM. Stopping the VM only ensures that you won't be billed for CPU/GPU utilization, but it won't stop any charges that result from services linked to the VM.

Next, let's go to the Storage bucket. Simply check your bucket and click DELETE to remove this storage. Refer to Figure 7-24.



Figure 7-24. Removing your storage bucket

Lastly, you may remove the firewall rule as well, but be sure to not remove any other rules that you might have in there. With that, your workspace should be cleaned up, and there shouldn't be any more services that may incur charges.

Summary

Google Cloud is a cloud platform that provides many advanced services for a wide range of users. While MLFlow does not explicitly provide support for deployment for Google Cloud, you are still able to operationalize your models using MLFlow's model serving functionality and Google Cloud's compute engine to serve the models on the cloud.

In this chapter, you learned how to set up Google Cloud so that it can deploy your models on a virtual machine. In particular, you looked at how you can push your MLFlow runs to a bucket, how you can set up the Conda environment on a virtual machine, how you can set up a firewall to allow your model to be accessed in order to be queried, and how you can manage your deployments by simply switching out run IDs (and experiment IDs where appropriate).

In the Appendix, you can look at how Databricks helps you operationalize your models and manage them through the use of a model registry.

APPENDIX

Databricks

In this appendix, we will cover what Databricks is as well as how you can utilize its built-in MLFlow functionality to log MLFlow runs within Databricks itself, how to deploy models from Databricks to Azure, and how the MLFlow model registry works in Databricks.

Introduction

Databricks is an open platform and cloud service that provides interoperability with other popular AI and data services like AWS and Microsoft Azure. Databricks also created Apache Spark, Delta Lake, and MLFlow (see Chapter 4 to learn what MLFlow is).

Before we begin, you will need a Databricks account. You have the option of creating a "community edition" account, which is free to users but is limited in its functionality. You will be able to use basic MLFlow functionality on top of whatever Python functionality you have (PySpark is supported, for example), but you will not be able to use the model registry functionality.

To sign up for one, head on over to this website: https://community.cloud.databricks.com/.

Otherwise, you will have to pay to be able to use Databricks by choosing a subscription plan for your account.

With Databricks, you can integrate with Amazon AWS or Microsoft Azure. If you choose to subscribe to a plan from Databricks, you will be integrating with AWS. However, you can also deploy Databricks in Azure, which you can find more information about here:

https://azure.microsoft.com/en-us/services/databricks/.

Be warned, although Microsoft Azure does offer a free, 14-day trial of Databricks, you cannot create clusters without upgrading to the premium version of Azure Databricks (with a paid Azure subscription).

In this appendix, we will be using the **community edition** of Databricks, which is free to sign up for an use. The only exception here is the section in which we cover the model registry, which seems to only be available to premium Databricks users.

In detail, we will go over the following:

- **Logging MLFlow runs within Databricks:** You can run your Jupyter notebooks within Databricks itself, which provides functionality to import your old notebooks. For this part, you will import your notebook from Chapter 4 where you conduct experiments using scikitlearn. All runs will be logged within Databricks.
- MLFlow UI: Databricks has a built-in MLFlow UI that allows you to see all of your runs per experiment just as you would in the browser. You will look at your experiment using this UI and inspect a run that you will log.
- **Deploying to AWS/Azure:** Depending on what you integrate with, you can deploy your models to one of these services. In this chapter, we will be deploying to Microsoft Azure.
- **MLFlow Model Registry:** With premium Databricks (non-community edition), you have the added capability of having a model registry. Here, we will go over what the model registry is and how it works.

With that, let's get started!

Running Experiments in Databricks

Once you have Databricks set up, whether in community edition or otherwise, you should be greeted with a home screen that looks somewhat like Figure A-1.

| | Drop film or club to benar | ₹ } |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Explore the Quickstart Tutorial | Import & Explore Data | Croalo a Blank Notabook |
| Spin up a cluster run quinne on perioded data, and display results in § minutes. | Quickly import state, prevene its scheme, involte a table, and guary it in a network | Oreste a notebook to start guyying, visueszing, an modoling your data |
| Common Tasks | Rocents | What's now in v3.26 |
| In New Notebook | A mopsiest | View lafest release riches |
| Create Table | MLFiow Isseam | |
| A New Cluster | mitou-experiment | |
| tierer 2020 | A skieam_logneg | |
| A New Million Experiment | 2005-05-25 - OBF'S Example | |
| R monti dana | Case Astart Victorbook | |

Figure A-1. The Databricks home screen. If you have the community edition, you won't have the Models tab on the navigation bar to the left, but otherwise it should look about the same

Where it says Common Tasks, go down until you see the option titled New MLFlow Experiment. Click this option.

You can type in any other name you like, but you should see something like Figure A-2.



Figure A-2. The screen you should see when creating an MLFlow experiment

Go ahead and click Create. You should now see the MLFlow UI displaying the details of this experiment. Of course, there are no runs since you just created it. You should see something like Figure A-3.



Figure A-3. The screen displayed after experiment creation. Note that the experiment name is now /Users/sadari@bluewhale.one/sklearn. Be sure to make note of this as this is the full experiment name you will use when setting the experiment in the code

Something important to mention is that the experiment name in this case is not sklearn, but rather it is /Users/sadari@bluewhale.one/sklearn *in its entirety*. Whatever you see is what you will be using when setting the experiment in the notebook code.

With that, simply click Databricks to return to the home screen. You now have two choices:

- 1. Create a new notebook and fill in the cells from scratch.
- 2. Import your MLFlow scikit-learn notebook from Chapter 4.

In this chapter, you will be importing the MLFlow scikit-learn notebook, but you will be making a few changes in order to ensure that it is adapted to work with Databricks.

Before you even begin with the notebook, however, you need to create the **cluster** that will run your notebook code. To do this, click the New Cluster option, and you should see something like Figure A-4.

| | Create Cluster | | | | | | | | |
|------------|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| databricks | New Cluster Cancel Create Cluster 0 Workers: 0.0 GB Memory, 0 Cores, 0 DBU 1 Driver: 15.3 GB Memory, 2 Cores, 1 DBU @ | | | | | | | | |
| | Cluster Name | | | | | | | | |
| Home | mlops | | | | | | | | |
| (B) | Databricks Runtime Version @ | | | | | | | | |
| workspace | Runtime: 7.2 ML (Scala 2.12, Spark 3.0.0) | | | | | | | | |
| O | Instance | | | | | | | | |
| | Free 15GB Memory: As a Community Edition user, your cluster will automatically terminate after an idle period of two hours. For more configuration options, please upgrade your Databricks subscription. | | | | | | | | |
| Data | Instances Spark | | | | | | | | |
| Clusters | Availability Zone 💿 | | | | | | | | |
| | us-west-2c | | | | | | | | |
| Jobs | | | | | | | | | |
| (Q) | | | | | | | | | |
| Search | | | | | | | | | |

Figure A-4. Cluster creation UI in the community edition of Databricks. Here, the name and the 7.2 ML runtime are autofilled

Make sure that you have the same runtime as in Figure A-4, or at least something that has "ML" in the runtime name. Once finished, click the Create Cluster option.

After that, you'll be taken to a UI that shows all the clusters you have. Refresh if the cluster does not immediately show up. This can take a bit, so in the meantime, let's head back to the home screen.

At this point, you can proceed with your notebook. On the left navigation pane, click Home > Users (if it's not selected for you), and then click your username to open a dropdown window. You should see something like Figure A-5.



Figure A-5. Home menu that allows you to import a notebook. Don't worry about the other files you see here; you are likely to only have the experiment named sklearn and perhaps the Quickstart Notebook file

Click Import and navigate to your MLFlow notebook from Chapter 4 (if you have one just for scikit-learn, that is preferable).

You will now be taken to a notebook with all the contents of the notebook you just imported, except for the outputs.

Before you get to run this, you must import your data. To do this, refer to Figure A-6. You must click File \succ Upload Data in the dropdown menu.



Figure A-6. Uploading the data so that it can be accessed by this notebook

Leaving everything else as is, click Browse and locate and upload your credit card dataset (creditcard.csv).

This will take some time to upload due to the size of the file, but once it is all done, click Next, which will give you code samples that tell you how to import this file. Make sure you have selected pandas. You can now paste this code and try to run it. In our case, we had an error stating that the file

did not exist, so we instead loaded it with Spark and converted it into a pandas data frame, which does work for some reason given the same file path.

Before you can execute anything, make sure that the cluster has finished building. Above the first cell in the notebook, you'll notice a bar that says "detached." Click it and you should see your cluster available here. If the cluster is ready to use, there should be a green dot beside it. Otherwise, it will have the loading circle indicating that it's still configuring.

Go ahead and click the cluster. Once it is finished, you should see something like Figure A-7.

| ф. | mlops | 12 | File File |
|----|-------|----|-----------|

Figure A-7. An indication that the cluster is ready to use. If you see the green dot, you can now execute the cells in the notebook

Now you can begin with the modifications to the code. Let's start with the import statements. Change the first cell to look like the following:

```
import numpy as np
import pandas as pd
import matplotlib #
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
import seaborn as sns
import sklearn #
from sklearn.linear_model import LogisticRegression
from sklearn.model_selection import train_test_split
from sklearn.preprocessing import StandardScaler
```

```
from sklearn.metrics import roc auc score, plot roc curve,
confusion matrix, accuracy score
from sklearn.model selection import KFold
import pyspark
from pyspark.sql import SparkSession
from pyspark import SparkConf, SparkContext
import os
import mlflow
import mlflow.sklearn
print("Numpy: {}".format(np. version ))
print("Pandas: {}".format(pd. version ))
print("matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib. version ))
print("seaborn: {}".format(sns. version ))
print("Scikit-Learn: {}".format(sklearn. version ))
print("MLFlow: {}".format(mlflow. version ))
print("PySpark: {}".format(pyspark. version ))
```

Here, you have added extra import statements so that you import PySpark.

Create a new cell beneath your first cell, adding the following:

```
os.environ["SPARK_LOCAL_IP"]='127.0.0.1'
spark = SparkSession.builder.master("local[*]").getOrCreate()
spark.sparkContext._conf.getAll()
```

You should see something like Figure A-8 when executed.

```
import numpy as np
import pandas as pd
import matplotlib #
import matplotlib.pyplot as plt
    5 import seaborn as sns
    7 import sklearn #
 7 Taport sklearn #
8 frøs sklearn.lineer_model import LogisticRegression
9 frøs sklearn.oreprocessing import train_test_split
10 frøs sklearn.øreprocessing import StandardScaler
11 frøs sklearn.metrics import roc_auc_score, plot_roc_curve, confusion_matrix, accuracy_score
  12 from sklearn.model_selection import KFold
 14 import pyspark
15 from pyspark.sql import SparkSession
  16 from pyspark import SparkConf, SparkContext
17 import os
  18
  19 import mlflow
 28 import mlflow, sklearn
  21
  22 print("Numpy: {}".format(np.__version__))
23 print("Pandas: {}".format(pd.__version__))
24 print("matplotlib: {}".format(matplotlib.__version__))
  25 print("seaborn: {}".format(sns._version_))
26 print("Scikit-Learn: {}".format(sklearn._version_))
 27 print("MLFlow: ()".format(mlflow._version_))
28 print("PySpark: ()".format(pyspark._version_))
  Numpy: 1.18.1
 Pandas: 1.0.1
matplotlib: 3.1.3
  seaborn: 0.10.0
  Scikit-Learn: 0.22.1
 MLFlow: 1.9.1
PySpark: 3.0.0.dev0
 Command took 0.02 seconds -- by sadari@bluewhale.one at 8/24/2020, 3:46:42 PM on mlops
Ced 3
   1 os.environ["SPARK_LOCAL_IP"]='127.0.0.1'
  2 spark = SparkSession.builder.master("local[*]").getOrCreate()
3 spark.sparkContext._conf.getAll()
  Out[33]: [('spark.databricks.preemption.enabled', 'true'),
    ('spark.hadoop.fs.abfs.impl'.
   ('spark.naoop.fs.apf.impi',
'shaded.dstpricks.v2018220_b33610.org.apache.hadoop.fs.azurebfs.AzureBlobFileSystem'),
('spark.driver.temp0irectory', '/local_disk8(tmpi),
('spark.hadoop.fs.adl.impl.disable.cache', 'true'),
('spark.hadoop.parquet.block.size.row.check.max', '10'),
```

Figure A-8. Running the first two cells and ensuring you have a Spark context

The next cell should be where you were loading the pandas data frame. Change it to be just the following:

```
df = spark.read.csv("/FileStore/tables/creditcard.csv",
header = True, inferSchema = True).toPandas()
df = df.drop("Time", axis=1)
```

If you run this cell and the next, which should be df.head(), you should see something like Figure A-9.

| 1 2 | df = sp df = df | ark.read. .drop ("Ti | csv("/Fi | leStore/t s=1) | ables/cre | ditcard. | csv", hea | der = Tru | e, infer | Schema = | True).toP | andas() | | | |
|--------|---------------------------|--------------------------------|----------|-------------------|------------|------------|------------|------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Com | (3) Spark Jo mand took | obs 26.85 seco | nds by | sadari@blu | ewhale.one | at 8/24/20 | 20, 2:02:4 | 3 PM on ml | ops | | | | | | |
| id 5 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | df.head | 0 | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Out | t[6]: | 10 | | | 115 | 100 | 17 | 100 | 10 | | | | | | |
| 0 | -1.359807 | -0.072781 | 2 536347 | 1.378155 | -0.338321 | 0.462388 | 0.239599 | 0.098698 | 0.363787 | 0.090794 | -0.551600 | -0.617801 | -0.991390 | -0 311169 | 1.468177 |
| 1 | 1.191857 | 0.266151 | 0.166480 | 0.448154 | 0.060018 | -0.082361 | -0.078803 | 0.085102 | -0.255425 | -0.166974 | 1.612727 | 1.065235 | 0.489095 | -0.143772 | 0.635558 |
| 2 | -1.358354 | -1.340163 | 1.773209 | 0.379780 | -0.503198 | 1.800499 | 0.791461 | 0.247676 | -1.514654 | 0.207643 | 0.624501 | 0.066084 | 0.717293 | -0.165946 | 2.345865 |
| 3 | -0.966272 | -0.185226 | 1.792993 | -0.863291 | -0.010309 | 1.247203 | 0.237609 | 0.377436 | -1.387024 | -0.054952 | -0.226487 | 0.178228 | 0.507757 | -0.287924 | -0.631418 |
| 4 | -1.158233 | 0.877737 | 1.548718 | 0.403034 | -0.407193 | 0.095921 | 0.592941 | -0.270533 | 0.817739 | 0.753074 | -0.822843 | 0.538196 | 1.345852 | -1.119670 | 0.175121 |
| | 6 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Figure A-9. Ensuring that you have successfully loaded the data frame in PySpark and have converted it to pandas

At this point, simply run the rest of the code up until the cell where you actually start the MLFlow run.

You must split up this cell to ensure everything logs to the same run. And so, you can create a new cell if you wish, with the following content:

```
sk_model = LogisticRegression(random_state=None, max_iter=400,
solver='newton-cg')
```

```
mlflow.set experiment("/Users/sadari@bluewhale.one/sklearn")
```

```
train(sk model, x train, y train)
```

Here are the next three cells. Each text box is supposed to be its own cell:

```
evaluate(sk_model, x_test, y_test)
mlflow.sklearn.log_model(sk_model, "log_reg_model")
mlflow.end_run()
```

Together, they should look like Figure A-10.



Figure A-10. Splitting up the code to log the relevant metrics and artifacts to ensure everything ends up in the same run. It seems counterintuitive, but lumping it all under the same run with mlflow. start_run() seems to cause the runs to fail

Now, run these cells. You should now see all of this logged in the experiment.

To view your runs, click Workspace in the navigation pane, and then click sklearn and the experiment name. You should see a run logged there. Click it, and you should see something like Figure A-11, with all the metrics and artifacts logged successfully.

| /Users/sadari@blu | uewhale.one/sklearn > | Run dabea5a03050455aa | a5ad4a61fa548093 - | | | |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Date: 2020-06-24 14 01 | 0.03 | | Source : IB MLFlow Skleam | | User: sadari@bluewhale.one | |
| Duration: 6.4o | | | Status: FINSHED | | | |
| Notes | | | | | | |
| None | | | | | | |
| Parameters | | | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | | | |
| * Metrics | | | | | | |
| Name | Value | | | | | |
| auc_score ld | 0.954 | | | | | |
| end_acc let | 0.999 | | | | | |
| train_acc Md | 0.999 | | | | | |
| • Tags | | | | | | |
| Name | Value | Actions | | | | |
| | No tags feveral | | | | | |
| Add Tag | | | | | | |
| Norm | Value | Add | | | | |
| Artracts | | | | | | |
| · Dig reg model | | * Full Pathy dids (datab | ninks/willew/1616129141764231/idobes/ad30604444aa4a41a619a44 | 1093/atifacts/ca see model | | |
| Skleam_conf_mat skleam_roc_plot | nx png png | Sae: (B | | | | |

Figure A-11. Viewing the metrics and artifacts of the run and ensuring they were logged successfully

With that, you are now ready to deploy. Logging MLFlow runs is as simple as in Databricks. One of the added benefits of Databricks is that it integrates Spark within its functionality, so if you primarily want to log PySpark models, Databricks might be ideal for you.

Deploying to Azure

Since we have already looked at how to deploy to Azure, we will get straight to the point. If you would like to explore this process in more detail, refer to Chapter 6.

Connecting to the Workspace

In this step, you are simply connecting to an existing workspace through Databricks. It's important to note that Databricks does not have azureml-sdk installed, so you must do so yourself. Luckily, Jupyter allows you to do this in a cell, so simply run the following:

```
!pip install azureml-sdk
```

Next, run the following, replacing all the placeholders with your own corresponding values:

When you run this, you should see something like Figure A-12 asking you for authentication. Simply follow the instructions and you should be good to go.


Figure A-12. The cell asking for authentication as you attempt to connect to an existing workspace. Follow the instructions, and the c

connect to an existing workspace. Follow the instructions, and the cell should finish with the statement, "Deployed Workspace with name databricks-deploy. Took __ seconds"

Once this finishes, you can proceed with building and pushing a container image using MLFlow functionality. Before you do that, make sure to keep track of your run ID (you should be able to see this in Figure A-11), and copy that information in the cell below:

```
run_id = "dabea5a03050455aa5ad4a61fa548093"
model_name = "log_reg_model"
model_uri = f"runs:/{run_id}/{model_name}"
```

Next up are the two cells with MLFlow code to build and push the container image:

model_image.wait_for_creation(show_output=True)

APPENDIX DATABRICKS

Together, the cells should look like Figure A-13.



Figure A-13. The three cells from above and their outputs. Here, you specify a model run and then build and push a container to Azure based on that model

With this step finished, you are ready to deploy the model using MLFlow Azure.

To do so, simply run the following:

With that, let's now check the URI that you will use to query, just to ensure that it has successfully deployed:

```
azure service.scoring uri
```

Upon success, you should see something that looks like Figure A-14 for both output cells.



Figure A-14. The output of deploying the model as well as checking the scoring URI of the service

Since there is a URI, you know that your model's been deployed successfully. You can move on to the querying process now.

Querying the Model

Before you make any predictions with your model, you need to define a query function:

```
import requests
import json
def query(scoring_uri, inputs):
    headers = {
    "Content-Type": "application/json",
    }
```

```
APPENDIX DATABRICKS
```

```
response = requests.post(scoring_uri, data=inputs,
headers=headers)
preds = json.loads(response.text)
return preds
```

Let's use your batch query code to query your deployed model and get some relevant metrics. Fortunately, you should already have your scaler object from earlier when you processed the data in the MLFlow experiment.

Simply run the following:

```
test = pd.concat((normal.iloc[:1900], anomaly.iloc[:100]))
true = test.Class
test = scaler.transform(test.drop(["Class"], axis=1))
preds = []
batch size = 80
for f in range(25):
    print(f"Batch {f}", end=" - ")
    sample = pd.DataFrame(test[f*batch size:(f+1)*batch size]).
    to json(orient="split")
    output = query(scoring uri=azure service.scoring uri,
    inputs=sample)
    resp = pd.DataFrame([output])
    preds = np.concatenate((preds, resp.values[0]))
    print("Completed")
eval acc = accuracy score(true, preds)
eval auc = roc auc score(true, preds)
print("Eval Acc", eval acc)
print("Eval AUC", eval auc)
```

Your output should look somewhat like Figure A-15.



Figure A-15. The output of the batch query script. If you cannot see an output past batch 20, resize the output by holding the little arrow on the bottom right

With that, you now know how to log MLFlow runs in Databricks and deploy models to a cloud platform.

To delete the deployment, simply run the following:

```
azure_service.delete()
```

Be sure to delete all the resources that you created for this deployment as well.

The procedure for AWS is very similar to what you did in Chapter 5, but you just need to set up AWS to allow Databricks to access it.

Databricks has tutorials on how you can accomplish all of that as well. One of the perks of Databricks is that they have extensive documentation about almost everything, especially MLFlow.

MLFlow Model Registry

In this section, we will briefly discuss the model registry. To use the model registry, you do need a premium subscription to Databricks and whatever cloud platform service you choose to deploy Databricks on (either AWS or Azure).

With MLFlow, Databricks provides built-in model registry functionality so that users can define what stage a particular model is in. The MLFlow Model Registry allows for greater collaboration between various teams, letting them all develop and maintain models at various stages in the model life cycle and manage them all in a centralized, organized region.

The user is in control of the lifecycle stage changes (experimentation, testing, production) of the models with options between automatic and manual control. The MLFlow Model Registry tracks the history of the model and allows for governance in managing who is able to approve changes.

Some concepts to know:

- **Registered model:** Once registered in the MLFlow Model Registry, it has a unique name, version, stage, and more.
- **Stage:** Some preset stages are None, Staging, Production, and Archived. The user can also create custom stages for each model version to represent its lifecycle. Model stage transitions are either *requested* or *approved*, depending on the user's level of management.
- **Description:** The user can annotate the model for the team.
- Activities: MLFlow records a registered model's activities, providing a history of the model's stages.

Some features include

- **Central repository:** Register MLFlow models to a centralized location.
- **Model versioning:** Keep track of the version history of models. Now, a model built for a specific task can have several versions.
- **Model stage:** Model versions have stages to represent the cycle as a whole. Together with model versioning, older model versions can gradually become phased out while the newest versions are sent to staging first, for example.
- **Model stage transitions:** Respond to new changes and events with automation. Training scripts can be automated to train new models automatically and assign them to staging, for example.
- **CI/CD workflow integration:** Monitor changes to the CI/CD pipelines as new versions are registered and have their deployment stages changed. This allows for better governance over the deployment process.
- **Model serving:** MLFlow models can be served on Databricks through REST APIs, on top of deploying them on a cloud service like AWS or Azure.

With that, let's look at how you can register your model in Databricks. First, head over to your MLFlow experiment and pick a run. Scroll down to artifacts and click the folder that contains your model. **If you don't have premium Databricks, you won't be able to see this Register Model button**. If you click the button and click Create New Model in the dropdown menu, you will see something like Figure A-16.

APPENDIX DATABRICKS

| • Tags | | | |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| | Value No Loca Record | Action | Register Model X |
| Add Tag | | | • Made |
| | | Add | + Create Nodel |
| | | | * Model Name |
| Bitig ing model Bitigan_port_m Bitigan_port_m Bitigan_rec.pin | des pag Jeng | For Path annex 2008263068761866664 for Sec. 98 | Charles Mark |
| | | | Select a file to preview september transition may be transport person the |

Figure A-16. Registering a MLFlow model

Once finished, the Register Model button should be replaced by a green checkmark and a link to the model version page of this specific model.

On this page, you can set the model's stage, which is one of None, Staging, Production, or Archived if you're only using preset stages. Furthermore, you can add a description to this specific model.

On top of that, you can also request to change the model's stage (and add an optional comment to add some context), which can be approved, rejected, or canceled.

This allows you to now keep better track of your models by knowing their present stages. There is also support for model versioning, so there can be multiple versions of the model, with the possibility of setting a model stage for each, which you can view at once.

To view all the models that you registered, you can simply click the Models tab in Databricks, as shown in Figure A-17.



Figure A-17. The navigation pane on the left side of premium Databricks, deployed in Azure in this instance, with the Models tab that will take you to the model registry

With the model registry that you looked at in prior chapters, where it's just putting the models in a centralized area, you don't have this type of functionality. If you were to implement this, it would have to be through an external program, although it's actually a relatively simple task considering how everything is modularized for you.

With regular MLFlow, this requires you to have a MLFlow server that saves the runs in a mysql, myssl, sqlite, or postgresql dialect. Then, when you open the UI that pertains to this specific server's storage, you can register models and have all of the MLFLow Model Registry functionality.

All of that can get pretty complicated, so Databricks takes care of it all for you, if you have the premium version of Databricks and a subscription to either AWS or Azure, whichever platform you deployed Databricks to.

And that's all there is to the MLFlow Model Registry in Databricks.

With that, you now know how to run Jupyter notebooks in Databricks, how to log MLFlow runs and conduct experiments, and how to deploy your models to a cloud platform.

Summary

Databricks is a cloud platform that integrates with Amazon AWS or Microsoft Azure. As the creator of MLFlow, Databricks integrates MLFlow functionality into its services, allowing you to run all the MLFlow experiments you'd like to on the cloud. Furthermore, it also takes care of the mechanisms behind running a model registry for you, allowing you to take full advantage of MLFlow on the cloud.

In this appendix, you learned how to import your existing notebook, create a MLFlow experiment, and log your own MLFlow runs. On top of that, you also looked at deploying this model to Azure within Databricks itself, and you looked at the model registry and how it works in Databricks.

With this, you now know how to take your existing machine learning experiments and operationalize them very easily with MLFlow. Furthermore, you also know how to deploy your models to three different cloud platforms: Amazon AWS, Microsoft Azure, and Google Cloud. With this chapter, you've also added Databricks to that list, although it's mostly for running your MLFlow experiments on. That being said, you can definitely run MLFlow experiments and log your runs on the other cloud platforms; it's just far easier to do so within Databricks.

Index

A, **B**

Analyze data, 80 AWS SageMaker Amazon ECR, 237 attributes, 235 configuration, 232–234 container, 237 deploy a model, 238–243 ECR repository list, 238 mlruns directory, 235, 236 predictions, 243–245, 247 removing deployed model, 250, 251 switching models, 247–249

С

Command line interface (CLI), 229 Continuous delivery, 87 Continuous integration/ continuous delivery of pipelines, 88 automated model building, 106 automated training pipeline, 111 data analysis, 106 deploy pipeline, 110 feature store, 105

model registry, 111 model services, 111 modularized code, 106 package store, 109, 110 reflection on setup, 112 source repository, 106 testing, 107-109 training pipeline trigger, 112 user data collection, 111 Continuous model delivery, 87, 95 automated model building, 97 automated training pipeline, 99 data analysis, 96 deploy pipeline, 99 feature store, 95, 96 model registry, 100 model services, 100 modularized code, 98 performance, 101 reflection on setup, 102-104 training pipeline trigger, 101 Convolutional neural network (CNN), 6 Credit card data set kaggle website page, 10 loading data set, 11-15 normal and fraudulent, 16-18 packages, 11

© Sridhar Alla, Suman Kalyan Adari 2021 S. Alla and S. K. Adari, *Beginning MLOps with MLFlow*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-6549-9

INDEX

Credit card data set (*cont.*) plotting anomalies, 23 functions, 24 graphs, 22, 32, 33, 36 scatterplot, 35, 38 V12 consistency, 37 values, 21, 25–28, 30 visualize relationships, 19, 20

Ε

Experimental stage, 86, 89 data analysis, 90, 91 data store, 90 model building stage, 91 process raw data, 90

F

False negatives, 57 False positives, 57

G

Google Cloud cleaning up, 299, 300 configuration, 277 creation, 279 deploy/querying, 292-294, 296, 298 drop-down options, 283 Firewall, 288-291 install Anaconda, 286-288 MLOps-server, 283 portal screen, 278 PuTTY terminal, 285 Scikit-learn, 280 SSH, 284 storage, 278, 279 update/remove, 298, 299 VM, 281, 282

D

Databricks cluster, 307 community edition, 304 definition, 303 deploying Azure, 315-319, 321 import statements, 310, 312 metrics, 314, 315 MLFlow displaying, 306 MLFlow registry, 322-325 notebook, 308-310 PySpark, 313 running experiment, 305 Data patterns, 102 Deployment stage, 89 data collection, 92 data store, 93 model deployment, 92 model services, 92 **Developmental operations** (DevOps), 84, 85

Η

Hyperparameter settings, 42, 82

I, J

Identity and Access Management (IAM), 230

K

KFold() function, 58 k-fold cross validation, 82

L

Local model serving deploy, 213–216 querying, 216, 217 batching, 223, 224, 226 with scaling, 220–222 without scaling, 218, 219

M, N

Machine learning solutions high variance, 8 identification problem, 2–6 identification training/ evaluating/validating, 6, 7 model architecture, 7 predicting, 9 tuning hyperparameter, 8 Manual implementation, 87-89 reflection on setup, 93, 94 Manual trigger, 101 Microsoft Azure cleaning up, 270-272 configuration, 255 container image, 260 deploying, 261-263 home screen, 255 output, 261 predictions, 263-266, 268-270 production, 267, 268 workspace, 256-258 MLFlow, 125 parameter tuning broad search, 150, 152 - 164guided search, 164-170 **PySpark** data processing, 200-207 training/loading, 207-212 PyTorch checking the run, 196, 197 data processing, 184-189 loading, 198, 199 training/evaluation, 190, 191, 193–195 Scikit-Learn, 129 data processing, 129-135 loading logged model, 148-150 logging/viewing, 139-148 training/evaluating, 136–138

INDEX

Credit card data set (*cont.*) TensorFlow 2.0 (Keeras), 170 checking the run, 179–181 data processing, 171–174 loading, 181–183 training/evaluation, 175–178 MLOps setups implementation, 122, 123 manual implementation, 87 Modularization, 98 Monitoring, 83

0

Overfitting, 81

P, Q

Performance issues, 102 Pipelines and automation data preprocessing, 115, 116 model evaluation, 118, 119 model selection, 114 model summary, 121, 122 model validation, 119, 120 testing, 113 training process, 116, 117 plot_histogram() function, 26 plot_scatter() function, 28 Principal component analysis (PCA), 4 PySpark data processing, 67–69, 71–73 model evaluation, 74, 76, 77 model training, 73 versions, 66

R

Raw data, 79

S

Scheduled training, 101 Scikit-learn data processing, 43, 45–51 model evaluation, 53–57 model training, 52, 53 model validation, 58, 60–66 versions, 42

T, **U**

Testing, 82 Training set, 80 True negatives, 57 True positives, 57

V, W, X, Y, Z

Validation, 82, 83